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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

B 15 2

A summary of the audited results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out below:

REBRBEREY BFEH
BERABEBESIIMNT

Year ended 31 December

REZEER

BZ12A318LLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000 | lll=Kil])
ARETT AR®TRT ARETT AR%®TT PGEAWS
Revenue Uz 1,005,436 1,107,206 2,394,012 2,353,965 2,352,395
Cost of revenue WS B AR (488,946)  (540,126) (1,037,051) (1,078,819) (1,092,050)
Gross profit EH 516,490 567,080 1,356,961 1,275,146 1,260,345
Profit before tax BR 15 AT A 346,254 143,522 661,801 546,501 321,722
Profit for the year FERA 333,981 126,812 607,579 513,272 121,176
As at 31 December
MW12831H
2019 2020 2021 2022
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000 | lll=Kil]]
ARBTFL ARBFE ARBTL ARBFL
Non-current assets FERBEE 5,582,812 6,383,900 7,489,314 7,041,509 7,053,903
Current assets MENVEE 1,494,790 2,726,446 3,948,480 4,915,072 4,312,665
Current liabilities REARE 1,482,443 2,024,600 3,318,427 4,509,206 3,775,242
Net current assets MEVEEFE 12,347 701,846 630,053 405,866 537,423
Total assets less BEERRBDEE
current liabilities 5,595,159 7,085,746 8,119,367 7,447,375 7,591,326
Non-current liabilities  JERBIAE 1,724,366 2,923,867 3,330,332 2,410,259 1,640,187
Net assets BEFE 3,870,793 4,161,879 4,789,035 5,037,116 5,951,139
Total equity RiER 3,870,793 4,161,879 4,789,035 5,037,116 5,951,139
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Minsheng
Education Group Company Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the “Group”), | am
pleased to present the annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”) to all the
shareholders.

Looking back on 2023, policies that benefit vocational education
have been implemented one after another, including Circular on
the Construction of Municipal Industry-Education Consortiums
( CEARFRMINEZE S BERAMA) ), Circular on Further
Promoting the Pilot Construction of Digital Campuses in Vocational
Institutions  ( (BN E—FHEBELERBEFRERZRARNE
A1) ), Notice on the “Implementation Plan for the Integration of
Industry and Education in Vocational Education (2023-2025)”
( (BEHEEHRS MR TBE T 5(2023-2025%F)) ) and
Notice on Key Tasks to Accelerate the Construction and Reform
of the Modern Vocational Education System” ( BEmhnikii
BEREBEZEHYEFREZERNEEUTEMBEA) ). The continued
implementation of relevant and favorable vocational education
policies further confirms the nation’s determination to promote
vocational education reform. The Group will continue to focus on
high-quality education as the core of development, adhere to the
firm policy of high-quality development of vocational education,
and continue to cultivate high-quality skilled talents needed
by various industries for China’s future social and economic
development.

I will now briefly summarize the major development of the Group
in the past year:

On 24 November 2023, the Company announced that Dianchi
College of Yunnan University has obtained the approval
from the China’s education authorities for conversion from
Dianchi College of Yunnan University to Dianchi College,
Dianchi College is a private undergraduate-level general
higher education institution. Dianchi College has chosen to
operate as a for-profit college and the Group is undergoing
the relevant procedures and steps.
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THE GROUP CONTINUES TO FOCUS ON THE DEMAND
FOR HIGH-QUALITY DEVELOPMENT OF VOCATIONAL
EDUCATION AND TO INCREASE ITS INVESTMENT

CONTINUOUSLY ON INFRASTRUCTURE CAPABILITIES

The Group continued to focus on the demand for high-
quality development of vocational education and invested
continuously on infrastructure capabilities of the Group’s
colleges and online education entities. During the Reporting
Period, the Group’s relevant capital expenditure was amounted
to approximately RMB336.5 million, and the Group’s relevant
capital expenditure for the past three financial years was
amounted to a total of approximately RMB1,441.6 million.

THE GROUP’S FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
HAVE BEEN CONTINUOUSLY STABLE WHICH
PROVIDE STRONG SUPPORT TO THE FUTURE
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of the
Group was approximately RMB2,352.4 million, representing
a slight decrease of approximately 0.1% as compared to that
of the corresponding period in 2022; the gross profit of the
Group was approximately RMB1,260.3 million, representing
a slight decrease of approximately 1.2% as compared to
the corresponding period in 2022 : the gross profit margin
of the Group was approximately 53.6%, representing a
slight decrease of approximately 0.6% as compared to the
corresponding period in 2022; As of 31 December 2023, the
total assets of the Group was approximately RMB11,366.6
million, and its cash and cash equivalents was approximately
RMB3,189.8 million; the gearing ratio has significantly
decreased to approximately 35.9% from approximately 46.8%
as at 31 December 2022, these have stated the Group’s
financial and capital structure have been continuously stable
which lays a solid foundation for future development.

2.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)
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Looking ahead, the Group will continue to comprehensively
promote the digitization and intelligence of learning, employment
and entrepreneurship services, with full coverage of formal
education, enrollment, assessment, teaching, examination,
practical training, employment and entrepreneurship, and full
connectivity from entrance to exit; and provide digital services for
various types of schools and education and training institutions.
Through hosting and other means, expanding secondary and
specialized vocational colleges and universities, in-depth
cooperation with industry-leading, nationally needed industrial
enterprises and schools, and building a community organization
for the integration of digital intelligence, industry and education;
providing integration of industry and education and employment
docking services for labor-using enterprises and human resource
agencies, and providing one-stop digital intelligence management
and operation services for upstream and downstream partners.
Accelerate the efficient synergy of the whole industrial chain in the
three major fields of learning, employment and entrepreneurship,
and share the development results; seek cooperation with industry
leading and nationally needed industrial head enterprises, realize
multi-industry layout, and build up a strong digital and intellectual
service ecosystem for the in-depth integration of industry and
education.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to sincerely thank our management and all the staff of the Group
for their loyalty and dedication. | would also like to thank our
shareholders and business partners for their trust and confidence
in the Board and management of the Group. With the concerted
efforts of all staffs, | believe the business of the Group will continue
to thrive and generate greater return for our shareholders.

Li Xuechun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 19 March 2024
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The year of 2023 is the first year for vocational education to
fully implement the spirit of the 20th National Congress of the
Communist Party of China. The key points of vocational education
work across the country generally emphasize the guidance of
Xi Jinping’s thoughts on socialism with Chinese characteristics
for a new era, comprehensively implement the party’s education
policy, and promote modern vocational education. Quality
development is placed in a more prominent position, insisting
on serving the comprehensive development of students and
economic and social development, based on improving the key
capabilities of vocational schools, focusing on deepening the
integration of industry and education, focusing on promoting the
integration of vocational and general education, and focusing
on the integration of science and education. direction to further
enhance the strategic support capacity of vocational education
for China’s high-quality development.

Looking back on 2023, policies that benefit vocational education
have been implemented one after another:

1. In April 2023, the General Office of the Ministry of Education
issued the Circular on the Construction of Municipal Industry-
Education Consortiums ( B8R R i EZ S B ER N B
F1) ), insisting on promoting industry with education, assisting
education with industry, deepening the integration of industry
and education and cooperation between industry and
academia, and giving full play to the role of the government,
industry aggregation, enterprise traction and the main role
of the school, and building a number of municipal industry-
education consortiums with the functions of talent cultivation,
innovation and entrepreneurship, and promotion of high-
quality development of the industry and the economy on
the basis of industrial parks. By the end of 2023, about 50
industry-education consortia will be built, and by the end of
2024, about 50 more will be built, and by 2025, about 150
municipal industry-education consortia will be built.
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2.

In May 2023, the Department of Vocational and Adult
Education of the Ministry of Education issued the Circular on
Further Promoting the Pilot Construction of Digital Campuses
in Vocational Institutions ( (BRI — TR TR B TR
EiERHABHEA) ), to implement the strategic action of
digitization of education, to promote the digital transformation
of vocational education in a sustained and deep manner, and
to improve the level of the construction of digital campuses
in vocational institutions.

In June 2023, the National Development and Reform
Commission, the Ministry of Education and other ministries and
commissions jointly issued a notice on the “Implementation
Plan for the Integration of Industry and Education in
Vocational Education (2023-2025)" ( {Bi ¥ B EH RIS ME AL
RATEE S ZETF) ). The implementation plan implements
the spirit of the 20th National Congress of the Communist
Party of China, proposing 19 policies and measures in five
aspects, including promoting the formation of the goose
effect of industry-education integration, consolidating the
development foundation of vocational colleges, building
industry-education integration training bases, deepening
industry-education integration school-enterprise cooperation,
and improving incentive and support combination measures;
it is further proposed that by 2025, the number of national pilot
cities for the integration of industry and education reached
about 50, and the breakthrough and leading role of the
pilot cities were fully exerted to build and cultivate more
than 10,000 enterprises integrating industry and education
across the country. The enterprise system and combined
incentive policy system for the integration of industry and
education are sound improved, various funding channels
have steadily increased investment in vocational education,
industry needs are better integrated into the entire process
of talent training, and a development pattern of education
and industry integration and positive interaction has gradually
formed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

4. InJuly 2023, the Ministry of Education issued the “Notice on
Key Tasks to Accelerate the Construction and Reform of the
Modern Vocational Education System” (B8R ik #e i 38 A B %
HEBRERNEEEHHBA) stating that it is necessary
to lead the “classroom reform” of vocational education and
improve the quality of training technical and technical talents
in key core areas. By 2025, there should be approximately
1,000 new courses being built in key areas of the industry.
The content of these courses must be in line with the actual
work of the job and fully incorporate new technologies, new
processes, and new standards.

The continued implementation of relevant and favorable vocational
education policies further confirms the nation’s determination to
promote vocational education reform. The Group will continue
to focus on high-quality education as the core of development,
adhere to the firm policy of high-quality development of vocational
education, and continue to cultivate high-quality skilled talents
needed by various industries for China’s future social and
economic development.

MAJOR BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Dianchi College of Yunnan University obtained Approval for
Conversion

On 24 November 2023, the Company announced that Dianchi
College of Yunnan University has obtained the approval from the
China’s education authorities for conversion from Dianchi College
of Yunnan University to Dianchi College, Dianchi College is a
private undergraduate-level general higher education institution.
Dianchi College has chosen to operate as a for-profit college
and the Group is undergoing the relevant procedures and steps.

For further details on the approval for conversion of Dianchi
College of Yunnan University, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 24 November 2023.
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The Group is a leading “Internet+” vocational education group
in China. During the Reporting Period, the Group continued
to strengthen and improve its integrated vocational education
service capabilities of “Enrollment-Assessment — Teaching -
Practical Training — Examination — Employment” and gathered
resources of learning services and resources of digital intelligence
employment services, continuously improved the comprehensive
ability of employment services for talents, to connect colleges,
students and enterprises, to realize data interoperability and
precise matching employment services for talents.

At present, the Group has perfected the layout of eight business
sectors: (i) online education services, (ii) on-campus education,
(iii) vocational ability improvement and training, (iv) human
resources services, (v) integration of digital intelligence, industry
and education services, (vi) education informatization services,
(vii) examination and evaluation services, and (viii) international
education services, with over 1,900 learning centres in all 31
provinces, autonomous regions and municipalities throughout
the nation and more than 1,500 colleges and universities,
bringing together more than 890 human resources companies
and approximately 34,000 employers, linking approximately 430
million C-end users and approximately 3.3 million jobs, serving
students and users at the total scale of more than 50 million,
and forming an online + offline “Internet +” vocational education
network and talent employment service system covering the whole
nation.
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The business operations of the Group’s main business sectors AT /ARG AR AN E B F B EBIRIB LKL
during the Reporting Period are as follows: BIEN

The Group’s online education services mainly cover higher
academic continuing education and postgraduate (master’s/
doctoral) education. Facing towards to those who need to
improve their academic qualifications, through cooperation
with colleges of higher education, domestic and foreign
business schools, provincial open universities and junior
colleges, through the national online and offline learning
center, the Group provides online learning services for
students and users.

Higher academic continuing education online services

The Group’s higher academic continuing education online
services are provided by a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, namely Beijing Open Distance Education Center
Company Limited* (Jt REBISEIZHE R LBER AR (“Open
Distance Education”) and a consolidated affiliated entity
of the Company, namely Guangdong Minsheng Online
Education Technology Company Limited* (BRREELH
BRI AR AT (“Minsheng Online”). As of 31 December
2023, Open Distance Education and Minsheng Online
cooperated with approximately 350 domestic key universities,
provincial open universities, junior colleges and secondary
vocational schools, to provide support services of online
education, open education, adult higher education and self
study examination qualification education to approximately
700,000 students throughout over 1,900 learning centres
across the nation.
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Postgraduate Management Education Services

The Group’s postgraduate management education services
are provided by Doxue Network Technology (Beijing)
Company Limited* (24 HMILR)ER A F]) (‘Doxue
Network”), a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company.
Doxue Network is a national leading enterprise in postgraduate
management education services. Its MBAChina platform is an
active, intelligent and diversified learning information online
platform in the industry, which gathers professional and
famous teachers in the industry for those who want to improve
their academic qualifications, and provides information
channels for real-time consultation and learning courses that
suit their needs. The business school rankings released by
the MBAChina platform are widely recognized by the industry,
universities and learners, and have extensive influence in the
industry. As of 31 December 2023, Doxue Network cooperated
with more than 180 domestic and foreign business schools;
and the platform had newly added approximately 230,000
registered users and the cumulative number of registered
users reached approximately 3.37 million.

The Group is committed to constructing a vocational
education service system for the training of secondary
vocational schools, junior colleges, applied undergraduate
and professional postgraduate students. As of 31 December
2023, the Group’s schools were located in Chongging,
Shandong, Yunnan and Inner Mongolia, and the Group
operated or managed 10 schools (including 7 higher
education institutions, 2 secondary vocational schools and
1 high school). As of 31 December 2023, the total number
of students was approximately 100,400, of which full-time
undergraduate students accounted for approximately 57.76%.
The Group’s schools offer a total of 121 undergraduate majors,
146 junior college majors, 72 secondary vocational majors
and 4 postgraduate cultivation and construction majors.
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The Group’s undergraduate colleges now offer 1 key
subject at provincial and above level, 2 key disciplines,
3 key cultivation disciplines, 15 first-class majors and 58
first-class programmes. The Group has established the only
provincial level key discipline among private universities in
Yunnan Province. The Group’s schools actively respond to
the national policy of vocational education’s integration of
industry-education, closely follow the development strategy
of national key industries, promote school-enterprise
cooperation, and comprehensively improve the training
quality of applied talents. As of 31 December 2023, the
Group’s schools have a total of approximately 1,000 off-
campus practical training bases and have cooperated to
build industrial colleges, and have achieved good results.
The industry-education integration project of Dianchi College
of Yunnan University has been selected into the first and
second batch of “New Engineering” (371 L) projects of the
Ministry of Education, and one of the first batch of “New
Liberal Arts” (373X %) projects of the Ministry of Education,
which was the only private university in the nation being
selected for two consecutive years.

The Group’s vocational ability improvement and training
business mainly covers (i) teacher continuing education
training; (ii) information technology (“IT”) vocational training;
(iii) cloud training platform; and (iv) vocational qualification
certificate training businesses.

(i) Teacher continuing education and training

The Group’s teacher continuing education and training
is provided by Open Distance Education. As the pioneer
of mobile learning for teachers, the Group has launched
platforms such as “Open Distance Education’s Teachers
Network” (BESZEMZ A 4), “Teacher Training Bao”
(FIEIIE) and “I-Classmate” (ilF1£) and other mobile
learning application tools, and built a “school-based”
(& 7K) training platform, providing all-round, full-process
online training, hybrid training and offline training and
other support services for educational administrative
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(i)

departments, teacher development centers, primary
and secondary schools, colleges and universities and
other educational institutions in various places. As of 31
December 2023, Open Distance Education has more
than 500 partnered schools, and completed more than
15,300 training projects, has trained approximately 8.9
million teachers, and formed a total of 30TB+ course
resources.

IT vocational training

The Group’s IT vocational training is provided by IMOOC,
a subsidiary of Open Distance Education. IMOOC
focuses on IT online education, creates cutting-edge
IT technology quality courses, and cultivates practical
technical talents for enterprises. It has built more than
3,000 high quality training courses, and the platform
has gathered nearly 1,000 high-level industry lecturers
and accumulated approximately 24 million users as of
31 December 2023.

IMOOC has been selected into the top 10 of the
“Vocational Education APP Ranking List” (Bt B HETT
%) released by the Chinese Academy of Sciences for
consecutive years. It has also been selected in the Apple
application store to regularly recommend applications
on various topics such as “Helping the Workplace” (8171
B:3%), “Everyone Can Program” (A ABE#RTE) and “Easy
Learning to Program” (B 522 4R712).
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(iii)

(iv)

Cloud training

The Group’s cloud training is based on the education
cloud platform, which focuses on industry applications,
integrates resources and services of cloud training
providers for co-provision of online training solutions to
colleges and universities, provides all-rounded trainings
for cultivation of application oriented talents, and
facilitates the cultivation of talents and enhancement of
comprehensive vocational skills. Currently, the platform
has incorporated over 60 training projects, covering 11
categories including computer, big data, architecture,
machinery, pharmaceuticals, finance and trade, radio,
film and television, tourism, agriculture, logistics and
general education. In particular, general education-
oriented trainings apply to most majors, while other
specialized trainings cover over 20 undergraduate
majors and over 40 junior college majors.

Vocational qualification certificate training

As of 31 December 2023, the Group provided over
40 vocational qualification certificate training programs
such as teachers qualification certificate and human
resources specialist, with a total of approximately 11,000
person counts trained during the Reporting Period.
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The Group actively deploys human resources services
to create a talent training closed loop that integrates
“Enrollment-Training-Employment”. A consolidated affiliated
entity of the Company, Beijing Xiaoai Intelligent Technology
Company Limited* (GtR/NERERBZARARF) (“Xiaoai
Technology”) created a skilled talent service platform of
“Excellent Learning and Happy Work” ({82 44%), dedicated
to providing Chinese skilled talents with high-quality internship
training, employment, job selection and professional ability
improvement services. Relying on its rich digital experience
and matured landing service capabilities, Xiaoai Technology
provides different digital products and solutions as well as a
stable one-stop person-time service and technology supply
chain for enterprises, human resources organizations and
colleges. The platform consists of (i) “zhiyonggong” (&5 A
T) - providing digital employment SaaS for employment
enterprises; (i) “Yunzhiai” (£ %) and “Ailingong” (B
T) - providing HROSaaS for third-party human resource
service agencies; (iii) through “School-Enterprise Express”
(R{B@E) - providing colleges and universities with an
internship employment management system that connects
schools, students and enterprises, with first of all, data
exchange and display on the same platform. The School-
Enterprise Express is also one of the first batch of compliant
platforms that complies with the Ministry of Education’s
new “Regulations on the Management of Vocational School
Student Internships” ((BEEREBETEETERT) );
and to provide regional governments — a comprehensive
solution for the digital gig job market that has SaaS + skills
training and capability improvement + talent training base
+ industry-education integration. The platform aims to solve
the employment problem, increase the employment income,
meet the employment needs of enterprises, promote the
development of enterprises, and provide needed high quality
talent for key regional industries.
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As of 31 December 2023, the business of Xiaoai Technology
covered more than 20 provinces, autonomous regions
and municipalities throughout the nation, and the platform
had approximately 890 human resources companies with
over 34,000 employers settling on the platform, linking
approximately 4.3 million C-end users and approximately
3.3 million of jobs.

Revolving around the integration of industry and education,
the Group integrates the resources of leading enterprises
in various fields, combines the Group’s strong teaching and
research strength and product research and development
investment, and builds an integrated platform of integration
and cooperation which support for secondary vocational
schools, junior colleges and undergraduate colleges and
universities. The Group’s integration of industry and education
covers various professional groups related to strategic
emerging industries such as artificial intelligence, big data,
blockchain, information security, intelligent manufacturing,
industrial internet, new energy vehicles, intelligent networked
vehicles, digital economy, and new media. For the construction
of professional groups in colleges and universities, the
Group provides products and services including enroliment
services, teaching services, course construction services,
experimental training room construction, teaching software
platform construction, teacher training, student internship,
employment and etc.
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The Group attaches great importance to the construction of
new education infrastructure. Guided by new development
concepts and information technology and oriented to the
needs of high quality education development, and by
focusing on information networks, platform systems, digital
resources, innovative applications, credible security, etc.,
it constructed a new infrastructure system, created core
productivity, and established a user-centric, end-to-end,
fully closed-loop education service cloud platform (including
laaS infrastructure, developer platform, multi-cloud resource
management platform, middle-level services, technical
products, OPEN application center, terminal services, etc.).

The Group’s education informatization services are provided
by a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company, namely
UMOOC Online Education Technology (Beijing) Company
Limited* (BRREZHERFZILR)BERAR) (“‘UMOOC”),
Open Distance Education and Doxue Network.

UMOOC provides education and teaching informatization
construction, online teaching support, mixed teaching
applications and other services for undergraduate colleges
and vocational colleges. As of 31 December 2023, UMOOC
has partnered with more than 400 undergraduate colleges and
vocational colleges, and the services provided by UMOOC
covered more than 13 million students. The “Campuswit”
platform released by Doxue Network is committed to providing
business education in major colleges and universities, and
providing students with a full life cycle and all round one-
stop solution, with products covering business education
enrollment, online teaching, academic affairs, dissertation,
career development, alumni management and other different
stages of process.
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Examination and evaluation services are mainly provided by
Open Distance Education and another Group’s subsidiary,
namely Silk Road (Beijing) International Education Technology
Center Company Limited* (448 2 B (1t ) BB B BT LB
R~ A]) (“Silk Road”). Silk Road is the world’s first HSK online
test center and is an industry-leading professional service
organization for the HSK online test. As of 31 December 2023,
it has built more than 80 test centers/exams at home and
abroad and has accumulated more than 180,000 internet-
based examination users.

The Group’s international education services is provided
by Open Distance Education, Doxue Network, and other
two Group’s subsidiaries, namely Beijing Zhongmin Guohe
Education Technology Co., Ltd.* (At RFEREEEHERFEE
F[R/2 7)) and Shanghai Zhiaosheng International Business
Development Co., Ltd.* (L/BEREBEREEBERERAAF).
The international education services including undergraduate,
master’s and doctoral study abroad programme, operations
of Chinese and foreign academic exchange projects,
intermediary services for studying abroad, long-term and
stable cooperative relations with colleges and educational
institutions in the United States, United Kingdom and other
countries, and integrating language training, application
for studying abroad, overseas study tours, internship
employment, overseas services, international schools, etc.
are integrated in order to create a closed loop of all-round
study abroad services.
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The Group is currently a leading “Internet+” vocational education
group in China. Focusing on the strategy of strengthening the
country through education and talents, and serving high-quality
employment, the Group has built a digital and intellectual service
platform ecology of “learning, employment and entrepreneurship”
through strategic cooperation through mergers and acquisitions.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to comprehensively
promote the digitization and intelligence of learning, employment
and entrepreneurship services, with full coverage of formal
education, enrollment, assessment, teaching, examination,
practical training, employment and entrepreneurship, and full
connectivity from entrance to exit; and provide digital services for
various types of schools and education and training institutions.
Through hosting and other means, expanding secondary and
specialized vocational colleges and universities, in-depth
cooperation with industry-leading, nationally-needed industrial
enterprises and schools, and building a community organization
for the integration of digital intelligence, industry and education;
providing integration of industry and education and employment
docking services for labor-using enterprises and human resource
agencies, and providing one-stop digital intelligence management
and operation services for upstream and downstream partners.
Accelerate the efficient synergy of the whole industrial chain in the
three major fields of learning, employment and entrepreneurship,
and share the development results; seek cooperation with industry-
leading and nationally needed industrial head enterprises, realize
multi-industry layout, and build up a strong digital and intellectual
service ecosystem for the in-depth integration of industry and
education.
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Revenue represents the value of services rendered during the
Reporting Period. The Group derives revenue primarily from
providing on-campus education and online education services
to students and users.

The total revenue slightly decreased by approximately 0.1%
to approximately RMB2,352.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 from that of approximately RMB2,354.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to
the decrease in the revenue of online education resulted from the
Suspension (as defined below) on the new enrolment of online
formal education during the Reporting Period, which was partly
offset by the increase in the revenue of on-campus education
during the Reporting Period.

Open Distance Education was notified by the education institutions
that Open Distance Education has cooperation relationship that
the General Office of the Ministry of Education had requested the
relevant schools which participated in the pilot work of modern
distance education to cease student enrolment of online formal
education. Open Distance Education’s cooperative programs
with such education institutions therefore ceased new student
enrolment of online formal education (the “Suspension”) in
2022 Autumn. However, Open Distance Education continued in
provision of online formal education services to more than 400,000
existing registered students during the Reporting Period.
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The Board is of the view that despite of the temporary impact of
the Suspension on the Group’s online education segment for the
Reporting Period, the Group’s online education segment is still
promising in the long run due to reasons below:

(i)

online formal education is of the several forms of formal
education in the PRC and the overall national policy of the
PRC for the formal education industry as a whole conducive
to the continued development of the industry. For instance,
the Opinions of the Ministry of Education on Promoting the
Reform of Academic Continuing Education in Colleges and
Universities in the New Era (Jiao Zhi Cheng [2022] No. 2)
((BEHENHENRREBEEREELEBEHE HEY
EER) HEBAK[2022]25%) was issued to promote higher
education schools to step up to a new stage of higher formal
continuing education, and to integrate correspondence
education, amateur education and online education.
The state supports universities affiliated to the central
ministries and commissions, local universities and higher
vocational schools to promote the classified development
of continuing education for academic qualifications
according to their own school orientation and distinctive
advantages and encourages schools to develop high-quality
online courses independently or jointly with
institutions. In September 2022, the executive meeting of
the State Council announced supporting policies for special
re-financing for equipment renovation and financial support,
with education informatization as a key support area;

relevant
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(i) the Group’s online education segment encompasses a broad
range of products and services for a variety of students and
education institutions. While its online formal education had
suspended new student enroliment in 2022 Autumn, due to
the aforementioned policies in formal continuing education
business, the types of products and services offered by
the Group has increased, including but not limited to open
education, adult higher education, self-study examination
qualification education, international education, vocational
education, teacher continuing training, course resources,
human resources services, and SaaS platform, all of which
have been launched with most of them have achieved
extensive cooperation with relevant business partners. The
Group has formed a diversified development model for online
education segment; and

(iii) the Group will continue to give full play of its network,
technology platform, effective experience accumulated in
distance education services, resource platform and talent
team to provide various formal continuing education services
and non-formal education services to more colleges and
universities across the country. With the digital “platform for
learning, employment and entrepreneurship” that will be put
into the market, the Company is of the view that the business
of the Group under “internet +” vocational education will be
promising in the long term.

Cost of sales consists primarily of teaching staff costs, depreciation
and amortization, cost of cooperative education, utilities and other
costs.

The cost of sales slightly increased by approximately 1.2%
from approximately RMB1,078.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately RMB1,092.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. This increase was primarily due to
the increase in the salaries and allowances of teaching staff of
the Group’s colleges during the Reporting Period.
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The gross profit slightly decreased by approximately 1.2%
from approximately RMB1,275.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately RMB1,260.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, and gross profit margin decreased
from approximately 54.2% to approximately 53.6%, which was
mainly due to the increase in the salaries and allowances of
teaching staff of the Group’s colleges.

Other income and gains consist primarily of government grants,
interest income and rental income and etc.

Other income and gains decreased by approximately 35.4% from
approximately RMB280.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB181.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. This decrease was mainly due to (i) the decrease
in government grants recognised during the Reporting Period;
and (ii) that there had been a fair value gain recognised on the
contingent considerations in the prior period, but a fair value loss
recognised in the Reporting Period.

Selling and distribution expenses consist primarily of salaries and
other benefits for our staff who are in charge of student recruitment
and promoting, promoting expenses and student recruitment
expenses and marketing cost of the online education entities.

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
15.9% from approximately RMB273.3 million for year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately RMB229.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly due to (i)
the decrease in salaries and other benefits of the staff; and (ii)
decrease in promoting and marketing cost of the online education
entities during the Reporting Period.
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Administrative expenses primarily consist of the salaries and
other benefits for general and administrative staff, office-related
expenses, depreciation and amortization of office buildings and
equipment, environment and health expenses and travel and
transportation expenses.

Administrative expenses slightly increased by approximately
0.7% from approximately RMB501.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately RMB504.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 due to the increase in salaries and other
benefits of the administrative staff during the Reporting Period.

Other expenses consist primarily of expenses relating to goodwill
impairment, loss on change in fair value of financial assets and
the provision of bad debts.

Other expenses significantly increased by approximately
191.7% from approximately RMB71.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately RMB208.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. This increase was mainly due
to (i) the goodwill and intangible assets impairment of Xiaoai
Technology during the Reporting Period; (ii) the fair value losses
of the contingent considerations of Doxue Network and Xiaoai
Technology recognised; and (iii) provision of bad debts during
the Reporting Period.
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Finance costs mainly include interests on bank loans and other
borrowings.

Finance costs has increased by approximately 6.8% from
approximately RMB163.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB174.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which was mainly due to the new loans with
higher interest rate which led to the increase in the finance costs
in general during the Reporting Period.

Income tax expense increased from approximately RMB33.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB200.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which
was mainly due to the provision of income tax for the Group’s
colleges during the Reporting Period.

As a result of the above factors, profit for the year of the
Group substantially decreased by approximately 76.4% from
approximately RMB513.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB121.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

Adjusted net profit

The Group defines its adjusted net profit as its profit for the
year after adjusting for those items which are not indicative of
the Group’s operating performances (as presented in the table
below). This is not a IFRSs measure. The Group has presented this
item because the Group considers it an important supplemental
measure of the Group’s operational performance used by the
Group’s management as well as analysts or investors. The
following table shows profit and adjusted net profit of the Group
for the periods presented below:
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Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT
Profit for the year FE R 121,176 513,272
Add: Pl
Unrealised exchange (gain)/loss REBE N (Wam), /B8 (5,653) 4,829
Share option expenses fER R 787 2,582
Interest of the Put Option liability WEBEEEEENRL
arose from the acquisition of Leed HAE A ENN S
International 37,028 43,729
Amortisation of intangible assets due ~ REABRME#HEL EE
to consolidation 55,348 55,348
Change in fair value (gain)/loss N EZE (W), B8 6,209 (13,148)
Deferred income tax accrued on gﬁg.ﬁrﬁ’] Lﬁfr S
dividends 3,746 15,874
Impairment of intangible assets HARSEMEILEE
due to consolidation BE 16,050 -
Adjustment in relation to fair value BASAREBHNATE
change on contingent consideration BE) 2 AR 39,374 (75,130)
Adjusted net profit AR TR 274,065 547,356
Adjusted net profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 #;{ZE2023F12A31H It FE MK AL FE

substantially decreased by approximately RMB273.3 million or
approximately 49.9% as compared with the corresponding period
in 2022. Adjusted net profit margin decreased from approximately
23.3% for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
11.7% for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
SEERE SN

FINANCIAL AND LIQUIDITY POSITION
Net current assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current assets of
approximately RMB537.4 million, which primarily consisted of
cash and bank balances. The current assets as at 31 December
2023 decrease to approximately RMB4,312.7 million from
approximately RMB4,915.1 million as at 31 December 2022.
The decrease in current assets was mainly due to a decrease
of cash and cash equivalents from approximately RMB3,477.1
million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB3,189.8
million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the repayment
of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group
during the Reporting Period.

The current liabilities decreased from approximately RMB4,509.2
million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB3,775.2
million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the discharge of
put option liability during the Reporting Period.

Capital commitment

The Group has the following capital commitments at the end of
the Reporting Period:
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Contracted, but not provided for: T BRI :
Equipment B
Buildings BF

Acquisition of a private school WHERNSER R AR

and companies

At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group did not have
significant capital commitments that are authorized but not
contracted for (2022: Nil).

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 S H B R A A

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AREFTT
54,472 43,553
324,138 358,441
91,800 91,800
470,410 493,794
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Capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
approximately RMB336.5 million, which was primarily used for (i)
the construction of the Group’s school buildings, facilities, land
acquisition; and (ii) upgrade of software, hardware and facilities
of the Group’s online education entities.

The Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings primarily
consisted of short-term working capital loans to supplement our
working capital and finance our expenditure and long-term project
loans for the continuous development of our school buildings
and facilities.

The bank loans and other borrowings amounted to approximately
RMB2,138.1 million as at 31 December 2023, denominated in
Renminbi, United States dollar (“US$”) and Hong Kong dollar
(“HK$”). As at 31 December 2023, our bank loans and other
borrowings bore effective interest rates ranging from 2.2% to 8.2%
per annum. The loan of Chongging Zhenzhi Zhiye Co., Ltd.* (EE
FEBEAMRETAR]) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Chongging
Electronic Information College) amounted to RMBG6.1 million, with
interest rates ranging from 15%-24% per annum.

The Group maintains a balance between continuity of funding
and flexibility through generated cash flows from operating
activities and other borrowings. The Group regularly reviews its
major funding positions to ensure that it has adequate financial
resources in meeting its financial obligations.

Grant of option in relation to the acquisition of 49% of
issued share capital of Leed International

Minsheng Vocational Education Company Limited (“Minsheng
Vocational”) and Leed Education Holding Limited, National
Education Holding Limited and Hyde Education Holding Limited
(collectively, the “Vendors”) are in dispute over a put option for
the sale of 49% shares in Leed International Education Group
Inc. (“Leed International”) under the Share Purchase Agreement
(“SPA”) entered into between the parties in 2018, which is
subject to resolution by arbitration administered by the Hong
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Kong International Arbitration Center (“HKIAC Arbitration”). The
Vendors claimed for an inflated exit price of RMB2,180,735,560.50,
alleging that they had effectively exercised the option under the
SPA. Minsheng Vocational’s position is that the Vendors’ purported
exercise of the option was ineffective because, inter alia, Minsheng
Vocational had not granted any option as required under the SPA
prior to the Vendors’ purported exercise of the option, the timing
of which fell outside the put option period provided under the
SPA, and the Vendors’ calculation for the claimed exit price of
RMB2,180,735,560.50 was also flawed. On 3 August 2023, in
fulfilment of its obligation under the SPA, Minsheng Vocational
issued a Deed of Grant of Option (“Deed”) granting the Vendors
an option to sell the 49% shares in Leed International at an exit
price calculated pursuant to the SPA equal to RMB981,500,000.
As the Vendors failed to exercise the option granted under the
Deed by the designated deadline of 17 August 2023, the Deed
automatically lapsed. Subsequently, the Vendors alleged that the
Deed was in breach of the SPA. Minsheng Vocational’s position
is that the Deed was properly issued in compliance with the SPA,
and Minsheng Vocational has fully fulfilled its obligation to grant
the option under the SPA by way of the Deed which the Vendors
consciously chose not to exercise, and subject to the decision
of the Tribunal in the HKIAC Arbitration, Minsheng Vocational’s
position is that it is not obliged to purchase the 49% interests in
Leed International. The Directors of the Company are of the view
that the Vendors would not be able to overcome all of Minsheng
Vocational’s defences and succeed for the whole of their claim
for the inflated exit price of RMB2,180,735,576.50. At the date of
approval of the consolidated financial statements, the arbitration
is still in process. Based on the above, the put option liability
was derecognized and non-controlling interests in relation to
49% shares in Leed International was recognized on the expiry
date of the put option for the purpose of financial reporting in
accordance with IFRS. As at 31 December 2023, the Group made
no provision related to the aforesaid arbitration.
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For further details of the disputes and the grant of put option in
relation to the acquisition of 49% of issued share capital of Leed
International, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 21 December 2021, 3 August 2023 and 18 August 2023. If
there are any progress in related matters, the Company will issue
further announcements in due course to inform Shareholders and
potential investors of the Company of the latest situation.

Update on provision of loans to Leed National Education
Technology (Beijing) Limited

In February 2019 and June 2019, Chongging Yuecheng
Zhiyuan Education Technology Company Limited (“Chongqing
Yuecheng”) extended loans in an aggregate principal amount of
RMB400,000,000 to Leed National Education Technology (Beijing)
Limited (a company designated by the Vendors, “Leed National”)
and 49% shares in Leed International held by the Vendors has
been charged as the guarantee under the loan agreements. In
May 2023, the Vendors and Leed National filed a request for
arbitration with China International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission (“CIETAC”) claiming that the obligation to repay the
principal of RMB400,000,000 and corresponding unpaid interest
under the loan agreements has been extinguished and Chongging
Yuecheng and Minsheng Vocational were not entitled to enforce
the charge following the effective exercise of the put option by
the Vendors at an exercise price of RMB2,180,735,576.50 and
the set-off clause under the loan agreements. In August 2023,
Chongging Yuecheng and Minsheng Vocational filed a counter-
claim for arbitration, requesting for an award for the repayment
by Leed National to Chongqging Yuecheng of the principal amount
totaling RMB400,000,000 under the Loan Agreement, together
with the corresponding interest and additional late payment fees.
As at the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements,
the arbitration with CIETAC is still in progress. In May 2023, the
Vendor filed an originating summons with the Grand Court of
the Cayman Islands to apply for an interim injunction to restrain
Minsheng Vocational from taking any step to enforce a series
of share charges over 49% of the issued share capital of Leed
International. In August 2023, a conditional time-limited injunction
order was issued by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands
(“Injunction Order”). In September 2023, Minsheng Vocational
filed a notice of appeal with the Court of Appeal of the Cayman
Islands to appeal the decision of the Grand Court of the Cayman
Islands and to apply for the Injunction Order to be set aside. At
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the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements, the
arbitration with CIETAC is pending for hearing and the proceeding
in Cayman Islands was heard on 23 January 2024 but a judgement
has yet to be handed down by the Court of Appeal of the Cayman
Islands. With a detailed analysis of the HKIAC Arbitration, the
Directors of the Company are of the view that the Vendors cannot
succeed for the whole of their claim for the inflated exit price of
RMB2,180,735,576.50 by overcoming all of Minsheng Vocational’'s
defences. Therefore, the outstanding principal and corresponding
unpaid interest and the charge are still subsisted.

For further details of the provision of loans and the disputes,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 26
December 2018, 4 January 2019, 27 June 2019, 28 July 2023 and
3 September 2023. If there are any progress in related matters,
the Company will issue further announcements in due course to
inform shareholders (the “Shareholders”) and potential investors
of the Company of the latest situation.

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s buildings with
a net carrying amount of approximately RMB80.9 million (31
December 2022: RMB82.7 million) were pledged to secure bank
loans and other borrowings.

The majority of the Group’s revenue and expenditures are
denominated in RMB. As at 31 December 2023, certain bank
balances were denominated in US$ and HK$. The Group
currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policies.
The management will continue to monitor the Group’s foreign
exchange risk exposure and consider adopting prudent measures
as appropriate.

The gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing total borrowings
by total equity, decreased to approximately 35.9% as at 31
December 2023 from approximately 46.8% as at 31 December
2022, which was mainly due to the repayment of the interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group during the
Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Confinued)

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not
have any material acquisitions and/or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.

Salary increment for employees, training and development

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has approximately 6,900
employees (2022: Approximately 7,500 employees).

In 2023, in order to motivate our faculty staff for better work
performance, the Group has reviewed and increased the salaries
of employees. The increment in salaries is based on their
performance, experience and prevailing industry practices, with
all compensation policies and packages reviewed on a regular
basis. As required by the PRC laws and regulations, we participate
in various employee social security plans for our employees
that are administered by local governments, including pension,
medical, maternity, work-related injury, unemployment insurance
and housing provident fund.

In addition, the Group provides training programs to its existing
and newly recruited employees and/or sponsors its employees
to attend various job-related training courses.
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Mr. Li Xuechun, aged 70, is the founder of our Group. Since
October 1998, Mr. Li has served as chairman of the board of
directors of Chongging Li’ang Industry Co., Ltd.. He was appointed
as a Director of the Company on 13 December 2005 and has
been the Chairman of the Board since 17 January 2006. Mr. Li has
more than 20 years of experience in the education industry, having
served as the Chairman of the Board since 2006. In addition, Mr.
Li served as the vice- chairman of the Chinese Association for
Non-Government Education* (FBI R E#HE) from May 2008
to November 2016 and has served as the executive-chairman
of Chongqing Association for Non-Government Education* (EE
R BEHE) since 2014. Mr. Li is responsible for the strategic
development of our Group. Mr. Li graduated from the CPC Central
Party School* (FF A RE#) in Economic Management in June
1988 through long distance learning courses. Mr. Li was a member
of the 11th and 12th National Committee of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference* (FEIARBIAHEHEHE
8%) and a representative of Science Education Culture Health
and Sport Commission* (FEIARBUGHESREHRIEEEZE
) of the 12th National Committee of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Mr. Li was awarded as a National
Education Industry Model Worker* (2EEFHE L1E#H) by the
Ministry of Education of the PRC in September 2014. Mr. Li did
not hold any directorship in other listed companies during the
last three years.

Mr. Liis the father-in-law of Mr. Zuo Yichen, the executive Director
and the President of the Company.

*

English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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Ms. Zhang Weiping, aged 59, joined the Group in April 2007. Ms.
Zhang was appointed as a Director of our Company on 27 July
2008, and served as the Chief Operational Officer of our Group
from April 2007 to August 2016. Ms. Zhang was appointed as the
vice-chairperson of the board of directors and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in July 2020. Since September 2000,
Ms. Zhang has held various positions with Chongging College of
Humanities, Science and Technology, including being appointed
as professor by Southwestern Normal University Yucai College*
(TaREIR S RE2E 4 2F%) (a predecessor of Chongging College
of Humanities, Science and Technology) in 2004. She currently
serves as the executive principal and party secretary of the school.
Ms. Zhang has more than 20 years of experience in the education
industry and is responsible for the overall management and
operation of our Group. Ms. Zhang graduated from Southwestern
University* (FERAKE) (formerly known as Southwestern Normal
College* (FAFaAM&3£26T)) with a bachelor’s degree in law in 1988
and a master’'s degree in law in 1998. Ms. Zhang held various
positions with Southwestern University during the period from
1988 to 2007, where she was appointed an associate professor
in 2001 before receiving a further promotion to the position of
researcher in 2007. Between December 2007 to December 2012,
Ms. Zhang was a representative member of Chongging Municipal
People’s Congress* (EE M ARMRZKA®). She has served as a
vice president of the Higher Education Commission of the China
Non-Governmental Education Association* (fTEIRRH#BEHE)
since 2011. Ms. Zhang was awarded the “Advance Education
Workers in Chongqing* (Jt##(E L1E#&)" award by Chongging
Municipal Education Commission in September 2007. She was
also named as an “Outstanding Party Affairs Worker* ({8552 % T
{E#&)” by Southwestern University* (FAEAZ2) in June 2006. Ms.
Zhang did not hold any directorship in other listed companies
during the last three years.

*

English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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Mr. Zuo Yichen, aged 43, joined the Group in August 2016
as Vice President. Mr. Zuo was appointed as a Director of our
Company on 23 August 2016 and currently act as the President
of our Company. Mr. Zuo has more than 20 years of experience
in finance and education. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zuo was
employed by the Bank of China from July 2002 to March 2016,
and last occupied the position of head office senior manager.
Mr. Zuo graduated from Beijing Foreign Studies University* (1t
FAHNEIFEARER) in 2002 with a bachelor of arts degree, majoring
in French. Mr. Zuo did not hold any directorship in other listed
companies during the last three years.

Mr. Zuo is the son-in-law of Mr. Li Xuechun, the executive Director
and chairman of the Board of the Company.

Mr. Lam Ngai Lung, aged 47, joined the Group in May 2012
as the general manager of our investment department and was
subsequently appointed as a Director of our Company on 23
August 2016. Mr. Lam has served as the Chief Financial Officer of
our Group since 22 May 2016. Mr. Lam has more than 20 years of
experience in the field of accounting, and finance. Prior to joining
our Group, he served as an audit assistant with Nexia Charles
Mar Fan & Co., a firm of Certified Public Accounts, between
September 2000 and November 2003. From November 2003 to
October 2006, Mr. Lam was employed by PricewaterhouseCoopers
and last occupied the position of senior associate. Between
November 2006 and March 2007, Mr. Lam was employed as an
assistant manager at TOM Group Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2383) since August 2004 and
was primarily responsible for internal operational reviews. From
March 2007 to May 2012, Mr. Lam served as an advisory manager
at KPMG. Mr. Lam graduated from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in November 1999 with a bachelor of
science in mathematics degree. In October 2000, He obtained
the Postgraduate Certificate in Professional Accounting from the
City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lam has been a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2004
and a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) charterholder since 2005.
Mr. Lam did not hold any directorship in other listed companies
during the last three years.
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Ms. Li Yanping, aged 62, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 28 June 2017. Ms. Li has been the Vice Principal of
Pass College of Chongging Technology and Business University,
a school in which the Group owns 100% school sponsor interest,
since March 2016. Ms. Li has over 30 years of experience in the
financial service industry and possesses extensive experience in
management and internal audit. Prior to joining the Group, Ms.
Li was the Deputy Division Chief at the Xi’an Branch of Internal
Audit Bureau of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (“ICBC”)
(PR IERITALETBALHB) from 2006 to 2016 and has
worked as an auditor at ICBC from 1999 to 2004. She has also
worked at various positions in ICBC from 1980 to 2004. Ms. Li
has obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics and management
from the Party School of the Central Committee of the Communist
Party of China (R 2 ) and is a senior economist. Ms. Li is the
daughter of Mr. Li Xuerang who is a cousin of Mr. Li Xuechun,
a controlling shareholder of the Company, an executive Director
and the chairman of the Board.

Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny, aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of our Company on 2 March
2017. Mr. Chan is a partner and founder of Kenny Chan & Co.,
a firm of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan has over 35
years’ experience in accounting, taxation, auditing and corporate
finance. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor of commerce degree from
the University of New South Wales and is a fellow of Chartered
Accountants Australia and New Zealand and a fellow of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan is an
independent non-executive director of CM Energy Tech Co.,
Ltd. (stock Code: 206), Jinshang Bank Co., Ltd. (stock code:
2558), and Hebei Construction Group Corporation Limited (stock
code:1727), all are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

*
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Mr. Yu Huangcheng, aged 48, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of our Company on 2 March 2017. From
March 2009 to March 2010, Mr. Yu was employed by the Investment
Promotion Bureau of Haidian District* (/&= % & {24 /5) and last
occupied the position of section chief (£H&). Since March 2010,
Mr. Yu has served as an investment director at Kunwu Jiuding
Capital Holdings Co., Ltd. (E & N & & EIER D BR A F]), which
is a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600053). Mr. Yu graduated from Macquarie University in Australia
with a Master’s degree in applied finance in November 2008. Mr.
Yu did not hold any directorship in other listed companies during
the last three years.

Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew, aged 68, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of our Company on 2 March
2017. He was admitted as Solicitor of the High Court in Hong
Kong in January 1982 and has over 30 years of experience in the
legal practice. Mr. Wang was the Head of Legal and Compliance
Department of China Development Bank Corporation Hong Kong
Branch between from August 2010 to September 2011. Before
joining China Development Bank Corporation Hong Kong, he was
a Partner of the Finance & Projects Group of DLA Piper Hong
Kong from October 2006 to November 2009. Mr. Wang has also
been a Notary Public since 1992. Actively involved in public sector
advisory and statutory bodies, amongst the appointments he is
the Chairman of Appeal Tribunal Panel (Building Ordinance), and
former member of Notaries Public Disciplinary Tribunal Panel. In
2005, he was invited by former President of the United States Bill
Clinton to participate in the Clinton Global Initiative Fund held in
New York 2005. Mr. Wang has served as an independent non-
executive director of Infinity Financial Group (Holdings) Limited (37
B E (1EAR) B BR A 7)), a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1152) from October 2011 to June 2017. Mr. Wang
graduated from Concordia University, Canada with a bachelor of
arts degree in Communications Arts.
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Mr. Wang Wei, aged 57, was appointed as the auditor director
of our company on 27 July 2020. Mr. Wang joined the Group
in October 2005. Mr. Wang has over 20 years of experience
in finance and accounting and is primarily responsible for the
finance and accounting of our Group’s schools in Chongging.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wang worked as accountant
with Beijing Zhongruicheng Lianhe Accounting Firm Chongging
Branch* (dtmAPInsltEa S5t EHBFAERE S FT) and Chongging
Tongguan Accounting Firm Co., Ltd.* (EEBTE & E4KMA
FRE{EAR]). Mr. Wang graduated from Jiangxi Caijing College*
(LPREI A& EP7) with a bachelor degree in economics in July 1989.

Mr. Li Jiandong, aged 51, joined our Group in January 2016 and
is currently the deputy officer of logistics of Chongging College
of Humanities, Science and Technology and has been primarily
responsible for the logistical support of our schools in Chongging.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Li served as the general manager of
Shandong Dongying Jinheng Furniture Co., Ltd.* (UK & & 1EX
BB AF], acompany primarily engaged in export and trading
of furniture, between June 2010 to December 2015. From March
1999 to March 2010, Mr. Li was employed by Shandong Shenghui
Timber Co, Ltd.* (ILERBEEARFEABRAF]) and last occupied the
position of deputy general manager.

Mr. Wong Wai Chiu is the company secretary of our Company
and was appointed on 1 March 2022. Mr. Wong is a fellow
of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (previously
known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries), a
fellow of the Chartered Governance Institute, a member of CPA
Australia, a member of the Hong Kong Trustee Association and
a Certified Trust Practitioner. Mr. Wong is an associate director
of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and his
major responsibility is assisting listed companies in professional
company secretarial work.

*

English names are translated for identification purpose only.
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The Board is pleased to present the reports and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company was incorporated on 13 December 2005 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the laws of the
Cayman lIslands. The Company’s shares were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on 22 March 2017 (the “Listing
Date”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in providing educational services
in the PRC. Details of the principal activities of the Group’s
subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023 as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including an
analysis of the Group’s financial performance, an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business and the Group’s key
relationships with its stakeholders who have a significant impact
on the Group and on which the Group’s success depends, is set
out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 6 to
8 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 35.
These discussions form part of this annual report. Events affecting
the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial
year is set out in the section headed “Events after the Reporting
Period” on page 119 below in this report of the Directors.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital as required under the Listing
Rules as at the date of this annual report.
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The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 152 to 320.

The Group believes that risk management is important to the
Group’s success. Key operational risks faced by the Group
include, among others, changes in general market conditions of
formal higher education, changes in the regulatory environment in
the PRC education industry, the ability of the Group to offer quality
education to students, the ability of the Group to increase student
enrollment and/or raise tuition rates, the potential expansion of the
Group into other regions in China, availability of financing to fund
the Group’s expansion and business operations and competition
from other school operators that offer similar quality of education
and have similar scale.

In addition, the Group also faces numerous market risks, such as
foreign currency risk and liquidity risks that arise in the normal
course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank loans with floating
interest rates. It is the Group’s policy to keep certain borrowings
at floating rates of interest so as to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk. The Group currently does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However,
the Directors will consider hedging significant interest rate risk
should the need arises.

All of the Group’s turnover and majority of the Group’s operating
expenses are denominated in RMB, which is not a freely
convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes controls
on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies and, in
certain cases, the remittance of currency out of Mainland China.
Shortages in the availability of foreign currencies may restrict the
ability of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to remit sufficient foreign
currencies to pay dividends or other amounts to the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
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Liquidity Risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of internally generated
cash flows from operations and other borrowings. The Group
regularly reviews its major funding positions to ensure that it has
adequate financial resources in meeting its financial obligations.

To properly manage these risks, the Group has established risk
management structures and measures. The details are set out
on pages 136 to 137 “Risk Management and Internal Control” of
corporate governance report.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last
five financial years are set out on page 5 “Financial Highlights”
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ACQUISITION IN PROGRESS

Acquisition of 51% of the equity interest of Qufu Changyong
Corporate Management Consulting Company Limited

On 23 November 2018, Chongqging Yuecheng Zhiyuan
Education Technology Co. Ltd* (EEIEBERHABERTERA
7l) (“Chongqing Yuecheng”), as purchaser, and a third party
(“Ms. Pan”), as vendor, entered into a share transfer agreement
(the “Share Transfer Agreement”), pursuant to which Ms. Pan
agreed to sell to Chongging Yuecheng, and Chongaging Yuecheng
agreed to acquire, 51% of the equity interest of Qufu Changyong
Corporate Management Consulting Company Limited (“Qufu
Changyong”), at a total consideration of RMB91.8 million. Upon
completion, Chongging Yuecheng will hold 51% of equity interest
in Qufu Changyong and indirectly hold 51% of school sponsor’s
interest in Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College through
Qufu Changyong.
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Subsequent to the execution of the Share Transfer Agreement,
on 23 November 2018, Chongging Yuecheng, Ms. Pan, Qufu
Changyong and Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College
signed an entrustment agreement, pursuant to which, with
effect from the date of completion of the payment of the first
instalment until the date of completion of the transaction under
the Share Transfer Agreement, Qufu Fareast Vocational and
Technical College would be entrusted to Chongging Yuecheng
for management. During the entrustment period, 51% of the
net profit of Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College will
be paid to Chongging Yuecheng as management fee. Since
February 2019, Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College
has been entrusted to Chongging Yuecheng for management. For
details, please refer to announcements of the Company dated
25 November 2018 and 15 January 2019 and the interim report
of the Company dated 28 September 2023.

As at the date of this annual report, such acquisition has not
completed.

On 15 March 2019, Chongging Yiersheng Education Technology
Company Limited (“Chongqing Yiersheng”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Chongging Yuecheng, a third party (“Mr. Zhang”),
as vendor, Nanchang Hezhitong Education Consulting Company
Limited* (A &4 ZR#E B AR A7) (‘Nanchang Hezhitong”)
and Nanchang Vocational University entered into an equity transfer
agreement, pursuant to which Chongging Yiersheng conditionally
agreed to acquire, and Mr. Zhang conditionally agreed to sell,
51% of the equity interest of Nanchang Hezhitong, at a total
consideration of RMB510 million, which was to be satisfied in cash
by instalments. Upon completion, Chongaging Yiersheng would
hold 51% of equity interest in Nanchang Hezhitong and indirectly
hold 51% of school sponsor’s interest in Nanchang Vocational
University through Nanchang Hezhitong. For details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 15 March 2019.

As at the date of this annual report, such acquisition has not
completed.
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LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

For further details of the Litigation and Arbitration, please refer to
the sub-section headed “Contingent Liabilities” under the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” above in this
annual report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR ACQUIRING CAPITAL
ASSETS

The Group held equity investment at fair value through profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2023. Details are set
out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have
plans for material investments or acquiring capital assets as at
31 December 2023.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” above in this annual report, the Group did not
have any other material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER LOANS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2023
are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on pages 157 to 158, respectively. As at 31 December
2023, the aggregate amount of reserve available for distribution
to equity shareholders of the Company was approximately
RMB539,489,000 (2022: RMB779,631,000).

1. Subject to the Cayman lIslands Companies Act and the
Articles of Association, the Board of Directors has absolute
discretion on whether to distribute dividends. In addition,
the Shareholders may by ordinary resolution approve the
declaration of dividends, but no dividend may be declared
in excess of the amount recommended by the Board. In
either case, a dividend may only be declared and paid
out of the profits and reserves of the Company lawfully
available for distribution (including share premium), and in
no circumstances may a dividend be paid if this would result
in the Company being unable to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. Even if the Board
decides to pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount
of dividends will depend on the Company’s future operations,
cash flows, general financial condition, capital adequacy
ratio, cash dividends received from the invested portfolio
ecosystem partners, future business prospect, statutory and
regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends and other
factors that the Board considers relevant.

2. Any future dividend payments to the Shareholders will also
depend upon the availability of dividends received from our
subsidiaries. PRC regulations may restrict the ability of our
PRC subsidiaries to pay dividends to the Company.

3. The Company does not have a fixed dividend payout ratio.
The Company currently intends to retain most, if not all, of
the available funds and any future earnings to operate and
expand the business.

RRRRAEBEHNFRN#EEEESFEE DA
HIRGEMBWMERNTIAREFEISTEER
158 B MR A M EZE)R - 1H2023F 127
318 F AIAIARQREEREIRENFEER
% &%) A R #539,489,0007T (20224 = A
R#779,631,0007T) °

1. RERSEHSARDEMAREZAL
EXgr2RRNBEREREDIKKRE
BEAN - BORAEB B RRBRAET IR
BB EFERNRETABAESS
EENERE - EEMERT - AARE
B AEAHYIKEE N MR
Pein i (B) Bk R ALE - B Eman
A PAFERMN R B MERARQFENE
BERABREGTIHNES - AEES
ERERMNBLE - ERBHEN - RE
KRN AEBRNARBIRKEE - ]
TRE  BERMBNRR EXATEEX
BT EMEA R ARRRAERHIR
BORERE - BREBAR - REIK
MEERMEERGNEESRAIAH
MEREMBEE -

2. IR A AR FRE A B BE TR A BUR R
BEEEMBARKWRRE - HEDER S
SRR BB AR AR FIK
B mEES -

3. ARBAEETEIREE - KRAREE
FRBABO(MIEF)AIHAER
RAERIARREFN - LAREERIBRE
ﬁ% o



4. The dividend policy reflects the Board’s current views on the
Company'’s financial and cash flow position. It will continue
to be reviewed by the Board from time to time and there can
be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount, if at all, for any given period.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK0.98
cents per ordinary share (equivalent to RMB0.89 cents, according
to the central parity rate of Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars as
announced by the People’s Bank of China on 19 March 2024, i.e.
RMBO0.90772 equivalent to HK$1.00) (2022: HK4.29 cents) by cash
to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)’) whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on
Friday, 26 July 2024. Subject to the approval of the Shareholders
at the forthcoming annual general meeting on Wednesday, 12
June 2024, the date of payment of final dividend will be on
Tuesday, 27 August 2024.

There is no arrangement that a shareholder has waived or agreed
to waive any dividend.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the laws of the
Cayman lIslands or under the Company’s Articles of Association
that require the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to its existing Shareholders.

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, had purchased,
sold or redeemed any listed securities of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

No service provided to a single customer contributes 10% or more
of the total revenue of the Group during the Reporting Period.
Revenue from the Group’s five largest customers combined
was less than 30% of the total revenue of the Group during the
Reporting Period.
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Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
10.2% of the total purchases in 2023 and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to 3.1% of the Group’s
total purchases for the Reporting Period.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or any of the
substantial Shareholders (which are disclosed to the Directors)
had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers
or suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group acknowledges the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet
its immediate and long-term goals. The Group maintains a good
relationship with employees, customers and suppliers. During
the Reporting Period, there were no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its employees, customers and/
or suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023 amounted to approximately RMB11,433,000
(2022: approximately RMB8,425,000).
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On 29 April 2020, Chongging Minsheng Education Management
Co., Lid* (EERAHE EE AR AF]) (“Chongging Minsheng”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
International Finance Corporation, a member of World Bank Group
entered into a loan agreement and the relevant loan documents
(the “Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which International Finance
Corporation agreed to lend, and Chongging Minsheng agreed
to borrow, a loan in an aggregate principal amount of up to
RMB750 million (the “Loan”), the period of the Loan will be 8
years, the Loan shall be repayable in 11 semi-annual instalments
commencing from 15 June 2023. Proceeds from the Loan will be
used for, among others, business expansion and daily operation
of the Group.

On 30 October 2020, Chongging Minsheng and International
Finance Corporation entered into the first amendment letter to the
Loan Agreement, pursuant to which the Loan would be adjusted
from RMB750,000,000 to RMB400,000,000. The full amount of
RMB400,000,000 has been disbursed in July 2020 (“Completed
Disbursement”). On the same date, Minsheng Education, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and International Finance
Corporation entered into an USD loan agreement (the “USD Loan
Agreement”), pursuant to which International Finance Corporation
agreed to lend, and Minsheng Education agreed to borrow, a
loan in an aggregate amount of up to 51,000,000 USD (the
“USD Loan”), the USD Loan being the Completed Disbursement
subtracted from the Loan, which is amounted to USD equivalent
of RMB350,000,000. The USD Loan shall be repaid in 11 semi-
annual instalments commencing from 15 June 2023 until 15 June
2028. The USD Loan will be used for, among other things, the
Group’s business development and daily operations.
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Pursuant to a share retention agreement ancillary to the Loan
Agreement and the USD Loan Agreement, each of Mr. Li Xuechun,
the chairman of the Board, an executive director and the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, and Minsheng Group,
being controlling shareholders of the Company, is required to
perform certain specific performance obligations. Specifically, Mr.
Li Xuechun shall maintain directly not less than 51% of the legal
and beneficial ownership of the shares of Minsheng Group, and
Minsheng Group shall maintain directly not less than 51% of the
legal and beneficial ownership of the shares of the Company, for
so long as any indebtedness under the Loan or the USD Loan
remains outstanding.

A breach of any of the said specific performance obligations will
constitute an event of default under the Loan Agreement and USD
Loan Agreement whereupon, International Finance Corporation
will have the power to require the Borrower to repay all or part
of the Loan or USD Loan (as applicable).

For details of the above, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 3 May 2020 and 30 October 2020.

On 4 December 2020, the Company (as borrower) and BOC
Macau (as lender and as agent) entered into a facility agreement
(the “BOC Facility Agreement”) and the relevant loan documents,
pursuant to which Bank of China Limited Macau Branch (“BOC
Macau”) agreed to provide the Company a term loan facility up
to US$44,800,000, the period of the loan will be 5 years from
the date of the BOC Facility Agreement. Proceeds from the loan
will be used for, among others, acquisition and general working
capital of the Group.

Pursuant to the BOC Facility Agreement, Mr. Li Xuechun, the
chairman of the Board, an executive director, being the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, is required to maintain
directly or indirectly not less than 51% of the issued share capital
of the Company.
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If Mr. Li Xuechun no longer owns directly or indirectly no less than
51% of the issued share capital of the Company, the Company
shall promptly notify BOC Macau, BOC Macau shall not be obliged
to fund the utilization of the loan, and BOC Macau may, by
not less than 10 business days’ notice to the Company, cancel
its commitment whereupon the outstanding loan, together with
accrued interest, and all other amounts accrued will become
immediately due and payable.

For details of the above, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 4 December 2020.

On 13 July 2021 (after trading hours), the Company (as borrower)
and Minsheng Bank Hong Kong Branch (as lender) entered into
a facility agreement (the “Minsheng Bank Facility Agreement”),
pursuant to which Minsheng Bank Hong Kong Branch agreed to
provide the Company a term loan facility of up to HK$500,000,000
or its equivalent in US$ or RMB. Subject to review by Minsheng
Bank Hong Kong Branch and other terms and conditions under
the Minsheng Bank Facility Agreement, the facility under the
Minsheng Bank Facility Agreement will be available for multiple
drawings within one year from the date of the Minsheng Bank
Facility Agreement. The term of the loan(s) shall not exceed three
years from its utilization date.

Pursuant to the Minsheng Bank Facility Agreement, Mr. Li
Xuechun, the chairman of the Board, an executive Director, being
the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, is required
to maintain directly or indirectly not less than 51% of the issued
share capital of the Company.

For details of the above, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 13 July 2021.

IMRFEBEEETBEERXEEFEART
ROME1%H B BEITIRA - NRBIEZANE
AR ERORFY - PERFIEER REKHER
REED  RRAPIATAERDI0EIE
BRBAANRT - BUBEAR - R RER
B E FOE A FEET M BUA K P A H A FERT & 58
eSS BNEIHAFELS -

X BEBFHE B2HAR R B A2020
F12A48092% -

M2021F7H13A( R 5K &%) - AR A
(BEFHBERERITEBNT(ABERF)
AUuBREhE((RERTREHBSE]) &
I REBRTAEADTREMARARH
&% % /500,000,000 7L 3k FEAI E T A
REHTHERRE - XBRRARERITES
DITHEZERAERITEEHZE THHA
R EEY  RERITEESHZEETHER
BRRERTEREREZBHE—FAAIHS
KIRE - ERHIRASSAZARTBBE=S
$ o

RERERTEERS  EFEEF - AT
EXFERRERNR RN RLIERBE -
AR ERIERFAARRR T DRE1%H)
EHITRA o

EXEBFHE  F2HA QR HEA2021
F7A13HAE -



On 21 December 2021, Minsheng Education Company Limited
(“Minsheng Education”) (as borrower) and Deutsche Investitions—
Und Entwicklungsgesellschaft Mbh (“DEG”) (as lender), a
member of KW Bankengruppe in Germany, entered into the
loan agreement dated 21 December 2021, pursuant to which DEG
agreed to lend, and Minsheng Education agreed to borrow, a loan
in an aggregate principal amount up to USD28,240,000, the last
repayment date of the loan shall be 15 June 2028. The loan shall
be repayable in 11 semi-annual instalments commencing from
15 June 2023. Proceeds from the loan will be used for, among
others, business expansion and daily operation of the Group.

Pursuant to a share retention agreement ancillary to the loan
agreement, each of Mr. Li Xuechun, the chairman of the Board, an
executive director and the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company, and Minsheng Group, being controlling shareholders of
the Company, is required to perform certain specific performance
obligations. Specifically, Mr. Li Xuechun shall maintain directly
not less than 51% of the legal and beneficial ownership of the
shares of Minsheng Group; and Minsheng Group shall maintain
directly not less than 51% of the legal and beneficial ownership
of the shares of the Company, for so long as any indebtedness
under the loan remains outstanding.

A breach of any of the said specific performance obligations will
constitute an event of default under the loan agreement, whereupon
DEG will have the power to require Minsheng Education to repay
all or part of the Loan.

For details of the above, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 21 December 2021.

As at the date of this annual report, Minsheng Group owns
approximately 71.71% of the issued shares of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year of 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman of the Board)

Ms. Zhang Weiping (Vice-chairperson of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Zuo Yichen (President)

Mr. Lam Ngai Lung (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Shen Jinzhou (appointed on 13 January 2023 and resigned
on 22 March 2024)
Ms. Li Yanping

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny
Mr. Yu Huangcheng
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received a confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors and the Board
considers such Directors to be independent in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 36 to
42 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director had a material beneficial interest in,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the
year 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year of 2023, none of the Directors or substantial
Shareholders or their respective associates had engaged in any
business which competes or may compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group or has any conflict
of interests with the Group.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the controlling Shareholders has made an annual
declaration in respect of their compliance with the terms of non-
competition undertaking during the Reporting Period. Details of
the non-competition undertaking are set out in the section headed
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus.
The non-competition undertakings in respect of the controlling
Shareholders have become effective from the Listing Date.
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Chongging Yuecheng Zhiyuan Education Technology Co.,
Ltd. ("Chongqing Yuecheng”) currently holds 51% of school
sponsor’s interest of Chongqging Electronic Information
College, 100% equity interest of Chongqing Yiersheng
Education Technology Company Limited (“Chongqing
Yiersheng”) and 100% equity interest in Chongging Yujingao
Education Technology Co. Ltd. (“Chongqing Yujingao”).

Pending completion of the relevant agreements:

(1) Chongging Yuecheng will hold 51% equity interest of
Qufu Changyong Corporate Management Consulting
Company Limited (“Qufu Changyong”), which in turn
will hold 51% school sponsor’s interest in Qufu Fareast
Vocational and Technical College;

(2) Chongging Yiersheng will hold 51% equity interest of
Nanchang Hezhitong Education Consulting Company
Limited (“Nanchang Hezhitong”), which in turn will hold
51% of school sponsor’s interest in Nanchang Vocational
University.

Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College is currently
managed by the Group pursuant to its entrustment
arrangement.

Chongging Electronic Information College, Chongging
Yiersheng, Chongqging Yujingao and Qufu Fareast Vocational
and Technical College are collectively referred to as
the “Yuecheng Operating Entities” in this section. Qufu
Changyong, Nanchang Hezhitong and Nanchang Vocational
University will become part of the Yuecheng Operating
Entities upon completion of the relevant agreements.
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We currently hold our interest in the Yuecheng Operating
Entities in the PRC through a series of contracts (the
“Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements”) as PRC laws and
regulations generally restrict foreign ownership in the private
education industry in the PRC. PRC laws and regulations
currently restrict the operation of higher education institutions
to Sino-foreign cooperation ownership, in addition to imposing
qualification requirements on the foreign owners. We do not
hold any equity interest in our Yuecheng Operating Entities.
The Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements, through which we
obtain control over and derive the economic benefits from
the Yuecheng Operating Entities, have been narrowly tailored
to achieve our business purpose and minimize the potential
conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations
as set out above while availing ourselves of international
capital markets and maintaining effective control over
all of our operations, on 27 September 2017, our wholly-
owned subsidiary, Chongging Ruibo Mincheng Education
Technology Co. Ltd. (“Chongqging Ruibo”) entered into
various agreements that constitute the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements with, among others, Chongging Yuecheng,
under which all economic benefits arising from the business
of the Yuecheng Operating Entities and Chongging Yuecheng
are transferred to Chongging Ruibo to the extent permitted
under the PRC laws and regulations by means of service
fees payable by Chongqging Yuecheng to Chongqging Ruibo.
Although the registered shareholders are not consolidated
as part of our Group, they are parties to certain agreements
which constitute the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements to
ensure that the shareholders’ rights of Chongging Yuecheng
are actually controlled by Chongging Ruibo.
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Based on the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements and the
legal opinion of the Legal advisor to the Company as to
the laws of the PRC, Global Law Office (the “PRC Legal
Advisor”), the consolidated financial results of the Yuecheng
Operating Entities, which engage in higher education service,
are consolidated to those of our Group.

The major provisions of the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements are summarized as follows:

(1) Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement A

Pursuant to the exclusive business cooperation
agreement entered into between Chongging Ruibo
and Chongqing Yuecheng (the “Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement A”), Chongqing Ruibo agreed
to provide exclusive technical services to Chongging
Yuecheng, including but not limited to, technical services,
network support, business consulting, market consulting,
system maintenance and other services necessary for
the business of or as required by Chongging Yuecheng
and allowed under the PRC law. Under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement A, Chongging Ruibo
is entitled to charge Chongqging Yuecheng each financial
year for a service fee equals to all the amount of its net
profit (after deducting all costs, expenses, taxes, losses
from the previous year (if required by the law) and the
statutory provident fund as required by law) for the
corresponding period. Chongging Ruibo has the right
(but not the obligation) to adjust the amount of such
service fee by reference to, among others, the actual
services provided and the actual business operations
and needs of Chongging Yuecheng, provided that any
adjusted amount shall not cause any difficulties for the
operation of both of Chongging Ruibo and Chongaging
Yuecheng.
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(2) Equity Pledge Agreements A

Pursuant to the equity pledge agreement entered into
by and among Chongging Ruibo, Chongging Yugangao
Enterprise Management Consultant Company Limited
(“Chongqing Yugangao”) and Chongqging Yuecheng
(the “Equity Pledge Agreement IA”), Chongqing
Yugangao agreed to pledge and grant the first priority
security interests over the entire equity interest of
Chongging Yuecheng owned by Chongging Yugangao
together with all related rights thereto to Chongging
Ruibo as security for performance of the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements and all direct, indirect,
consequential damages and foreseeable loss of interest
incurred by Chongging Ruibo as a result of enforcement
of the obligations of Chongqging Yugangao and
Chongging Yuecheng under the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements until all such obligations are discharged
to the satisfaction of Chongging Ruibo.

In addition, pursuant to the equity pledge agreement
entered into by and among Chongging Ruibo, Chongging
Yugangao, Mr. Li Xuechun (“Mr. Li”) and Mr. Cao Yong
(“Mr. Cao”) (the “Equity Pledge AgreementIlA”, together
with the Equity Pledge Agreement IA, the “Equity Pledge
Agreements A”), Mr. Li and Mr. Cao agreed to pledge
and grant the first priority security interests over the
100% equity interest of Chongqging Yugangao owned
by Mr. Li and Mr. Cao in aggregate together with all
related rights thereto to Chongqing Ruibo as security for
performance of the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements
and all direct, indirect, consequential damages and
foreseeable loss of interest incurred by Chongging Ruibo
as a result of enforcement of the obligations of Mr. Li,
Mr. Cao and Chongging Yugangao under the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements until all such obligations are
discharged to the satisfaction of Chongging Ruibo.
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(3) Exclusive Call Option Agreements A

Pursuant to the exclusive call option agreement entered
into by and among Chongaging Ruibo, Chongging
Yugangao and Chongaging Yuecheng (the “Exclusive
Call Option Agreement IA”), Chongqging Yugangao
has irrevocably and unconditionally granted Chongaing
Ruibo the right to, as and when permitted by the
applicable PRC laws and regulations during the term of
the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements, acquire all or
part of the 100% equity interest of Chongging Yuecheng
held by Chongaing Yugangao at a consideration which
is the lower of the registered capital contribution by
Chongging Yugangao to Chongging Yuecheng and
nominal consideration, or otherwise at the lowest
price permitted by the then applicable PRC laws and
regulations.

In addition, pursuant to the exclusive call option
agreement entered into by and among Chongqging
Ruibo, Chongging Yugangao, Mr. Li and Mr. Cao (the
“Exclusive Call Option Agreement lIA”, together with
Exclusive Call Option Agreement IA, the “Exclusive
Call Option Agreements A”), Mr. Li and Mr. Cao have
irrevocably and unconditionally granted Chongging
Ruibo the right to, as and when permitted by the
applicable PRC laws and regulations during the term of
the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements, acquire all or
part of the 100% equity interest of Chongging Yugangao
together held by Mr. Li and Mr. Cao for the lower of the
registered capital contribution by Mr. Li and Mr. Cao
to Chongqging Yugangao and nominal consideration,
or otherwise at the lowest price permitted by the then
applicable PRC laws and regulations. In addition,
pursuant to the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IIA,
Mr. Li and Mr. Cao have irrevocably undertaken that,
subject to the PRC laws and regulations, they will return
to the Company any consideration they receive in the
event that the Company acquires the equity interest in
Chongging Yuecheng when terminating the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements.
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(4) Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreements A

and Power of Attorneys A

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IA and
Power of Attorney IA

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment
agreement executed by and among Chongging Ruibo,
Chongging Yugangao and Chongging Yuecheng (the
“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IA”),
Chongging Yugangao executed a power of attorney in
favour of Chongqing Ruibo (the “Power of Attorney IA”)
pursuant to which Chongging Yugangao has irrevocably
and unconditionally authorized Chongging Ruibo to,
among other things:

(i) act as the agent of Chongging Yugangao and to
make decisions which Chongging Yugangao is
entitled to make as the shareholder of Chongging
Yuecheng on behalf of Chongging Yugangao;

(i) exercise all its rights of shareholder and voting
rights in Chongging Yuecheng as granted by
the PRC law and the articles and associations of
Chongging Yuecheng, including but not limited to
selling, transferring, pledging or otherwise dealing
in all or any of the equity interests in Chongqging
Yuecheng; and

(iii) serve as the legal representative, chairman,
executive director or manager of Chongging
Yuecheng in accordance with its articles and
associations, or nominate, appoint or change
the legal representative, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager or
other management level personnel of Chongging
Yuecheng.

Chongging Ruibo is entitled to authorize any person or
entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of
such directors to exercise the rights which Chongaging
Ruibo is authorized to exercise under the Power of
Attorney IA.
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In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement |A, Chongqging Yugangao
guarantees and undertakes that:

(i) in the event it receives any asset (including the
equity interest of Chongging Yuecheng) in relation to
the liquidation, winding-up, dismissal or termination
of Chongging Yuecheng, Chongging Yugangao
agrees to transfer at nil consideration or at the
lowest consideration as permitted by the then
applicable laws and regulations to Chongaqing Ruibo
such asset; and

(i) without prior approval of Chongqing Ruibo, it will
neither, directly or indirectly, participate or engage
in any business which is or may be in competition
with the business of Chongging Yuecheng or its
associated companies, or be engaged by any
entity which is or may be in competition with the
business of Chongqging Yuecheng or its associated
companies, or hold any assets of such entity or hold
more than 5% interest in such entity.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IA, any successor to Chongging Yugangao
shall hold the respective equity interest in Chongging
Yuecheng subject to conditions, requirements and
obligations under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IA.
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Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IIA and
Power of Attorney IIA

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment
agreement executed by and among Chongging
Ruibo, Mr. Li, Mr. Cao and Chongging Yugangao (the
“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IIA”,
together with the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IA, the “Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreements A”), Mr. Li and Mr. Cao executed a power
of attorney in favour of Chongqging Ruibo (the “Power of
Attorney IIA”, together with the Power of Attorney A, the
“Power of Attorneys A”) pursuant to which Mr. Li and
Mr. Cao have irrevocably and unconditionally authorized
Chonggqing Ruibo to, among other things:

(i) act as the agent of Mr. Li and Mr. Cao to convene
and attend shareholder meetings of Chongqging
Yugangao in accordance with its articles and
associations;

(i) exercise all their rights of shareholders and voting
rights in Chongging Yugangao as granted by the
PRC law and its articles and associations, including
but not limited to selling, transferring, pledging or
otherwise dealing in all or any of the equity interests
in Chongaing Yugangao; and

(iii) serve as the legal representative, chairman,
executive director or manager of Chongging
Yugangao in accordance with its articles and
associations, or nominate, appoint or change
the legal representative, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager or
other management level personnel of Chongging
Yugangao.

Chongging Ruibo is entitled to authorize any person or
entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of
such Directors to exercise the rights which Chongaging
Ruibo is authorized to exercise under the Power of
Attorney llA.
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In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement IlA, each of Mr. Li and Mr. Cao
guarantees and undertakes that:

(i) in the event he receives any asset (including the
equity interest of Chongging Yugangao) in relation to
the liquidation, winding-up, dismissal or termination
of Chongqing Yugangao, he agrees to transfer at
nil consideration or at the lowest consideration
as permitted by the then applicable laws and
regulations to Chongging Ruibo such asset; and

(i) without prior approval of Chongging Ruibo, he will
neither, directly or indirectly, participate or engage
in any business which is or may be in competition
with the business of Chongging Yugangao or its
associated companies, or be engaged by any
entity which is or may be in competition with the
business of Chongqging Yugangao or its associated
companies, or hold any assets of such entity or hold
more than 5% interest in such entity.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement A, in the event of Mr. Li's or Mr. Cao’s death,
loss of capacity, marriage, divorce or bankruptcy or other
similar events affecting Mr. Li or Mr. Cao in exercising
their respective shareholders’ rights of Chongqging
Yugangao, any successor to Mr. Li or Mr. Cao shall hold
the respective equity interest in Chongqging Yugangao
subject to conditions, requirements and obligations
under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
[A.

BN RIBERE R IRIER
A Z=hARE XA RE NEE
N

() EERINEENERERSZ
BBE BEEKRILENE
'fﬂﬁ?(@%ﬁi%/ﬁﬂ/ﬁ/ﬁé’]HX
B - BRI E®EESNUE R
BRERRRERAFORKE
REBZEEEEETER
BE &

(i) ERERINERTENSEL
HENBERLT AT E8E
&iﬁ&m/ﬂjﬁEEﬂ
HERMERIHEBER
%%T&IT&T&%%%
X% (XEMEEENS
R HBAERBRBIFEDL
—IHZT—E ?E}]E\ﬁfé%
YT—rﬁ A—r%ﬁ EE’]EETT%QF
AL EERBRS%HE

N
s o
I

RIERRRREZEHHIA &
?%iiﬁ%EIZE KET
REEN CBER IR ERE
m%w%#%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ijg
EETEEZERERNERN
BREZNIBFERAT » FREXRE
TENEMBEAERBEEERND
R AR FE Y RAE MR ST IR R
RIERFEBARINANIRM - 2R K
HI5 -



(5) Spouse Undertakings A

Pursuant to the spouse undertakings (“Spouse
Undertakings A”) executed by Ms. Shi, the spouse of
Mr. Cao, Ms. Shi has irrevocably undertaken that:

(a) she has full knowledge of and has consented to
the entering into of the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements to which Mr. Cao is a party, and
in particular, the equity interest in Chongging
Yugangao owned by Mr. Cao is not part of the
common assets of Mr. Cao and herself, she is
not entitled to any rights attached to such equity
interests of Mr. Cao in Chongging Yugangao
(including the rights arising from the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements), she shall not engage
in any activities interfering the performance of the
Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements (including
but not limited to claiming her entitlement to the
equity interest of Chongging Yugangao owned by
Mr. Cao and any rights arising from the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements).

(b) she has not, is not and shall not in the future
participate in the operation and management in
relation to Chongging Yugangao and claim any
interest in relation to the equity interest and assets
of Chongqging Yugangao.

(c) in the event she receives all or part of the equity
interest of Chongging Yugangao for any reason, she
agrees to be a party to the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements and be bound by the relevant
restrictions as set out in the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements and perform any act and execute all
necessary documents in order to give effect to such
restrictions.
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Authorization to obtain assets of Chongqing Yuecheng

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IA and the Power of Attorney IA, Chongging
Ruibo has been authorized to exercise all rights
of Chongqging Yugangao as the sole shareholder of
Chongging Yuecheng under applicable laws and
the articles of association of Chongging Yuecheng,
including but not limited to the right to dividends and
right to deal with the assets of Chongging Yuecheng.
It is also the guarantee and undertaking that, in the
Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IA, in the
event it receives any asset (including the equity interest
of Chongging Yuecheng) in relation to the liquidation,
winding-up, dismissal or termination of Chongging
Yuecheng, Chongging Yugangao agrees to transfer
at nil consideration or at the lowest consideration as
permitted by the then applicable laws and regulations
to Chongging Ruibo such asset.

Dispute resolution

Pursuant to the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements,
any dispute arising from the validity, interpretation and
performance of the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements
between the parties thereto should first be resolved
through negotiation. If the parties are unable to settle
the dispute within 30 days, any party may submit the
said dispute to the Chongging Arbitration Commission
with a view to resolving the dispute through arbitration
in accordance with the arbitration rules thereof. The
results of the arbitration shall be final and binding on
all relevant parties. The arbitral commission shall have
the right to award remedies over the equity interest
and property interest and other assets of Chongqging
Yuecheng, injunctive relief (for the conduct of business
or to compel the transfer of assets) or order the winding
up of Chongging Yuecheng (the “Arbitral Award
Provisions”).
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The Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements also provide
that pending formation of the arbitral tribunal or
in appropriate cases, the courts of Hong Kong, the
Company'’s place of incorporation (the Cayman Islands),
Chongging Yuecheng’s place of establishment (the PRC),
the jurisdiction where the principal assets of Chongging
Ruibo and Chongqging Yuecheng are located (the PRC)
have the power to grant interim remedies in support of
the arbitration (the “Interim Remedies Provisions”).

However, as advised by the PRC Legal Advisor
according to the PRC laws and regulations, the arbitral
tribunal normally would not grant such kind of remedies
or injunctive relief or winding up order of such PRC
operational entities as Chongging Yuecheng under the
PRC laws and regulations. For instance, the arbitral
commission has no authority to grant such injunctive
relief, nor will it be able to order the winding up of
the PRC operational entities pursuant to existing PRC
laws and regulations. In addition, interim remedies or
enforcement order granted by overseas courts such as
Hong Kong and Cayman Islands may not be recognizable
or enforceable in China.

Chongging Yuecheng is a company established under
the laws of the PRC with limited liability and is principally
engaged in higher education management consulting service.
Chongging Electronic Information College is a full-time
ordinary higher education institution located in Chongaing
city, the PRC, providing higher vocational (junior college)
education. Qufu Fareast Vocational and Technical College
is a full-time ordinary higher education institution located in
Qufu city, Shandong Province, the PRC, providing higher
vocational (junior college) education.
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D. Significance and financial contributions of the
Yuecheng Operating Entities to the Group

Pursuant to the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements, the
Group obtains control over and derives the economic benefits
from the Yuecheng Operating Entities. The table below sets
out the financial contribution of the Yuecheng Operating
Entities to the Group:
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Higher Education

According to the PRC laws and regulations, the business of
the Yuecheng Operating Entities is a restricted business to
foreign investors at present.

The Yuecheng Operating Entities engages in higher
education in the PRC. At present, according to the Special
Administrative Measures for Access of Foreign Investment
(Negative List) (2021) ( (HMNEIREFEANFERIEREHB(BES
) (20214 hR)) (the “Negative List”), higher education is a
restricted business for foreign investors and limited to Sino-
foreign cooperative operations led by Chinese nationals.
The Company is an overseas company registered outside
the PRC, which is a foreign investor; and accordingly, if the
equity interest in Chongqging Yuecheng were owned by the
Company, it would be regarded as a foreign investor as well.

Furthermore, pursuant to the Implementation Opinions on
Encouraging and Guiding Private Fund’'s Entry into the
Education Sector and Promoting Healthy Development of
Private Education* ( (EREBMSIBREECEAHKS
EHRERNAERELROEKEER) ) promulgated by
the Ministry of Education of the PRC on 18 June 2012 the
foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino-foreign joint
venture private school should be below 50% (the “Foreign
Ownership Restriction”).

As advised by the PRC Legal Advisor, pursuant to Regulations
on Sino-foreign Cooperation of Educational Institutions®
( (FRONEESE(EHI) ) and its implementing measures (the
“Implementing Measures”), the foreign investor of a Sino-
foreign cooperative educational institution shall be a foreign
educational institution with relevant qualification and the
quality of education services provided by it is relatively high
(the “Qualification Requirement”). There are no specific
criteria or guidance on the Qualification Requirement under
the current PRC laws and regulations.

BEHE

RIBPBIAEZER - BRI A S EER
5 R SN E E R B RTS -

HHEEERETEANREFEHE -
B AT REBEGOMNAREEARTREEE
(B EEE)) (20215 ) (TREF
B SSHELHIEREERRFIR
X RIPINGIEMS  h o8-
ARAEPBEFEIEMEO—FIRIQ
Al RINERERE - HEH - RAR
AR A BRI BMABE  EERMBS
WRBINEREE -

BESh - IR BB #rR20126F6 A 18
HEMGHCEARSBNSIEREESHE
AHBEBERERWHABREERNE
HEE R FINE EDEHAE R BRI
B4 8 5 IR A 50% ([ 9MNE 8 #ERR
F1) o

RIEFBEZERNE R U R(PINE
e EEp YR E BB E( B
ZD RIS ERBRIBRINGRES
EAAEAHENHSERNRRMME
BE([ERER)OHBEKE - BATH
BUAEERENERER M ARG LEDN
ZHEFNHES| o



As further advised by the PRC Legal Advisor, the principal
business of the Yuecheng Operating Entities falls within the
aforesaid industry, and the Company, as a foreign investor
investing in the business of operating higher education in the
PRC, the PRC Legal Advisor is of the view that (i) there are
no specific requirements in the Implementing Measures or
specific criteria or guidance under the current PRC laws and
regulations as to how Chongqging Yuecheng can be regarded
as an educational institution; and (ii) if Chongaging Yuecheng
were a subsidiary of the Group, it would not be qualified to act
as a foreign investor in a Sino-foreign cooperative educational
institution, until the relevant specific implementation measures
and/or guidance have been promulgated to enable the Group
to attain such qualification.

Based on the above and as confirmed by the PRC Legal
Advisor, in order to achieve the business purpose of the
Company, the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements, through
which the Group will be able to exercise full control over
Chongging Yuecheng and consolidate the financial results of
Chongging Yuecheng into the accounts of the Group, have
been utilized to minimize the potential conflict with relevant
PRC laws and regulations.
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Risks

As the primary beneficiary of Chongqging Yuecheng, the
Group is exposed to the business risks and financial risks
faced by Chongqging Yuecheng.

There is no assurance that Chongging Yuecheng will
generate any profit which can be paid to the Group through
the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements

There is no assurance that Chongging Yuecheng will
generate any profit which can be paid to the Group through
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement A and the
Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IA. Any profit or
loss of Chongging Yuecheng (net of intra-group transactions)
will be reflected in the consolidated financial statement of
the Group.

A substantial amount of costs and time may be involved in
transferring the ownership of Chongqing Yuecheng to the
Group under the Exclusive Call Option Agreements A

The exercise of the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IA is
subject to applicable laws and regulations of the PRC. There
is no assurance that the acquisition of the equity interest in
Chongging Yuecheng held by Chongging Yugangao under
the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IA will be permitted in
the future, or whether such acquisition will incur any costs
and expenses to the Group in addition to the consideration
stipulated under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IA.
Due to these limitations, the transfer of equity interest in
Chongging Yuecheng pursuant to the exercise of the call
option under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IA may
still be subject to substantial costs.

There is no assurance that the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements could comply with future changes in the
regulatory requirements in the PRC and the PRC government
may determine that the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements
do not comply with applicable regulations.
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At the time when the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements
were entered into, the PRC Legal Advisor advised that
the execution, delivery and performance of the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements by each of the parties thereto,
were in compliance with (i) the provisions under the articles of
association of such party and (ii) any applicable PRC laws and
regulations. However, the interpretation and implementation
of the laws and regulations concerning the foreign investment
in the PRC, and their application to and effect on the legality,
binding effect and enforceability of contracts, are subject to
the discretion of competent PRC legislative, administrative
and judicial authorities. In particular, there is no assurance
that PRC legislative, administrative or judicial authorities will
not adopt a different or contrary interpretation or view against
view of the Company and its legal advisor in respect of the
legality, binding effect and enforceability of the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements, and may determine that the
contracts do not comply with applicable regulations.

The Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct ownership in providing control over
Chongqing Yuecheng

Further, the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements may not
provide control over Chongging Yugangao and Chongqging
Yuecheng as effective as direct ownership; Mr. Li, Mr. Cao
and Chongging Yugangao may have potential conflicts of
interest with the Company; and the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny of the tax authorities
and additional tax may be imposed on the Group.

Insurance

We believe that there are limited business insurance products
available in the market, and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, no insurance products specifically designed for
protecting the risks relating to the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements are available in the PRC market. Further, it is
not compulsory for Chongging Yugangao and Chongqging
Yuecheng to maintain an insurance policy to cover risks
relating to the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements under the
applicable PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly, the Group
has not purchased any insurance to cover the above risks.
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Internal control

In order to mitigate the risks associated with the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements, the Company has put in place
effective internal controls over Chongqging Ruibo, Chongging
Yugangao, Chongging Yuecheng and the Yuecheng
Operating Entities to safeguard its assets held through the
Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements. As a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, Chongging Ruibo is subject to
all the internal control process and procedures applicable
to the Group.

The operations of Chongging Yugangao and Chongging
Yuecheng are exclusively controlled by Chongqging Ruibo
through the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements and
the Group has applied its internal control processes and
procedures to Chongging Yugangao and Chongging
Yuecheng. In particular, pursuant to the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements, (i) Chongging Ruibo has the right to nominate,
appoint or terminate, the legal representatives, chairman,
directors, supervisors, chief executive officer, manager and
other senior management members of Chongging Yugangao
and Chonggqing Yuecheng; and (ii) without the prior consent
of Chongging Ruibo, Chongging Yugangao and Chongging
Yuecheng is not allowed to dispose of any of their respective
assets with a value of RMB1,000,000 or more.

As of the date of this annual report, there were no material
changes in the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements and/or
the circumstances under which the Yuecheng Contractual
Arrangements were adopted.
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I.  Unwinding of the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been
any unwinding of any Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements,
nor has there been any failure to unwind any Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that led to
the adoption of the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements are
removed. In the event that the PRC regulatory environment
changes and all of the Qualification Requirement, the Foreign
Ownership Restriction and the Foreign Control Restriction
are removed (and assuming there are no other changes in
the relevant PRC laws and regulations), Chongging Ruibo
will exercise the relevant call option in full to unwind the
contractual arrangements so that the Company will be able
to directly operate the schools without using the Yuecheng
Contractual Arrangements.

For details of the above Yuecheng Contractual Arrangements,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 27
September 2017.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS IN RELATION TO THE
JIERUI OPERATING ENTITIES

The Jierui Contractual Arrangements

On 2 May 2018, Chongging Mengzhuo, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a set of agreements
with Shiji Kuangao (Beijing) Investment Management Co., Ltd*
(L EEILR)EREEEAFRAR]) (“Shiji Kuangao”), Chongqging
Jierui Education Technology Co., Ltd* (EBHEEHERIBEAER A
7)) (“Jierui”) and its shareholders, Mr. Li and Mr. Li Jiandong
(“Mr. Li JD”), namely, the (a) Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement B, (b) Equity Pledge Agreements B, (c) Exclusive
Call Option Agreements B, (d) Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreements B; and (e) Power of Attorneys B, and (f) Spouse
Undertakings B, (as defined below) (collectively, the “Jierui
Contractual Arrangements”).
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Jierui is currently holding:

(a)

100% equity interest in Shiji Kuangao, which in turn holds
51% equity interest in Beijing Xiaoai Intelligent Technology
Company Limited* (JtR/NEZRERZERAR]) (“Xiaoai
Technology”);

100% equity interest in Minsheng Education High School
Company Limited* (#EREHESHHPEHFR AT, also
known as Laoling Minsheng Education High School* (%
ERAEHESMHE) (“Laoling Minsheng Education High
School”);

100% equity interest in Chongging Fanyun Education
Technology Company Limited* (EELBHEREAER
A7) (“Chongging Fanyun”), which in turn holds 51%
equity interest in Guangdong Minsheng Online Education
Technology Company Limited* (ERRAEESHABERIEER
A7) (“Minsheng Online”);

100% equity interest in Beijing Yierxue Education Technology
Company Limited* (It RS2 MEHERHEHBR2AR]) (“Beijing
Yierxue”), which in turn holds 100% of UMOOC Online
Education Technology (Beijing) Limited Company* ({85 %
EHEHERBRALR)EREE LA (‘'UMOOC”); and

100% equity interest in Beijing Minsheng Zhicai Education
Technology Company Limited* (It RRRE A HERBERA
Al) (“Minsheng Zhicai”), which in turn holds 60% of Doxue
Network Technology (Beijing) Company Limited* (&FE2484%
B (AER)BRAR]) (“Doxue Network”).

Shiji Kuangao, Xiaoai Technology, Laocling Minsheng Education
High School, Chongging Fanyun, Minsheng Online and its
subsidiaries, Beijing Yierxue, UMOOC, Minsheng Zhicai, and
Doxue Network and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to
as “Jierui Operating Entities” in this section.
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Pursuant to the Jierui Contractual Arrangements:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

the Group is able to exercise control over Jierui and the Jierui
Operating Entities;

the Group has the right to govern the management of Jierui
and the Jierui Operating Entities;

the Group has the right to deal with the assets of Jierui and
the Jierui Operating Entities;

the Group has the right to acquire the entire equity interest
of Jierui and Shiji Kuangao (as and when the PRC relevant
rules and regulations allow it to do so); and

the Company is able to consolidate the financial results
of Jierui and the Jierui Operating Entities into the Group’s
results.
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The following diagram illustrates the relationship among the
Company, Chongging Mengzhuo, the Jierui Operating Entities,
Jierui and its shareholders:
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(1) Chongaing Mengzhuo is indirectly wholly-owned by the Company.

Reasons for use of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements

According to the PRC laws and regulations, the business of
the Jierui Operating Entities is a restricted business to foreign
investors at present.
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Laoling Minsheng Education High School is a full-time high school
located in Laoling, Shandong Province, the PRC.

At present, pursuant to the Special Administrative Measures for
Access of Foreign Investment (Negative List) (2021) ( {9NE#& & &
ANERIEBEM(BEBE)) (20214FhR), high school education is a
restricted business for foreign investors and limited to Sino-foreign
cooperative operations led by Chinese nationals. The Company
is an overseas company registered outside the PRC, which is
a foreign investor; and accordingly, if the equity interest in Shiji
Kuangao was owned by the Company, it would be regarded as
a foreign investor as well.

Furthermore, pursuant to the Implementation Opinions, the foreign
portion of the total investment in a Sino-foreign joint venture private
school is subject to the Foreign Ownership Restriction.

As advised by the PRC Legal Advisor, pursuant to Implementing
Measures, the foreign investor of a Sino-foreign cooperative
educational institution is subject to the Qualification Requirement.
There is no specific criteria or guidance on the Qualification
Requirement under the current PRC laws and regulations.

The businesses operated by Doxue Network, Minsheng Online
and its subsidiaries, UMOOC and Xiaoai Technology require
a value- added telecommunications business license. Each of
Doxue Network, Minsheng Online, UMOQOC and Xiaoai Technology
holds a value-added telecommunications business license.

According to the “Special Administrative Measures for Foreign
Investment Access (Negative List) (2021 Edition)”, the proportion
of foreign shares in value-added telecommunications services
shall not exceed 50% (except for e-commerce, domestic multi-
party communications, store and forward, and call centers).
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As confirmed by the PRC Legal Advisor, in order to achieve
the business purpose of the Company, the Jierui Contractual
Arrangements, through which the Group will be able to exercise
full control over Jierui and consolidate the financial results of Jierui
into the accounts of the Group, have been utilized to minimize the
potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.

The Directors confirm that the Company will monitor the
development of the relevant PRC laws and regulations on the
Foreign Ownership Restriction and the Qualification Requirement
and other relevant restrictions on foreign investors and work closely
with Jierui to take all reasonable steps to comply with the other
requirements or terminate the Jierui Contractual Arrangements
to the extent possible and practicable under the relevant PRC
laws and regulations.

In addition to monitoring the development of the relevant PRC laws
and regulations on the Qualification Requirement, the Company is
also minded to further develop its capabilities to provide higher
education services overseas in order to be prepared to satisfy
the Qualification Requirement when the relevant specific criteria
and guidance become available. The Group owns approximately
22.9% equity interest in Beacon International College PTE LTD.
in Singapore and is one of two members of Hong Kong Nang
Yan College of Higher Education Limited in Hong Kong. The
Group currently participates in the management of these two
schools mainly through its representatives who are appointed
as directors or governors of each school. As these schools are
overseas schools of higher education, which are in line with the
principles set out in the Regulations on Sino-foreign Cooperation
of Educational Institutions and the Implementation Measures
in relation to the status of a foreign investor in a Sino-foreign
cooperative educational institution, the Directors believe such
investment and involvement in overseas educational institutions
will be conducive to the Group’s satisfaction of the Qualification
Requirement when the relevant laws, regulation, procedures and/
or guidance are promulgated.
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The major provisions of the contracts in the Jierui Contractual #&E&LILTHRE LR T BIEE T -
Arrangements are summarized as follows:

(1) Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement B

(1) BREXSEHZEB

Pursuant to the exclusive business cooperation agreement
entered into between Chongging Mengzhuo and Jierui
(the “Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement B”),
Chongging Mengzhuo agreed to provide exclusive technical
services to Jierui, including but not limited to, technical
services, network support, business consulting, market
consulting, system maintenance and other services necessary
for the business of or as required by Jierui and allowed under
the PRC law.

Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement B,
Chongging Mengzhuo is entitled to charge Jierui each
financial year for a service fee equals to all the amount of
its net profit (after deducting all costs, expenses, taxes,
losses from the previous year (if required by the law) and
the statutory provident fund as required by law) for the
corresponding period. Chongging Mengzhuo has the right
(but not the obligation) to adjust the amount of such service
fee by reference to, among others, the actual services
provided and the actual business operations and needs of
Jierui, provided that any adjusted amount shall not cause any
difficulties for the operations of both of Chongging Mengzhuo
and Jierui.
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(2) Equity Pledge Agreements B

Pursuant to the equity pledge agreement entered into by and
among Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui and Shiji Kuangao (the
“Equity Pledge Agreement IB”), Jierui agreed to pledge and
grant the first priority security interests over the entire equity
interest of Shiji Kuangao owned by Jierui together with all
related rights thereto to Chongging Mengzhuo as security
for performance the Jierui Contractual Arrangements and all
direct, indirect, consequential damages and foreseeable loss
of interest incurred by Chongging Mengzhuo as a result of
enforcement of the obligations of Jierui and Shiji Kuangao
under the Jierui Contractual Arrangements until all such
obligations are discharged to the satisfaction of Chongging
Mengzhuo or as required by PRC laws and regulations.

In addition, pursuant to the equity pledge agreement
entered into by and among Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui,
Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD (the “Equity Pledge Agreement IIB”,
together with the Equity Pledge Agreement IB, the “Equity
Pledge Agreements B”), Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD agreed to
pledge and grant the first priority security interests over
the 100% equity interest of Jierui owned by Mr. Li and Mr.
Li JD in aggregate together with all related rights thereto
to Chongqging Mengzhuo as security for performance the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements and all direct, indirect,
consequential damages and foreseeable loss of interest
incurred by Chongging Mengzhuo as a result of enforcement
of the obligations of Mr. Li, Mr. Li JD and Jierui under the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements until all such obligations
are discharged to the satisfaction of Chongging Mengzhuo
or as required by PRC laws and regulations.
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(3) Exclusive Call Option Agreements B

Pursuant to the exclusive call option agreement entered
into by and among Chongqging Mengzhuo, Jierui and Shiji
Kuangao (the “Exclusive Call Option Agreement IB”), Jierui
has irrevocably and unconditionally granted Chongging
Mengzhuo the right to, as and when permitted by the
applicable PRC laws and regulations during the term of
the Jierui Contractual Arrangements, acquire all or part of
the 100% equity interest of Shiji Kuangao held by Jierui
at a consideration which is the lower of the registered
capital contribution by Jierui to Shiji Kuangao and nominal
consideration, or otherwise at the lowest price permitted by
the then applicable PRC laws and regulations. In addition,
pursuant to the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IB, Jierui
has irrevocably undertaken that, subject to the PRC laws and
regulations, they will return to the Company any consideration
they receive in the event that the Company acquires the
equity interest in Shiji Kuangao when unwinding the Jierui
Contractual Arrangements.

In addition, pursuant to the exclusive call option agreement
entered into by and among Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui,
Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD (the “Exclusive Call Option Agreement
IIB”, together with Exclusive Call Option Agreement IB,
the “Exclusive Call Option Agreements B”), Mr. Li and
Mr. Li JD have irrevocably and unconditionally granted
Chongging Mengzhuo the right to, as and when permitted
by the applicable PRC laws and regulations during the
term of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements, acquire all or
part of the 100% equity interest of Jierui together held by
Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD for the lower of the registered capital
contribution by Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD to Jierui and nominal
consideration, or otherwise at the lowest price permitted by
the then applicable PRC laws and regulations. In addition,
pursuant to the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IIB, Mr. Li
and Mr. Li JD have irrevocably undertaken that, subject to
the PRC laws and regulations, they will return to the Company
any consideration they receive in the event that the Company
acquires the equity interest in Jierui when terminating the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements.
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(4) Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreements B and

Power of Attorneys B

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IB and Power
of Attorney IB

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement
executed by and among Chongging Mengzhuo, Jierui and
Shiji Kuangao (the “Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IB”), Jierui executed a power of attorney in
favour of Chongging Mengzhuo (the “Power of Attorney IB”)
pursuant to which Jierui has irrevocably and unconditionally
authorized Chongging Mengzhuo to, among other things:

(i) act as the agent of Jierui and to make decisions which
Jierui is entitled to make as the shareholder of Shiji
Kuangao on behalf of Jierui;

(i) exercise all its rights of shareholder and voting rights
in Shiji Kuangao as granted by the PRC law and the
articles and associations of Shiji Kuangao, including
but not limited to selling, transferring, pledging or
otherwise dealing in all or any of the equity interests in
Shiji Kuangao; and

(iii)y serve as the legal representative, chairman, executive
director or manager of Shiji Kuangao in accordance
with its articles and associations, or nominate, appoint
or change the legal representative, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager or other
management level personnel of Shiji Kuangao.

Chongging Mengzhuo is entitled to authorize any person or
entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of such
Directors to exercise the rights which Chongging Mengzhuo
is authorized to exercise under the Power of Attorney IB.
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In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IB, Jierui guarantees and undertakes that:

(i) in the event it receives any asset (including the equity
interest of Shiji Kuangao) in relation to the liquidation,
winding-up, dismissal or termination of Shiji Kuangao,
Jierui agrees to transfer at nil consideration or at the
lowest consideration as permitted by the then applicable
laws and regulations to Chongging Mengzhuo such
asset; and

(i) without prior approval of Chongging Mengzhuo, it will
neither, directly or indirectly, participate or engage in
any business which is or may be in competition with the
business of Shiji Kuangao or its associated companies,
or be engaged by any entity which is or may be in
competition with the business of Shiji Kuangao or its
associated companies, or hold any assets of such entity
or hold more than 5% interest in such entity.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
IB, any successor to Jierui shall hold the respective equity
interest in Shiji Kuangao subject to conditions, requirements
and obligations under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IB.

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement I1B and
Power of Attorney IIB

Pursuant to the shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement
executed by and among Chongging Mengzhuo, Mr. Li, Mr.
Li JD and Jierui (the “Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IIB”, together with the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement IB, the “Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreements B”), Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD executed
a power of attorney in favour of Chongging Mengzhuo (the
“Power of Attorney IIB”, together with the Power of Attorney
IB, the “Power of Attorneys B”) pursuant to which Mr. Li and
Mr. Li JD have irrevocably and unconditionally authorized
Chongging Mengzhuo to, among other things:
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(iii)

act as the agent of Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD to convene and
attend shareholder meetings of Jierui in accordance with
its articles and associations;

exercise all their rights of shareholders and voting rights
in Jierui as granted by the PRC law and its articles
and associations, including but not limited to selling,
transferring, pledging or otherwise dealing in all or any
of the equity interests in Jierui; and

serve as the legal representative, chairman, executive
director or manager of Jierui in accordance with its
articles and associations, or nominate, appoint or
change the legal representative, chairman, directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer, manager or other
management level personnel of Jierui.

Chongging Mengzhuo is entitled to authorize any person or
entity, any Directors or any successor or liquidator of such
Directors to exercise the rights which Chongging Mengzhuo
is authorized to exercise under the Power of Attorney IIB.

In addition, pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement IIB, each of Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD guarantees and
undertakes that:

(i)

(i)

in the event he receives any asset (including the equity
interest of Jierui) in relation to the liquidation, winding-up,
dismissal or termination of Jierui, each of them agrees to
transfer at nil consideration or at the lowest consideration
as permitted by the then applicable laws and regulations
to Chongging Mengzhuo such asset; and

without prior approval of Chongqging Mengzhuo, neither
of them will, directly or indirectly, participate or engage
in any business which is or may be in competition with
the business of Jierui or its associated companies, or be
engaged by any entity which is or may be in competition
with the business of Jierui or its associated companies,
or hold any assets of such entity or hold more than 5%
interest in such entity.
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(5)

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
[IB, in the event of death, loss of capacity, marriage, divorce
or bankruptcy of Mr. Li and Mr. Li JD, or other similar events
affecting Mr. Li or Mr. Li JD in exercising their respective
shareholders’ rights of Jierui, any successor to Mr. Li or
Mr. Li JD shall hold the respective equity interest in Jierui
subject to conditions, requirements and obligations under the
Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement IIB.

Spouse Undertakings B

Pursuant to the spouse undertakings (“Spouse Undertakings
B”) executed by Ms. Xin, the spouse of Mr. Li JD, Ms. Xin
has irrevocably undertaken that:

(a) she has full knowledge of and has consented to the
entering into of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements to
which Mr. Li JD is a party, and in particular, the equity
interest in Jierui owned by Mr. Li JD is not part of the
common assets of Mr. Li JD and herself, she is not
entitled to any rights attached to such equity interests of
Mr. Li JD in Jierui (including the rights arising from the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements), she shall not engage
in any activities interfering the performance of the Jierui
Contractual Arrangements (including but not limited to
claiming her entitlement to the equity interest of Jierui
owned by Mr. Li JD and any rights arising from the Jierui
Contractual Arrangements);

she has not, is not and shall not in the future participate
in the operation and management in relation to Jierui
and claim any interest in relation to the equity interest
and assets of Jierui;

in the event she receives all or part of the equity interest
of Jierui for any reason, she agrees to be a party to the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements and be bound by the
relevant restrictions as set out in the Jierui Contractual
Arrangements and perform any act and execute all
necessary documents in order to give effect to such
restrictions.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFEWmE(R)

SIGNIFICANCE AND FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE
JIERUI OPERATING ENTITIES TO THE GROUP

Pursuant to the Jierui Contractual Arrangements, the Group
obtains control over and derives the economic benefits from the
Jierui Operating Entities. The table below sets out the financial
contribution of the Jierui Operating Entities to the Group:

HRELEERUASENERZERMBER

REHEAOTH  AEENGHRELER
AT - WP ESEEND - TRH
IR EEBHASENTHER -

Significances and financial contribution to the Group
HEKEHEEM R UK SR
Revenue

Wz

For the year ended
31 December 2023

#Z2023%F12A31H
ILFE

Significances and financial contribution
to the Group
HAEBENEZN KM B ER

9.9%

REVENUE AND ASSETS INVOLVED IN JIERUI
CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Jierui Operating Entities
HELEER

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAZE &= HFGR A Al

Net Profit

FF

For the year ended
31 December 2023

HZ2023F12A31H
LLFE

Total Assets
As of
31 December 2023

£ £2023F12H31H

-57.1% 2.6%

RESHNREMINEREE

Assets

BE

As of

31 December 2023

Revenue

Wz

For the year ended
31 December 2023

B £2023F12A31H
ILFE

232,313

#£2023F12A31H
299,692



Based on the Jierui Contractual Arrangements and the legal
opinion provided by the PRC Legal Advisor, the Directors are of
the view that the Jierui Contractual Arrangements have allowed
the Company to consolidate the financial results of the Jierui
Operating Entities under the prevailing accounting principles.

As the primary beneficiary of Jierui, the Group is exposed to the
business risks and financial risks faced by Jierui.

There is no assurance that Jierui will generate any
profit which can be paid to the Group through the Jierui
Contractual Arrangements

There is no assurance that Jierui will generate any profit which can
be paid to the Group through the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement B and the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
[IB. Any profit or loss of Jierui (net of intra-group transactions) will
be reflected in the consolidated financial results of the Group.

A substantial amount of costs and time may be involved in
transferring the ownership of Jierui to the Group under the
Exclusive Call Option Agreements B

The exercise of the Exclusive Call Option Agreement B is subject to
applicable laws and regulations of the PRC. There is no assurance
that the acquisition of the equity interest in Jierui held by Mr. Li
and Mr. Li JD under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement B will be
permitted in the future, or whether such acquisition will incur any
costs and expenses to the Group in addition to the consideration
stipulated under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement IIB. Due to
these limitations, the transfer of equity interest in Shiji Kuangao
pursuant to the exercise of the call option under the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement IIB may still be subject to substantial costs.

There is no assurance that the Jierui Contractual Arrangements
could comply with future changes in the regulatory requirements
in the PRC and the PRC government may determine that the
Jierui Contractual Arrangements do not comply with applicable
regulations.
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The PRC Legal Advisor is of the opinion that as at the date
of this annual report, the execution, delivery and performance
of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements by each of the parties
thereto, is in compliance with (i) the provisions under the articles
of association of such party and (ii) any applicable PRC laws
and regulations. However, the interpretation and implementation
of the laws and regulations concerning the foreign investment
in the PRC, and their application to and effect on the legality,
binding effect and enforceability of contracts, are subject to
the discretion of competent PRC legislative, administrative and
judicial authorities. In particular, there is no assurance that PRC
legislative, administrative or judicial authorities will not adopt a
different or contrary interpretation or view against view of the
Company and its legal advisors in respect of the legality, binding
effect and enforceability of the Jierui Contractual Arrangements,
and may determine that the contracts do not comply with
applicable regulations.

The Jierui Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct ownership in providing control over
Jierui

Further, the Jierui Contractual Arrangements may not provide
control over Jierui as effective as direct ownership; Mr. Li, Mr. Li
JD may have potential conflicts of interest with the Company; and
the Jierui Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny
of the tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed on the
Group.

As of the date of this annual report, there were no material changes
in the Jierui Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances
under which the Yuecheng Contractual Arrangement were
adopted.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFgWmE(R)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND EERTETRAESRRS - HERORE
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARE, UNDERLYING SHARES AND R EANERR XA
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of 20234128310 * ARG EBERFET
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, HBAEBRAATISHEHEEE(EERLEL
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated  JEf|5571Z &4 RS EH| ([ BE R AL
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and 1§41 |) EXVE) &I 5 - BB GH R EREE
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”), Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong B 1R 1E 55 Kk B & (&0 F£ 35218 B 52 8%
Kong), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the RERATFENELM - BB EHmasT
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise AZEEFHITHESFL FHEESFR|([EE
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Bl |)ZBRI& AN A &) R EE 28 FraviEss KA B
Model Code for Securities Transactions by directors of Listed T :

Issuers (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares RBFHFRE

Approximate percentage
of shareholding in
Company as at 31

Number of December 2023Note 2)
Name of Director Nature of Interest shares held  Position  7A2023F12831HRAEA
Esp BEanttE BERGEE HFR/XE ANRESHES LW
Mr. Li Xuechun (Nete Interest of corporation  3,022,604,000  Long 71.66%
ZEH AR controlled HE
P Il 0 5 B i 2
Ms. Zhang Weiping Beneficial owner 26,000,000 Long 0.62%
REFRL ERBEEA He
Mr. Zuo Yichen Beneficial owner 7,000,000 Long 0.17%
LRRESE EREEA He
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung Beneficial owner 7,000,000  Long 0.17%
MERBESRE EnEAA HE
Ms. Li Yanping Beneficial owner 1,000,000 Long 0.02%
FREFL LT EREEA He
Notes: MYEE
(1) Mr. Li holds 90% of the issued share capital of Minsheng Group (1) ZFRAFARESEAR AR (AIHEH MK E
Company Limited (formerly known as Honest Cheer Investments Limited) BIRAR)) ([REEE ) 0% EITHRA @ I
(“Minsheng Group”) and is its sole director and he is therefore deemed RRESENE-EE BREAKERES
to be interested in the shares held by Minsheng Group. Ms. Li Ning, BE D OIS c FELIRFLENLS
daughter of Mr. Li, holds the remaining 10% of the issued share capital WRHARESEBRTMI0%DHETRA -

of Minsheng Group.

(2) Based on the number of issued shares of the Company of 4,217,720,000  (2) REALQFR20235F12A31H B EH1TRD
as at 31 December 2023. 2/ B 4,217,720,0008%++ & -
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFEWmE(R)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, neither the
chief executive nor any of the Directors of the Company had
or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(i) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to any Directors
or chief executive of the Company, the following persons (other
than Director or chief executive of the Company) or corporations
who had interest or short positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Number of
shares held

BEROEE

Nature of Interest

BENE

Name of Shareholder

BRER

Br Eat B & SN - 72023 12H31H @ A&
REAINEBITRAEBRESHENERQR]
REAEEEE (EE R FBSHSRBEKRHIEXV
)RR - AR D Sk B A S
BAFEBRIEER R BEEGEXVIE
TRESHEBAME NN A LI FA(BIER
BEHRBAERINEBEUESHE L
REBEBOERIORE) + H(iNREBEEH K
HAE 6 38 35216 J8 50 8 1A 5% 16 P it & =
A (i IRBZESFRIZBAE AR 7 K

RSO A

FERRRBROREERG FHEBHERR

RE

RARAESEREIETBRABRA R
2023F12H31H » RAR AR R AEBEK
NEBREBEES KEERIEXVEE2RE
3P EEMARFIEEE - KALDHENIREE
# N B G0 FE 336K EFERN TR MAR
BRFKEMAT(RRAREEREETH
ABBRINFZ AT -

Approximate percentage
of shareholding in
Company as at 31

December 2023MNete 2)
Position 72023512831 HRAERLD
HE/ KA ANRBEQE e

Minsheng Group (formerly Beneficial owner 3,022,604,000  Long 71.66%
known as Honest Cheer EnHEEA "E
Investments Limited)

RESEAIERHRERRLR)

City Legend International Beneficial owner 332,000,000  Long 7.87%
Limited (ete ) EREEA "e

ZEERABRATMED

Phoenix Ocean Developments Interest of corporation 332,000,000  Long 7.87%
Limited (ete ) controlled He

ERBREB AR ez 0PN El £

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 S H B R A A



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFgWmE(R)

Approximate percentage
of shareholding in
Company as at 31

December 2023Nete 2)

Position  #2023F12831BRA A
BR/ %A ANBEEOE S
Long 7.87%
He
Long 7.87%
He
Long 7.87%
He
Long 7.87%
He
Long 7.87%
He

Number of
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest shares held
BRRER EaitE FEROHE
Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Interest of corporation 332,000,000
Holdings Limited (Mo controlled
EEW(RMERBRAB®E PTG EEER
Pacific Climax Limited o€ Interest of corporation 332,000,000
Pacific Climax Limited (%0 controlled
P iR 805 B e
Overseas Chinese Town (HK) Interest of corporation 332,000,000
Company Limited (MNete 1) controlled
BBEBWMARRFMED P i 805 B e
RINEBEHRDBRAR] Nore D Interest of corporation 332,000,000
RINZE B AR 0 B R A &) controlled
P iR B0 B i
ZEMEBEFRAT Noe Interest of corporation 332,000,000
EEHEBBR AR WED controlled
P iR 805 B e
Notes: MisE -

(1)

City Legend International Limited is 100% owned by Phoenix Ocean
Developments Limited, which is 100% owned by Overseas Chinese
Town (Asia) Holdings Limited. Pacific Climax Limited holds 70.94% of
Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Holdings Limited. Pacific Climax Limited
is 100% owned by Overseas Chinese Town (HK) Company Limited,
which is 100% owned by FAIEBHBMHBERAF. EBRMEEFRA
A holds 46.99% of RYIZEBH AR DB QA Therefore, each of JRYIZE
BRRHBIRAR, EEHEEHFRAGF, Overseas Chinese Town (HK)
Company Limited, Pacific Climax Limited, Overseas Chinese Town (Asia)
Holdings Limited and Phoenix Ocean Developments Limited is deemed
to be interested in such shares held by City Legend International Limited
under the SFO.

Based on the number of issued shares of the Company of 4,217,720,000
as at 31 December 2023.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company are not aware of any
other person or corporation having an interest or short position in
the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which would
require to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”, at no time during the year 2023 were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the Company
granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or
children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised
by any of them; or was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

Each of our executive Directors (other than Mr. Lam Ngai Lung)
has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial
fixed term of three years commencing from 1 August 2016 and
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from
22 May 2016. The term of each of the service contracts between
the Company and the executive Directors will be automatically
renewed for a further term of three years upon the expiration of
the initial term, until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other (or otherwise
in accordance with the terms of the relevant service contract).

B EaiBEE N R2023F12H31H © &
NABEZEREBITRA BB T MBI EM
AT RARRARRF 2 D MAERE D
EREBEESRBEGHIEXVEE2RESD
HAMARREE KL SERAREERIE
BHELHEIENEICIKEEFEENE LA
EZEIAR o

BRIt 8] | — BT IREE I - HAIES
H R E R B BI18EIA T F R ER
20234 F A fa] s ) E R AT (T R A - 5 LR
BARRIBDER AR - MKFIRER A
TR EER - AARHETMAMBER
BIRFEAMET L EM LY BEESAR
TR E MR E LS ERN -

BHITEB (MBI ERINHEEARQ A
IR EH VIXEEFEHAE=F " 8
20168 A1HRAER  MMHBELEEAN
RAFIMHRBEHNPECTFHRAE=F -
H2016F5 22 BAEM - AR A HEZHIT
EECHNRBENFHRERVPFHRER
BEPEE-F EEIAN—FRBS—FHE
ET DR =@ A E B A (AR B AR B8RS
BHER) FIARIEALE



Each of our independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed term
of one year commencing from the Listing Date and the term of
each of these service contracts will be automatically renewed for
a further term of one year after the expiration of the initial term,
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing by
served by either party on the other (or otherwise in accordance
with the terms of the relevant service contract).

Ms. Li Yanping has been appointed as non-executive Director with
effect from 28 June 2017. She has entered into an appointment
letter with the Company for an initial term of one year, subject
to retirement by rotation and re- election in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company and the term of each of
the appointment may be renewed for a further term of one year
by mutual agreement between the above respective director
and the Company upon expiration of the initial term and each
renewed term.

In accordance with article 84 (1) of the Company’s articles of
association, Ms. Zhang Weiping, Mr. Zuo Yichen and Mr. Chan
Ngai Sang, Kenny will retire from the Board by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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As set out in the Prospectus, the Company would adopt, among
others, the following measures to avoid any conflict of interests
arising from competing business and to safeguard the interests
of the Shareholders: (i) the Company would disclose decisions
on matters reviewed by the independent non-executive Directors
relating to compliance and enforcement of the non-competition
undertaking of the controlling Shareholders in the annual reports
of the Company; and (ii) the controlling Shareholders would make
an annual declaration on compliance with their undertaking under
the Deed of Non-competition in the annual report of the Company.

The Company confirms that there were no conflicts of interests
between the controlling Shareholders and the Group arising from
any competing business during the period from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2023 (both dates inclusive) (the “Relevant Period”).

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
status of compliance and enforcement of the Deed of Non-
competition and confirmed that nothing has come to their attention
that the controlling Shareholders have breached any undertaking
or provisions under the Deed of Non-competition during the
Relevant Period.

The controlling Shareholders have also confirmed that they
have complied with their undertaking under the Deed of Non-
competition during the Relevant Period and have made an annual
declaration on such compliance.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this annual report.
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The following is a summary of principal terms of the share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) conditionally approved
by a resolution of our sole shareholder passed on 2 March 2017
and adopted by a resolution of the Board on 2 March 2017 (the
“Adoption Date”).

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to give the
Eligible Persons (as defined in the following paragraph) an
opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company and
help motivate them to optimize their future contributions to the
Group and/or to reward them for their past contributions, to
attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going relationships
with such Eligible Persons who are significant to and/or whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance,
growth or success of the Group, and additionally in the
case of Executives (as defined below), to enable the Group
to attract and retain individuals with experience and ability
and/or to reward them for their past contributions.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer options
(“Options”) to subscribe for such number of shares in
accordance with the terms set out in the Share Option
Scheme to:

(a) any executive director of, manager of, or other employee
holding an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar
position in any member of the Group (“Executive”), any
proposed employee, any full-time or part-time employee,
or a person for the time being seconded to work full-time
or part-time for any member of the Group (“Employee”);

(b) adirector or proposed director (including an independent
non-executive director) of any member of the Group;
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(c) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the
Group;

(d) a supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group;

(e) acustomer, consultant, business or joint venture partner,
franchisee, contractor, agent or representative of any
member of the Group;

(f) a person or entity that provides design, research,
development or other support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional or other services to any
member of the Group;

(g) an associate of any of the persons referred to in
paragraphs (a) to (f) above; and

(h) any person involved in the business affairs of the
Company whom the Board determines to be appropriate
to participate in the Share Options Scheme (the persons
referred above are the “Eligible Persons”).

Pursuant to the amendments to the Listing Rules with effect
from 1 January 2023, the Eligible Persons under the Share
Option Scheme is subject to Rule 17.03A of the Listing Rules.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the Listing Date
(such 10% limit representing 400,000,000 shares excluding
shares which may fall to be issued upon the exercise of
the Over-allotment Option granted by the Company) (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit”) provided that:
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(a)

the Company may at any time as our Board may think
fit seek approval from Shareholders of the Company
to refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit, save that the
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
shall not exceed 10% of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval by the Shareholders
of the Company in general meeting where the Scheme
Mandate Limit is refreshed. Options previously granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
of the Company (including those outstanding, cancelled,
lapsed or exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme or any other schemes of the
Company) shall not be counted for the purposes of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit as refreshed. The
Company shall send to Shareholders of the Company a
circular containing the details and information required
under the Listing Rules;

the Company may seek separate approval from the
Shareholders of the Company in general meeting for
granting Options beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit,
provided that the Options in excess of the Scheme
Mandate Limit are granted only to the Eligible Person
specified by the Company before such approval is
obtained. The Company should issue a circular to the
Shareholders of the Company containing the details and
information required under the Listing Rules; and

the maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes of the Group shall not exceed 30% of the
Company’s issued share capital from time to time. No
Options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Company if
this will result in such limit being exceeded.
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No Option may be granted to any one person such that the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of Options granted and to be granted to that person in any
12- month period exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued share
capital from time to time. Where any further grant of Options
to such an Eligible Person would result in shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all Options granted and
to be granted to such Eligible Person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding Options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of our Shares in issue, such further
grant shall be separately approved by the Shareholders of
the Company in general meeting with such Eligible Person
and his close associates (or his associates if such Eligible
Person is a connected person) abstaining from voting. The
Company shall send a circular to the Shareholders of the
Company disclosing the identity of the Eligible Person, the
number and terms of the Options to be granted (and Options
previously granted) to such Eligible Person, and containing
the details and information required under the Listing Rules.
The number and terms (including the subscription price) of
the Options to be granted to such Eligible Person must be
fixed before the approval of the Shareholders of the Company
and the date of the Board meeting proposing such grant shall
be taken as the offer date for the purposes of calculating the
subscription price of those Options.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board
shall be entitled at any time within 10 years from the Adoption
Date to offer the grant of an Option to any Eligible Person as
the Board may in its absolute discretion select to subscribe
at the subscription price for such number of shares as the
Board may (subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme)
determine (provided the same shall be a board lot for dealing
in the shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple
thereof).
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Subject to the terms in the Share Option Scheme, only
insofar as and for so long as the Listing Rules require,
where any offer of an Option is proposed to be made to
a director, chief executive or a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of their
respective associates, such offer must first be approved by
the independent non-executive Directors of the Company
(excluding the independent non-executive Director who or
whose associates is the grantee of an Option).

Where any grant of Options to a substantial shareholder
(as defined in the Listing Rules) or an independent non-
executive director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the securities issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all Options already granted and
to be granted (including Options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant:

(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant
class of securities in issue; and

(b) (where the securities are listed on the Stock Exchange),
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the securities at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5.0 million, such further grant of Options must be
approved by the Shareholders of the Company (voting
by way of a poll). The Company shall send a circular
to the Shareholders containing the information required
under the Listing Rules. The grantee, his associates
and all core connected persons of the Company must
abstain from voting in favor at such general meeting.

Approval from the Shareholders is required for any change
in the terms of Options granted to a participant who is a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their respective associates.
The grantee, his associates and all core connected persons
of the Company must abstain from voting in favour at such
general meeting.
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The Board shall not grant any Option under the Share Option
Scheme after inside information has come to its knowledge
until such inside information has been announced pursuant to
the requirements of the Listing Rules. In particular, no Option
shall be granted during the period commencing one month
immediately preceding the earlier of the date of the Board
meeting (as such date is first notified to the Stock Exchange
in accordance with the Listing Rules) for the approval of
the Company’s results for any year, half-year, quarterly or
any other interim period (whether or not required under the
Listing Rules) and the deadline for the Company to publish an
announcement of its results for any year, half-year, quarterly
or any other interim period (whether or not required under
the Listing Rules), and ending on the date of the results
announcements.

Subject to the provisions of the Listing Rules, the Board may
in its absolute discretion when offering the grant of an Option
impose any conditions, restrictions or limitations in relation
thereto in addition to those set forth in the Share Option
Scheme as the Board may think fit (to be stated in the letter
containing the offer of the grant of the Option) including
(without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) qualifying
and/or continuing eligibility criteria, conditions, restrictions
or limitations relating to the achievement of performance,
operating or financial targets by the Company and/or the
grantee, the satisfactory performance or maintenance by
the grantee of certain conditions or obligations or the time
or period before the right to exercise the Option in respect
of any of the shares shall vest provided that such terms or
conditions shall not be inconsistent with any other terms or
conditions of the Share Option Scheme. For the avoidance of
doubt, subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may
determine as aforesaid (including such terms and conditions
in relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise) there is no
minimum period for which an Option must be held before
it can be exercised and no performance target which need
to be achieved by the grantee before the Option can be
exercised.

EESANEARBEER - TEREEKR
ETEIR L EMBERE  EERARES
RIEETRABEREAM AL - LER
EREUATHEPRERLEEA—EAR
WMEFENETIRE B EHENERE
B NEFE /IUEARBEMF
B~ #FE - FEREMEMPRERE
(BEwmLMARAURERDT)MBTES
e HH(AIRELMRAELHE
BRXFrE A H) - R R T EERF
B~ #FE - FEREMEMPHARE
(BEmLHRARERT)WRERY -

RELEWRANEX - RIE2RHERE
- BEEE A 2REIB IR R BT
MBI EETER RN ENEEER
R EM G - ORZBH(BEREE
ROBEREZONEET) - 8Rl0F
FE R —RRANERT)EAR
HEFBBARAL,HERAERE
B RESMBEENEREE K
o WRFRSE) - ARAEETE TIE
e E T T IR BERRIITEE
AT B A 0 8 ASCHRE HE ) 5 B8 T O B ] o B8
[ - A BB IR R T S B R A A
S A EAD RN R AT 18 - SRt
SEfE - RIF LA EE SR EERN A BIF
ARG (BREERBERENSEE - 17
{3k B At FIRAV IR S R ) - BB
R ETTE R BB A B I R & 58
HARR - BB ARAE R T (E BT AR A TN R
REBTRERRE



An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain open for
acceptance by the Eligible Person concerned for a period
of 28 days from the offer date provided that no such grant of
an Option may be accepted after the expiry of the effective
period of the Share Option Scheme. An Option shall be
deemed to have been granted and accepted by the Eligible
Person and to have taken effect when the duplicate offer
letter comprising acceptance of the offer of the Option duly
signed by the grantee together with a remittance in favor of
the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof is received by the Company on or before the
date upon which an offer of an Option must be accepted
by the relevant Eligible Person, being a date no later than
28 days after the offer date (the “Acceptance Date”). Such
remittance shall in no circumstances be refundable.

Any offer of the grant of an Option may be accepted in
respect of less than the number of shares in respect of
which it is offered provided that it is accepted in respect of
board lots for dealing in shares on the Stock Exchange or an
integral multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in
the duplicate offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer
of the Option. To the extent that the offer of the grant of an
Option is not accepted by the Acceptance Date, it will be
deemed to have been irrevocably declined.

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option
shall be such price as the Board may in its absolute discretion
determine at the time of grant of the relevant Option (and
shall be stated in the letter containing the offer of the grant
of the Option) but the subscription price shall not be less
than whichever is the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of a share;

(b) the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date; and
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(a)

An Option shall be exercised in whole or in part (but
if in part only, in respect of a board lot or any integral
multiple thereof) within the Option period in the manner
as set out in this Share Option Scheme by the grantee
(or his or her legal personal representative(s)) by giving
notice in writing to the Company stating that the Option is
thereby exercised and specifying the number of shares
in respect of which it is exercised. Each such notice
must be accompanied by a remittance for the full amount
of the aggregate subscription price for the shares in
respect of which the notice is given. Within 28 days after
receipt of the notice and, where appropriate, receipt
of a certificate from our auditors pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme, the Company shall accordingly allot and
issue the relevant number of shares to the grantee (or
his or her legal personal representative(s)) credited as
fully paid with effect from (but excluding) the relevant
exercise date and issue to the grantee (or his or her
legal personal representative(s)) share certificate(s) in
respect of the shares so allotted.

The exercise of any Option may be subject to a vesting
schedule to be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion, which shall be specified in the offer letter.

The exercise of any Option shall be subject to the
members of the Company in general meeting approving
any necessary increase in the authorized share capital
of the Company.
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(d) Subject as hereinafter provided and subject to the terms
and conditions upon which the Option was granted, an
Option may be exercised by the Grantee at any time
during the Option Period, provided that:

(i)

(i)

in the event that the grantee dies or becomes
permanently disabled before exercising an Option
(or exercising it in full) and none of the events for
termination of employment or engagement pursuant
to the terms of the Share Option Scheme exists with
respect to such grantee, he or she (or his or her
legal representative(s)) may exercise the Option
up to the grantee’s entitlement immediately prior
to the death or permanently disability (to the extent
not already exercised) within a period of 12 months
following his or her death or permanent disability or
such longer period as the Board may determine;

in the event that the grantee ceases to be an
Executive for any reason (including his or her
employing company ceasing to be a member of
the Group) other than his or her death, permanent
disability, retirement pursuant to such retirement
scheme applicable to the Group at the relevant
time or the transfer of his or her employment to an
affiliate company or the termination of his or her
employment with the relevant member of the Group
by resignation or culpable termination, the Option (to
the extent not already exercised) shall lapse on the
date of cessation of such employment and not be
exercisable unless the Board otherwise determines
in which event the Option (or such remaining part
thereof) shall be exercisable within such period as
the Board may in its absolute discretion determine
following the date of such cessation;
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(iii)

(iv)

if a general offer is made to all holders of shares and
such offer becomes or is declared unconditional
(in the case of a takeover offer) or is approved by
the requisite majorities at the relevant meetings of
the Shareholders of the Company (in the case of
a scheme of arrangement), the grantee shall be
entitled to exercise the Option (to the extent not
already exercised) at any time (in the case of a
takeover offer) within one month after the date on
which the offer becomes or is declared unconditional
or (in the case of a scheme of arrangement) prior
to such time and date as shall be notified by the
Company;

if a compromise or arrangement between the
Company and its members or creditors is
proposed for the purposes of or in connection with
a scheme for the reconstruction of the Company
or its amalgamation with any other company, the
Company shall give notice thereof to the grantees
who have Options unexercised at the same time as
it dispatches notices to all members or creditors of
the Company summoning the meeting to consider
such a compromise or arrangement and thereupon
each grantee (or his or her legal representatives or
receiver) may until the expiry of the earlier of:

(1) the Option period;

(2) the period of two months from the date of such
notice; or

(8) the date on which such compromise or
arrangement is sanctioned by the court,
exercise in whole or in part his or her Option.

(iii)

(iv)
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(v) in the event a notice is given by the Company
to its members to convene a general meeting for
the purposes of considering, and if thought fit,
approving a resolution to voluntarily wind-up the
Company, the Company shall on the same date
as or soon after it dispatches such notice to each
member of the Company give notice thereof to all
grantees and thereupon, each grantee (or his or her
legal personal representative(s)) shall be entitled
to exercise all or any of his or her options at any
time not later than two Business Days (as defined
in the Listing Rules) prior to the proposed general
meeting of the Company by giving notice in writing
to the Company, accompanied by a remittance for
the full amount of the aggregate subscription price
for the shares in respect of which the notice is given
whereupon the Company shall as soon as possible
and, in any event, no later than the business day
(as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately prior to
the date of the proposed general meeting referred
to above, allot the relevant Shares to the grantee
credited as fully paid.

Subject to the terms of this Share Option Scheme, the Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the
date on which it becomes unconditional, after which no further
options will be granted or offered but the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme shall remain in force and effect in all
other respects. All Options granted prior to such expiry and
not then exercised shall continue to be valid and exercisable
subject to and in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.
As at 31 December 2023, the remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme was approximately 3 years and 3 months.
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An Option shall lapse automatically and not be exercisable,
to the extent not already exercised, on the earliest of:

(a)

(b)

the expiry of the Option period;

the expiry of any of the period referred to paragraphs
related to exercise of the Option;

subject to the terms of the period mentioned in the
paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme — 11. Exercise
of Option” in this section, the date of the commencement
of the winding-up of the Company;

there is an unsatisfied judgement, order or award
outstanding against the grantee or the Board has reason
to believe that the grantee is unable to pay or to have
no reasonable prospect of being able to pay his/her/its
debts;

there are circumstances which entitle any person to take
any action, appoint any person, commence proceedings
or obtain any order of the type mentioned in this Share
Option Scheme with respect to the exercise of the
Option;

a bankruptcy order has been made against any director
or shareholder of the grantee (being a corporation) in
any jurisdiction.

No compensation shall be payable upon the lapse of any
Option, provided that the Board shall be entitled in its
discretion to pay such compensation to the grantee in such
manner as it may consider appropriate in any particular case.
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In the event of any alteration to the capital structure of the
Company while any Option remains exercisable, whether
by way of capitalization of profits or reserves, right issue,
consolidations, reclassification, reconstruction, sub-division
or reduction of the share capital of the Company, the Board
may, if it considers the same to be appropriate, direct that
adjustments be made to:

(a) the maximum number of shares subject to the Share
Option Scheme; and/or

(b) the aggregate number of shares subject to the Option
so far as unexercised; and/or

(c) the subscription price of each outstanding Option.

Where the Board determines that such adjustments are
appropriate (other than an adjustment arising from a
capitalization issue), the auditors appointed by the Company
shall certify in writing to the Board that any such adjustments
are in their opinion fair and reasonable, provided that:

(a) any such adjustments shall give the Eligible Persons the
same proportion of equity capital as they were previously
entitled to. In respect of any such adjustments, other
than any made on a capitalization issue, the auditors
shall confirm to the Board in writing that the adjustments
satisfy this requirement;

(b) any such adjustments shall be made on the basis that
the aggregate subscription price payable by the grantee
on the full exercise of any Option shall remain as nearly
as practicable same as (but shall not be greater than)
it was before such event;

(c) no such adjustments shall be made the effect of which
would be to enable a share to be issued at less than its
nominal value;
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(d) any such adjustments shall be made to in accordance
with the provisions as stipulated under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules and supplementary guidance on the
interpretation of the Listing Rules issued by the Stock
Exchange from time to time; and

(e) the issue of securities as consideration in a transaction
shall not be regarded as a circumstance requiring any
such adjustments.

The Board shall be entitled for the following causes to
cancel any Option in whole or in part by giving notice in
writing to the grantee stating that such Option is thereby
cancelled with effect from the date specified in such notice
(the “Cancellation Date”):

(a) the grantee commits or permits or attempts to commit or
permit a breach of restriction on transferability of Option
or any terms or conditions attached to the grant of the
Option;

(b) the grantee makes a written request to the Board for the
Option to be cancelled; or

(c) ifthe grantee has, in the opinion of the Board, conducted
himself in any manner whatsoever to the detriment of
or prejudicial to the interests of the Company or its
subsidiary.

The Option shall be deemed to have been cancelled with
effect from the Cancellation Date in respect of any part of the
Option which has not been exercised as at the Cancellation
Date. No compensation shall be payable upon any such
cancellation, provided that the Board shall be entitled in its
discretion to pay such compensation to the grantee in such
manner as it may consider appropriate in any particular case.
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The Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an Option will
be subject to all the provisions of the Articles of Association
and the laws of the Cayman Islands from time to time and
shall rank pari passu in all respects with the then existing
fully paid Shares in issue commencing from (i) the allotment
date or, (ii) if that date falls on a day when the register of
members of the Company is closed, the first date of the
re-opening of the register of members. Accordingly, it will
entitle the holders to participate in all dividends or other
distributions paid or made on or after (i) the allotment date
or, (ii) if that date falls on a day when the register of members
of the Company is closed, the first day of the re-opening of
the register of members, other than any dividend or other
distribution previously declared or recommended or resolved
to be paid or made if the record date therefore shall be before
the allotment date.

Share issued upon the exercise of an Option shall not carry
rights until the registration of the grantee (or any other person)
as the holder thereof.

The Company may by resolution in general meeting at any
time terminate the operation of the Share Option Scheme.
Upon termination of the Share Option Scheme as aforesaid, no
further Options shall be offered but the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force and effect in all other
respects. All Options granted prior to such termination and
not then exercised shall continue to be valid and exercisable
subject to and in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.
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The Option shall be personal to the grantee and shall not
be assignable and no grantee shall in any way sell, transfer,
charge, mortgage, encumber or create any interest (legal
or beneficial) in favor of any third party over or in relation
to any Option or attempt to do so (save that the grantee
may nominate a nominee in whose name the Shares issued
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme may be registered).
Any breach of the foregoing shall entitle the Company to
cancel any outstanding Option or part thereof granted to
such grantee.

The Share Option Scheme may be altered in any respect by
a resolution of the Board except that the following shall not
be carried out except with the prior sanction of an ordinary
resolution of the Shareholders of the Company in general
meeting:

(a) any material alteration to its terms and conditions or any
change to the terms of Options granted (except where
the alterations take effect under the existing terms of the
Share Option Scheme);

(b) any alteration to the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme in relation to the matters set out in Rule 17.03
of the Listing Rules to the advantage of grantee;

(c) anychange to the authority of the Board or any person or
committee delegated by the Board pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme to administer the day-to-day running of
the Scheme; and

(d) any alteration to the aforesaid alternation provisions.
provided always that the amended terms of the Share Option

Scheme shall comply with the applicable requirements of
the Listing Rules.
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The Share Option Scheme shall come into effect on the date
on which the following conditions are fulfilled:

(a)

(b)

the approval of the Shareholders for the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme;

the approval of the Stock Exchange for the listing of and
permission to deal in, a maximum of 400,000,000 shares
to be allotted and issued pursuant to the exercise of the
Share Option Scheme in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Share Option Scheme;

the commencement of dealing in the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange; and

the obligations of the underwriters under the Underwriting
Agreement becoming unconditional and not being
terminated in accordance with the terms thereof or
otherwise.

If the permission referred to in paragraph (b) above is not
granted within two calendar months after the Adoption Date:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

the Share Option Scheme will forthwith terminate;

any Option granted or agreed to be granted pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme and any offer of such a grant
shall be of no effect;

no person shall be entitled to any rights or benefits or be
under any obligations under or in respect of the Share
Option Scheme or any Option; and

the Board may further discuss and devise another share
option scheme that is applicable to a private company
for adoption by our Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

EFgmE(E)
OPTIONS GRANTED UNDER THE SCHEME R EIR NNV ERE
Details of the Options granted and outstanding for the year ended  #,£2023F 12 A31B It EE 2 H & ik
31 December 2023, are as follows: TERERESIBNT -
Number of Options granted: ERLBRESZE :
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
Category and Date of  Exercise as at during the during the during the as at
name of SHEER grant of price 1 January Reporting Reporting Reporting 31 December
participant REE# share options (HKD) 2023 Period Period Period 2023
120235 12023
T&E 1518 128318
RutERERS (&7) HATE HBERERL SEHRTRE  BEEEAX EE:d
Zhang Weiping KT 31/8/2017 1.39 20,000,000 - - 4,000,000 16,000,000
27/8/2018 1.66 10,000,000 = = - 10,000,000
Zuo Yichen LR 31/8/2017 1.39 5,000,000 - - 1,000,000 4,000,000
27/8/2018 1.66 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
lamNgailung  #iiE 31/8/2017 139 5000000 - ~ 1000000 4,000,000
27/8/2018 1.66 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
Li Yanping TET 27/8/2018 1.66 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
Other employees  HHET 31/8/2017 1.39 5,000,000 - - 1,000,000 4,000,000
27/8/2018 1.66 10,450,000 - - - 10,450,000
19/8/2019 1.42 1,200,000 - - 500,000 700,000
21/8/2020 1.22 1,100,000 - - - 1,100,000
Total @it 64,750,000 = = 7,500,000 57,250,000

m Minsheng Education Group Company Limited RAZE &= HFGR A Al



Notes:

(1)

The closing prices of the shares of the Company on 31 August 2017
and 27 August 2018, 19 August 2019 and 21 August 2020, being the
dates on which the share options were granted, were HK$1.39, HK$1.66,
HK$1.42 and HK$1.22 per share respectively. The closing prices of the
shares of the Company on 30 August 2017, 24 August 2018, 16 August
2019 and 20 August 2020, being the last trading days before the dates
on which the options were granted were HK$1.38, HK$1.55, HK$1.42
and HK$1.25 per share respectively.

Save for 5,000,000 share options granted on 21 August 2020, the share
options with respect to a grantee will be exercisable in the following
manner:

(i)  20% of the share options will be vested on the first anniversary of
the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from the
first anniversary of the date of grant.

(i) 20% of the share options will be vested on the second anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the second anniversary of the date of grant.

(iif) 20% of the share options will be vested on the third anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the third anniversary of the date of grant.

(iv) 20% of the share options will be vested on the fourth anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the fourth anniversary of the date of grant.

(v) 20% of the share options will be vested on the fifth anniversary of
the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from the
fifth anniversary of the date of grant.

5,000,000 share options granted on 21 August 2020 with respected to
a grantee will be exercisable in the following manner:

(i)  50% of the share options will be vested on the first anniversary of
the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from the
first anniversary of the date of grant.

(i) 50% of the share options will be vested on the second anniversary
of the date of grant and will be exercisable within five years from
the second anniversary of the date of grant.
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As there had been no exercise of any share options during the
year ended 31 December 2023, there was no weighted average
closing price of the Shares immediately prior to exercise date to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.07(1)(d) of the Listing Rules.

As at the beginning and the end of the year ended 31 December
2023, the number of options available for grant under the Share
Option Scheme are 335,250,000 and 342,750,000 respectively.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options
granted under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended
31 December 2023 divided by the weighted average number
of shares of the relevant class in issue for the year ended 31
December 2023 is nil.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 400,000,000
shares, representing approximately 9.48% of the total issued
shares of the Company and the weighted average number of the
shares in issue of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were 7,500,000
ordinary shares subject to share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme lapsed.

Save as disclosed above, no options were granted, exercised or
cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in this annual
report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into
any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the Reporting
Period or subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period.

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors
is currently in force and was in force throughout the year 2023.
The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover
for the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed approximately
6,900 (2022: approximately 7,500) staff in the PRC and Hong
Kong. Employees of the Group are remunerated based on their
individual performance, professional qualifications, experience
in the industry and relevant market trends. The management
of the Group regularly reviews the Group’s remuneration policy
and appraises the work performance of its staff. Employee
remuneration includes salaries, allowances, bonuses, social
insurance and mandatory pension fund contribution. As required
by the relevant regulations in the PRC, the Group participates
in the social insurance schemes operated by the relevant local
government authorities. The Group also participates in the
mandatory provident fund schemes for our employee in Hong
Kong.

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the
Group’s operating results, individual performance of the Directors
and senior management and comparable market practices.

The Directors and senior management may also receive Options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme. For further details
of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” in this annual report.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, and five highest paid
individuals during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in Notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Company are set out in “Other employee benefits” of Note 2.4
to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has not entered into any connected transaction
(as defined in the Listing Rules) for the year ended 31 December
2023.
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Save as disclosed above, details of the related party transactions
entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.
The transactions as set out therein do not fall under “Connected
Transactions” or “Continuing Connected Transactions” in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
During the Reporting Period, as far as the Directors are aware,
there was no material non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
Group’s business and operations.

The Group is principally engaged in providing educational
services, a line of business that generally does not have material
impact on the environment. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group did not incur any material cost of compliance
with applicable environmental laws and regulations.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Group has complied with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.

After the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report, there were no material events affecting the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.
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The Board has committed to achieving high corporate governance
standards in order to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and
to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
complied with all the code provisions set forth in the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
(the “Corporate Governance Code”) during the year ended 31
December 2023. The Board will continue to review and monitor the
corporate governance practices of the Company for the purpose
of maintaining high corporate governance standards.

For details, please see the Corporate Governance Report in this
annual report on pages 121 to 141.

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.
The members of the Audit Committee have discussed with the
management, and reviewed, the 2023 consolidated financial
statements as set out in this annual report.

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 had been audited by Ernst & Young, who will
retire and being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment
as auditor at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. The Company has not changed its external auditor
since its Listing and up to the date of this annual report.
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»

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
BReRE(E)

RECOMMENDATION TO CONSULT PROFESSIONAL TAX
ADVICE

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding
of the Company’s securities. If the shareholders of the Company
are not sure about the tax effect on the purchase, holding, sale,
trading or exercise of any rights attached to the relevant shares
of the Company, they are recommended to consult independent
experts for advice.

On behalf of the Board
Li Xuechun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 19 March 2024

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 S H B R A A
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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INTRODUCTION

The Board is committed to upholding a high standard of
corporate governance and business ethics in the firm belief
that they are essential for enhancing investors’ confidence and
maximizing Shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the rising
expectations of stakeholders, and to comply with increasingly
stringent regulatory requirements as well as fulfill its commitment
to excellence in corporate governance.

During the period from 1 January 2023 up to 31 December
2023 (both dates inclusive), the Company has complied with all
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND VALUES

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral to attain
its vision and strategy. It is the Board’s role to foster a corporate
culture with the following core principles and to ensure that the
Company’s vision, values and business strategies are aligned to it:

1. Integrity and code of conduct

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business
ethics and corporate governance across all our activities
and operations. The Directors, management and staff are all
required to act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the
required standards and norms are explicitly set out in the
training materials for all new staff and embedded in various
policies such as the Group’s employee handbook (including
therein the Group’s code of conduct), the anti-corruption
policy of the Group. Trainings are conducted from time to
time to reinforce the required standards in respect of ethics
and integrity.

2. Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to
workforce development, workplace safety and health,
diversity, and sustainability is one where staff have a feeling
of commitment and emotional engagement with the Group’s
mission. The Company’s strategy in the business development
and management are to achieve long-term, steady and
sustainable growth, while having due considerations from
environment, social and governance aspects.
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The Board is committed to providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith and in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board sets the Group’s overall
objectives and strategies, monitors and evaluates its operating
and financial performance and reviews the corporate governance
standard of the Group. It is also responsible for approving
certain specific matters such as annual and interim results,
major transactions, director appointments or reappointments,
investment policy, dividend and accounting policies. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for implementing
its business strategies and managing the daily operations of the
Group’s businesses to the executive Directors and members
of senior management. The functions and power that are so
delegated are reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain
appropriate. All Directors are provided with monthly updates on
the Company’s performance and financial position to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
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All Board members have separate and independent access to
the Group’s senior management to fulfill their duties. Independent
professional advice can be sought to assist the relevant Directors
to discharge their duties at the Group’s expense upon their
request.

The Board has established three Board committees, being the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee (each a “Board Committee” and collectively the
“‘Board Committees”), to oversee different areas of the Company’s
affairs. For details, please see “Board Committees” below.

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors, namely
Mr. Li Xuechun, Ms. Zhang Weiping, Mr. Zuo Yichen and Mr. Lam
Ngai Lung, one non-executive Director, namely Ms. Li Yanping
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan
Ngai Sang, Kenny, Mr. Yu Huangcheng and Mr. Wang Wei Hung,
Andrew. A list of the Directors identifying their roles and functions
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Their biographical details and (where applicable) their family
relationships are set out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report. All Directors are
required to declare to the Board upon their first appointment,
the directorships or other positions they are concurrently holding
at other companies or organizations. These interests are updated
on an annual basis and when necessary.

Mr. Li Xuechun, the chairman of Board, is the father-in- law of Mr.
Zuo Yichen, who is an executive Director. Ms. Li Yanping is the
daughter of Mr. Li Xuerang who is a cousin of Mr. Li Xuechun,
a controlling shareholder of the Company, an executive Director
and chairman of the Board. Save as disclosed herein, there are
no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among members of the Board.
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In order to ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board, the Board has developed the following mechanisms,
including but not limited to:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

at least one-third of Board members are independent non-
executive Directors;

every independent non-executive Director is appointed for
a specific term and subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years;

independent non-executive Directors possess professional
knowledge and broad experience;

no independent non-executive Director has served the
Company for more than nine years;

no independent non-executive Director holds more than six
listed company directorships to make sure that each of
independent non-executive Directors has sufficient time to
make contributions to the Board;

every independent non-executive Director has made an
annual confirmation of his independence to the Company;
and

(vii) the Board, each of its Committees or every Director is able

to seek professional advice in appropriate circumstances at
the Company’s expenses.

The implementation and effectiveness of relevant mechanisms
have been reviewed by the Board during the Reporting Period
and will be reviewed annually.
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The Board is also responsible for developing, reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices on corporate governance
and legal and regulatory compliance of the Group, and the training
and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management. The Board also reviews the disclosures in the
corporate governance report to ensure compliance. The Board’s
responsibility in this regard includes:

(a) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b) toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board and report to the Board on matters;

(e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the corporate governance
report; and

(f) to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company’s whistleblowing policy.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices and
the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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The role of the independent non-executive Directors is to provide
independent and objective opinions to the Board, giving adequate
control and balances for the Group to protect the overall interests
of the Shareholders and the Group. They serve actively on the
Board and the Board Committees to provide their independent
and objective views.

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors, representing more than one-third of the
Board. Each independent non-executive Director has confirmed
his independence to the Company with reference to the factors
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the contents
of such confirmations, the Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

The Board is supported by a number of committees, including the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. Each Board Committee has its defined and written
terms of reference approved by the Board covering its duties,
powers and functions. Their terms of reference are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties, including access to management or
professional advice if considered necessary.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny, Mr,
Yu Huangcheng and Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew. Mr. Chan Ngai
Sang, Kenny, who has appropriate professional qualifications and
experience in accounting matters, was appointed as the chairman
of the Audit Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
mainly performed following duties:

e reviewed the Group’s audited annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and the unaudited interim results
for the six months ended 30 June 2023, met with the external
auditors to discuss such annual results and interim results,
and was of the opinion that the preparation of the relevant
financial statements complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure
had been made;

e reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group, and recommended the appointment of external
auditors; and

e assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities for
maintaining an effective system of internal control and risk
management, including meeting with the management of the
Company and internal control review department regarding
the internal control of the Group and review the capabilities
and scope of review of the internal control assessment team
of the Group.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board in providing an independent view of the effectiveness
of the financial reporting process, internal control and risk
management systems, and relationship with external auditors
of the Group, overseeing the audit process and performing
other duties, reviewing the interim and annual results, and such
responsibilities as assigned by the Board. The Audit Committee
had also reviewed the audited annual consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

For details on the internal control and risk management systems,
please see “Risk Management and Internal Control” below.
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The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew (independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Li Xuechun (executive Director) and Mr. Yu
Huangcheng (independent non-executive Director). The chairman
of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew.
The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are
to review and make recommendations to the Board on the overall
remuneration structure and policy for all Directors and senior
management as well as the specific remuneration packages
for the executive Directors and senior management; and to
review matters relating to share schemes. No Director takes
part in any decision of the Board on his own remuneration. The
Company’s objective for its remuneration policy is to maintain fair
and competitive packages based on business requirements and
industry practice. In order to determine the level of remuneration
and fees paid to members of the Board, market rates and factors
such as each director’s workload, performance, responsibility, job
complexity and the Group’s performance are taken into account.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee has:

e discussed and reviewed the Group’s remuneration policy
and reviewed and approved the remuneration package of the
executive Directors and senior management of the Company
for the year of 2023; and

e assessed performance of the executive Directors.

Details of the Group’s remuneration policy are set out in the
paragraph headed “Employee and Remuneration Policies” in the
report of the directors.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management
(including all executive Directors) of the Group by band for the
year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in Notes 8 and 9 to
the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely,
Mr. Li Xuechun (chairman of the Board and executive Director),
Mr. Yu Huangcheng (independent non-executive Director) and Mr.
Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny (independent non-executive Director).
The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Li Xuechun.
The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to
review the composition of the Board, including its structure, size
and diversity at least annually to ensure that it has a balance of
expertise, skills and experience appropriate to the requirements
of the business of the Group and make recommendations in any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy. It also carries out the process of identifying,
considering and recommending to the Board suitably qualified
persons by making reference to the skills, experience and
expertise of such individuals, the Company’s needs and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations to become
a member of the Board, monitor the succession planning of
Directors and assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors. An external recruitment agency may be
engaged to carry out the recruitment and selection process where
necessary. The Nomination Committee will also review the Board
Diversity Policy (as defined below) from time to time, so as to
develop and review measurable objectives for the implementing
the Board Diversity Policy (as defined below) and to monitor the
progress on achieving these objectives.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee has reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board, and whether the composition of the Board complied
with the requirements of the Board Diversity Policy (as defined
below) during the year of 2023.
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Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Board adopted a board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”’) on 2 March 2017. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity of
Board members. While all Board appointments will continue to be
made on a merit basis, the Company will ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the needs of the Company’s business. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills and
knowledge.

The Nomination Committee has set measurable objectives (in
terms of gender, age, skills and experience) to implement the
Board Diversity Policy. Such objectives will be reviewed from
time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the progress
made towards achieving those objectives will be ascertained. The
Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its continued effectiveness.

As of 31 December 2023, the Company has two female Directors,
which is in compliance with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules. The
Board considers that the Company has achieved gender diversity
at the Board level and targets to maintain at least the current level
of female representation.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee has reviewed the diversity of the Board and considered
that the Group has achieved the measurable objectives of the
Board Diversity Policy in terms of age, educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of services.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of approximately
6,900 staff comprising of approximately 2,770 male staff
(equivalent to approximately 40.1% of the Group’s total workforce)
and approximately 4,130 female staff (equivalent to approximately
59.9% of the Group’s total workforce). As such, the Group has
achieved gender diversity in respect of its workforce. The Group
will continue to maintain an appropriate balance of gender diversity
in its workforce in near future.
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For the dividend policy adopted by the Company, please refer
to “Dividend Policy” in the Report of the Directors on page 47 to
48 in this annual report.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are
separate and are not performed by the same individual as this
ensures better checks and balances and hence better corporate
governance. Mr. Li Xuechun holds the position of the Chairman,
who is primarily responsible for the strategic development of
the Group. Ms. Zhang Weiping serves as the Chief Executive
Officer, who is primarily responsible for the overall management
and operation of the Group.

The term of each of the executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors of the Company is subject to his retirement
and re-election at annual general meeting in accordance with
the Company’s articles of association. In accordance with the
Company’s articles of association, a person may be appointed
as a Director either by the Shareholders in general meeting or
by the Board. Each of the non-executive Directors has entered
into an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term
of one year, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in accordance with the articles of association of the Company
and the term of each of the appointment may be renewed for
a further term of one year by mutual agreement between the
non- executive Director and the Company upon expiration of the
initial term and each renewed term. Any Directors appointed by
the Board as additional Directors shall hold office until the next
following annual general meeting or any Director appointed by
the Board to fill casual vacancies shall hold office until the next
following general meeting, and are eligible for re-election by
the Shareholders. In addition, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years, and are eligible for re-
election by the Shareholders.
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In compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, Board
meetings will be held regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. For regular Board meetings,
notices of at least 14 days are given to facilitate maximum
attendance of the Directors. Directors may propose to the
Chairman or the Company Secretary to include matters in the
agenda for regular board meetings.

At Board meetings, the Directors will be provided with the relevant
documents to be considered and approved. Draft and final
versions of minutes are sent to all Directors for their comments
and records respectively within a reasonable time after the Board
meeting is held. Minutes of Board meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary or a duly appointed secretary of the Board
meeting and are open for inspection by any Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board held 15
meetings. During the meetings of the Board held in 2023 the
Board reviewed the operation and financial performance and
reviewed and approved the annual results for the year ended 31
December 2022 and the interim results for the six months ended
30 June 2023, etc..
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The individual attendance record of each Director for the meetings & EEN A QA T E E2023F 124310 L&
of the Board, Board committees and the general meeting of the ER{THESS EEeLEeNRFENE
Company held during the year ended 31 December 2023 is set @ ZAERIHELERFH T AT ¢

out below:

2023 Meetings Attended/Held

2023F HEBITHER
Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee  Committee Meeting

EEXg =ENRZEEE FHEEE REZEE RREBEFAE

Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman) — Z2F%4(FE) 1515 N/A TEHR 2/2 2/2 11
Ms. Zhang Weiping SREF T 15/15  N/A TEH N/A TEA  N/A TER 11
Mr. Zuo Yichen LRRESE 15/15  N/A TNEHA N/A TER  N/A TEA 11
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung MERBEL S 15/15  N/A TEHA N/A TEA  N/A TER 11

Non-executive Directors FHITESE

Mr. Shen Jinzhou (appointed t4 M54 1114 N/A @A N/A TER  N/A TEA 11
on 13 January 2023 and (720235
resigned on 22 March 2024) 1A13BEZ(T
R2024F3 A
220 EHE)
Ms. Li Yanping FiEFz+ 15/15  N/A TEHA N/A TEA  N/A TER 11
Independent BYkBTES
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny  FREE L4 15/15 2/2 N/A iE A 2/2 0/1
Mr. Yu Huangcheng REKTE 15/15 2/2 2/2 2/2 11
Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew THEREA 15/15 2/2 2/2  N/A TER il
Total Number of Meeting S&HBE& 15 2 2 2 1

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in  AARIEHHEEERITHRAEREEEEH
respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and officers. /AR AVEHLEE FIRIRETHE ©



Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as
well as his/her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules
and regulations. Briefings and updates on the latest development
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements are provided to the Board during Board meetings
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. The Company will also arrange
regular seminars to provide Directors with updates on the latest
development and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant
legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors
participated in the following trainings:

Name of Director
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Type of Training'

EEsR B

Executive Directors HITEFE

Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman of the Board) TBEELE(EFSFE) B

Ms. Zhang Weiping REFR L B

Mr. Zuo Yichen TRREXE B

Mr. Lam Ngai Lung MERBESLE B

Non-executive Directors FHHITEF

Mr. Shen Jinzhou (appointed on 13 January LM A (R2023F1 A13HER IR A B
2023 and resigned on 22 March 2024) 202453 A22 HE#HE)

Ms. Li Yanping FHEF L B

Independent Non-executive Directors B IFBHITESE

Mr. Chan Ngai Sang, Kenny BRI E LA A, B

Mr. Yu Huangcheng REAEE B

Mr. Wang Wei Hung, Andrew TR L L B

Note:

1. TypeAtrainingincludes but not limited to, briefings, seminars, conferences
and workshops relating to directors’ duties and responsibilities/corporate
governance/updates on Listing Rules amendments and similar activities.

Type B training includes but not limited to reading relevant news alerts,
newspapers, journals, magazines, updates and relevant publications
relating to the economy/general business/directors’ duties and
responsibilities and similar activities.
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The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the period from the 1 January 2023 up to 31
December 2023 (both dates inclusive).

The Company has also established a code no less exacting than
the Model Code for securities transactions by senior management
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
or inside information of the Company.

Mr. Wong Wai Chiu has been appointed as the Company Secretary
with effect from 1 March 2022. Mr. Wong is a fellow of The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute, a fellow of the Chartered
Governance Institute, a member of CPA Australia, a member
of the Hong Kong Trustee Association and a Certified Trust
Practitioner. Mr. Wong is an associate director of SWCS Corporate
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and his major responsibility
is assisting listed companies in professional company secretarial
work.

Mr. Wong’s primary contact person at the Company is Mr. Lam
Ngai Lung, an executive Director and the chief financial officer
of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Wong has undertaken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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The Board recognizes its responsibility to ensure the Company
maintains a sound and effective risk management and internal
control system. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Group’s internal control system is designed to safeguard
assets against misappropriation and unauthorized disposition
and to manage operational risks. Review of the Group’s internal
controls covering major financial, operational and compliance
controls, as well as risk management functions. The controls
built into the risk management system are intended to manage
significant risks in the Group’s business.

The Board is in charge of managing the overall risks of our Group.
It is responsible for considering, reviewing and approving any
significant business decision involving material risk exposures,
(including, among others, material risk relating to environmental,
social and governance) such as our decision to expand our school
network into new geographic areas, and to enter into cooperative
business relationships with third parties to establish new schools.
The Group also maintains insurance coverage which is in line
with customary practice in the PRC education industry, including
school liability insurance. The Group also has arrangements with
certain banks in place to ensure that it will be able to obtain credit
to support its business operation and expansion.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, taking into account the internal
control measures implemented by the Group in connection
with the non-compliance incidents disclosed under the section
headed “Business — Legal Proceedings and Compliance” in the
Prospectus, the on-going monitoring and supervision by the Board
and the principals of the Group’s schools with the assistance
from professional external advisers where required, and the fact
that, as confirmed by the Directors, the non-compliance incidents
did not involve fraud or dishonesty, the Directors are of the view
that our enhanced internal control measures are adequate and
effective.
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The Company has established an internal audit department to
carry out its internal audit functions by assisting the Board to
implement the Group’s of risk management framework. The work
of the internal audit department will be reviewed by the Audit
Committee and the Board annually. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the Audit Committee, with reference to and
based on the internal audit report issued by the independent audit
firm, conducted a review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions, adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal control and financial
reporting functions, and training programmes and budget. The
Board has considered and discussed the internal audit report
issued by the independent audit firm, the work conducted by
the independent audit firm, the Audit Committee’s view on the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems and their
effectiveness. The Board and the Audit Committee are satisfied
with the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and
internal control of the Group.

Based on the review carried out by an independent advisory
firm, the Audit Committee and the Board, the Board concluded
that there are no material irregularities nor areas of concern that
would have significant adverse impact on the Company'’s financial
position or results of operations, and that the risk management
and internal control systems are adequate and effective and the
Company’s resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget for accounting, internal audit, financial
reporting function and Listing Rules compliance are adequate.

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission
in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved,
and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors
and employees about due compliance with all policies regarding
the inside information. Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior
management and employees appraised of the latest regulatory
updates. The Company shall prepare or update appropriate
guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory
requirements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Contfinued)

bERER®RE (&)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN PREPARING FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Company’s consolidated financial statements which give a
true and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs, results and
cash flows for the year and in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The Company has
selected appropriate accounting policies and has applied them
consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgments and
estimates. The Board considers that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future and
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may affect the business of the Company or cast
doubts on its ability to continue as going concern.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided
by the auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, during the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately as follows:
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Amount

Type of Services R R 8
RMB’000

AR®FT T

Annual audit services FEEZRS 5,200
Total Bt 5,200

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
the Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and understanding of the Group’s business, performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of timely
and non-selective disclosure of information, which will enable
shareholders and investors to make the informed investment
decisions.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited £
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At general meetings of the Company, the Shareholders will have
the opportunity to communicate directly with the Directors. The
chairman of the Board and the chairman of each of the Board
Committees will attend the annual general meetings to answer
Shareholders’ questions. The auditor of the Company will also
attend the annual general meetings to answer questions about the
conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s
report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and its shareholders and maintains a website of the Company
at (www.minshengedu.com), where up-to-date information on
the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access.

To promote investors’ understanding of the Company’s business,
the Company organises roadshows and on-site visits for investors.
The Company has also participated in a number of investment
forums and conducted multiple exchanges with securities analysts,
fund management companies, and individual investors through
various means.

The Company will review its shareholders’ communication policy
annually to ensure its implementation and effectiveness. The
Company considers its shareholders’ communication policy
implemented effectively during the Reporting Period.

To safeguard our Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a
timely manner after each general meeting.
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Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at
a general meeting of the Company according to the articles of
association. Any one or more members holding as at date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company, on a vote per share basis, shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting of the Company to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business or resolution specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Pursuant to the Article 85 of the articles of associations of the
Company, no person other than a Director retiring at the meeting
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be
eligible for election as a Director at any general meeting unless
a Notice signed by a Member (other than the person to be
proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose such person
for election and also a Notice signed by the person to be proposed
of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
head office or at the Registration Office provided that such Notices
must be lodged with the Company at least fourteen (14) days
prior to the date of the general meeting of election but no earlier
than the day after despatch of the Notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election.
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Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to Mr. Lam
Ngai Lung of Room 511-512, 5/F., Tower 2, Lippo Centre, 89
Queensway Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong (email address: msedu@
minshengedu.com).

On 28 March 2023, the Board proposed to make certain
amendments to the then articles of association of the Company
and adopt the fourth amended and restated articles of association
of the Company to (i) conform to the core shareholder protection
standards (the “Core Standards”) as set out in Appendix A1 to
the Listing Rules; (ii) bring the Articles of Association in line with
amendments made to the Listing Rules and the applicable law
and procedures in the Cayman Islands; and (iii) to incorporate
certain housekeeping changes.

A special resolution of the Shareholders was passed at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 15 June 2023 to approve
the amendments to the then articles of association of the Company
and the adoption of the fourth amended and restated articles of
association of the Company with effect from the same date.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 28 March 2023 and the circular of the Company
dated 29 April 2023.

The full set of the third amended and restated memorandum
of association and the fourth amended and restated articles of
association of the Company was published on the websites of
the Company (www.minshengedu.com) and the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk).
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EY:

To the shareholders of
Minsheng Education Group Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Minsheng Education Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 152 to 320,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

BAREEEEAMAS([FEEHMA
2R BBRAERN([EBEFER D)
HEITEZ o BZAIRNZFLEATHERLE > an
BV S h X BT LT Ar 2 B T R 2 A
EMEE—EEE— Sl - RESZEEGT
RGN EXE B FEETA([ZT
Al ZABLNERE - YEREZTR
BITRMAEMBEET - RFIAEE - FMPA
ESNEZERERS BREMARMNER
BRIEHAE -

RERMANBEEHE - BREEZSFHIAH
FHEMANGEEVBRREBEZTRAEANE
I8 o R ERERRMERA M B RIETE
BEZMRLEAREE  BATEHZF
SHEHEBER - BSEZ MNISASFHE
FRF 207 ] /8 5 B 18 22 1 DA AL AR KR ©

BB BITREAIR RS P EZ 2D 5L F A
BB HmEAENEF—HPER(BEE
AZEER)NAME - Bk - BPINFTT
1EEIRETTIE SR & W 15 Mk B sR R
B R A MR AT BRI - BN EZIE
FER  BREEZENNERAMATHER -
REEMHRREHNBZERRHEEE -



Key audit matter
HRERER

Gooawill impairment

A& RE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had significant
amounts of goodwill of RMB2,271.7 million arising
from acquisitions, which were supported by an
annual impairment review. Impairment charge of
RMB66.7 million was recorded against goodwill in
the current year. Certain assumptions used in the
impairment review were subjective and involved
significant judgements and estimates, and they
included:

e the future revenue growth assumptions used
in the Group’s most recent budgets for the
next five years approved by management,
including future industry development, pricing
strategies, market supply and demand; and
gross margins;

e the long term growth rate used beyond the
period covered by the budgets; and

e the discount rate applied to future cash flows.

The accounting judgements and estimates and
disclosures related to the impairment assessment
are included in notes 3 and 15 to the financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EMNEZNAEERRERSE

In order to evaluate the impairment test carried out
by management and assess the value-in-use of the
cash-generating units, we performed the following
procedures:

e evaluated management’s future cash flow
forecasts and the process by which they were
drawn up;

e assessed the actual performance in the year
against the prior year budgets to evaluate
historical forecasting accuracy;

e assessed the key assumptions by checking
against the historical trend and industry index;

e performed sensitivity analysis on the forecasts;

e analysed the discount rate and long term growth
rate used by comparing to the industry index
with the assistance of our internal valuation
experts; and

e evaluated the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures regarding the goodwill impairment
testing.



Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Gooawill impairment

A& RE
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Key audit matter
HRERER

Dispute with non-controlling interest shareholders
E IR e R 2 A4

As detailed in note 38 to the financial statements, at
31 December 2023, the Group was under dispute
with the non-controlling interest shareholders of
Leed International regarding the exercise price of
a put option on 49% share of Leed International.
Arbitration was requested and is still in progress as
at 31 December 2023.

Management has engaged external legal advisors
to assist them to perform a detailed analysis
of the arbitration and was of the view that the
non-controlling interest shareholders of Leed
International cannot succeed for the whole of
their claim for an exit price of RMB2,180.7 million
by overcoming all of the Group’s defences.
Accordingly, the related put option liability was
derecognised and non-controlling interests in
relation to 49% share in Leed International were
recognised on the expiry date of the put option.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group made no
provision related to the aforesaid arbitration.

There were significant judgements involved in
management’'s analysis and assessment, for
example, the assessment on the possible outcome
of the provision based on the arbitration result, and
related accounting treatment regarding the dispute.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 31,
35 and 38 to the financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EMNEZNAEERRERSE

In order to evaluate the potential obligation
regarding the dispute with non-controlling interest
shareholders and the related accounting treatment,
we performed the following procedures:

e discussed with management to evaluate their
assessment of the outcome of the arbitration for
the current year;

e discussed with the Group’ s external PRC, HK
and Cayman legal advisors to understand their
views with respect to the arbitration;

e obtained the Group’s external legal advisors
written comments on the arbitration;

e reviewed documents related to the put option
and the dispute including the share purchase
agreement, option deed, correspondences
with the non-controlling interest shareholders,
arbitration documents, court order, etc; and

e evaluated the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures regarding the arbitration and the
related accounting treatments.



Key audit matter
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

BERRIEZAHEMENAT - HWERE
RERFHRANER - ETRERA MR
KRR PIHZBEN RS o

B GEPHRROBALL TVREEME
£ BAT A EZEFEMEREREMTER
HYEERE K o

ARAEERAMBHRRNEZ - LAWEE
EHEEMER  NERPEREMERE
BEGAPBHRRARPINELBETAT
BOBAFEEANT 2BHUFFEEX
SRR - B PIRBEE BT TIER AE
M ERFHEBEAHRRA - AT R UL
BEHRE - RATH RAREEMNERFTE

R e

S

BERRERARAERERR S EEES
MR B B 15 o o 2 Bl e B8 8 R G f A
BREATHEEEE QA THEEMB®RE -
TREFETESHRBGAMBRENFE
AP BRRF S EE AR T B B E K ER AR P 4 5
MAREZERSBE -

RREFEVBRRE EAREEEET
MESKERFELENEN  XEERBERT
BREARECEABNER - ANRBRE
RERDEH I  RIFERFESESE
BEREEEBRIE I ELEHFIEEMERR
MR RITER -

T AL
]
,%I =

BERZEemMERAREFRITEEEERHE
MBS IREIRFNELE



Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this annual report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lee Mee Kwan, Helena.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

19 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RoBmREMEENRR

Year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023F12A31H L F[E

Notes 2023 2022

i 20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET ARBTTT

REVENUE & 5 2,352,395 2,353,965

Cost of sales SHE KA (1,092,050) (1,078,819)

Gross profit EF 1,260,345 1,275,146

Other income and gains HAa WA R as 5 181,249 280,570

Selling and distribution expenses & &7 #HH X (229,842) (273,341)

Administrative expenses TRFAX (504,441) (501,042)

Impairment losses on CREERESEFE

financial assets, net (55,454) (16,766)

Other expenses, net H s %5 (153,154) (54,689)

Finance costs BB KA 7 (174,894) (163,740)
Share of (loss)/profit of an associate P& AR (EE), &

) 17 (2,087) 363

PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBL A% A 6 321,722 546,501

Income tax expense FTiSHif X 10 (200,546) (33,229)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERF 121,176 513,272

@- Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)
R REMEERSR ()

Year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023F 128318 ILF[E

Notes 2023 2022
FiE 2023%F 2022F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBTTT
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Eﬂﬂﬁﬁ'&ﬁ
Other comprehensive loss that may FJAERHAG AR EH D48
be reclassified to profit or loss in ITﬁmZﬁmiﬁEﬂEi
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation BEM#HEK 2 EX =5
of financial statements (29,125) (157,537)
Net other comprehensive loss that — AJRERERR BRI EFT D48
may be reclassified to profit or EERNHEMEZEER
loss in subsequent periods R (29,125) (157,537)
Other comprehensive income that ~ T&REAE IR ENH 1A
will not be reclassified to profit or ~ Fi8zEHIE b2
loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation BEARRBRNFEHREZ
of financial statements of the bEH =%
Company 7,803 71,426
Net other comprehensive income ~ TE2RERIBEAEHHE
that will not be reclassified to ZFiga A Hith 2 W
profit or loss in subsequent R
periods 7,803 71,426
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  FEHM2HEER
FOR THE YEAR (21,322) (86,111)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEZHEW=HAEE
FOR THE YEAR 99,854 427,161

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 FE#H &
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

freBnREMEZENSR (8)

Year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023F12A31H L F[E

Notes 2023 2022
i 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBTTT
Profit attributable to: VAT (R A -
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZZEPN 138,869 490,066
Non-controlling interests TR R (17,693) 23,206
121,176 513,272
Total comprehensive income UTEEEE SRR
attributable to:
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEZEWN 117,547 403,955
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R = (17,693) 23,206
99,854 427,161
EARNINGS PER SHARE BARESRERERBEEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EhERER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT:
Basic and diluted ERR#E 12 RMBA K%#0.0329;t RMBAR¥:0.11627T

w- Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

fma MBRREK

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Notes 2023 2022
liks3 2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®TT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE R 13 3,277,081 3,210,791
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 881,798 837,230
Goodwill (RS 15 2,271,699 2,338,424
Other intangible assets Hith@EEEE 16 329,915 434,285
Investment in an associate REGE R AR E 17 - 2,063
Financial assets at fair value BATETABRN
through profit or loss TRIEE 18 7,941 14,176
Deferred tax assets EEHIBE E 30 24,018 13,552
Other non-current assets HitnIEmsEE 19 261,451 190,988
Total non-current assets SEMBEERE 7,053,903 7,041,509
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories =wE 20 8,958 10,003
Trade receivables B 5 W IE 21 457,549 684,137
Prepayments, other receivables  FBff7XI1E « EhEIK
and other assets IR N EAME E 22 544,088 566,089
Financial assets at fair value BRATERABRN
through profit or loss EREE 18 108,553 177,755
Restricted bank deposits TR HIRITIER 23 3,671 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 23 3,189,846 3,477,088
Total current assets MBEERE 4,312,665 4,915,072
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables B SR HIE 24 652,213 944,220
Contract liabilities BRBE 25 832,959 909,607
Other payables and accruals E e RIB R ERT
=43 26 782,172 965,689
Dividend payables FEA A% 2 188,411 102,428
Deferred income RIEWA 27 19,660 22,832
Interest-bearing bank and FTRSRITREMER
other borrowings 28 1,148,613 598,051
Tax payable e I8 151,214 21,907
Put option liability ROLEERE 31 - 944,472
Total current liabilities neBBEER 3,775,242 4,509,206
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 537,423 405,866
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EERKRBEE
LIABILITIES 7,591,326 7,447,375
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

fraMBINRE (&)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Notes 2023 2022
BEE 2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ETR AREET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Deferred income EIEYA 27 234,193 242,395
Interest-bearing bank and FHRERITREAMER
other borrowings 28 989,457 1,759,483
Other long term liability EmRHABE 29 254,172 264,119
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIBAE 30 162,365 144,262
Total non-current liabilities BB EERE 1,640,187 2,410,259
Net assets BEFE 5,951,139 5,037,116
EQUITY e
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO BARHEE AELELR
OWNERS OF THE PARENT
Share capital &N 32 322 322
Reserves f#fE 34 5,090,360 4,815,763
5,090,682 4,816,085
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR M 860,457 221,031
Total equity B 5,951,139 5,037,116
LI XUECHUN LAM NGAI LUNG
B MEREE
Director Director
o o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
R EmBER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023F12A31H L F[E

Attributable to owners of the parent

SN
Shere Exchange Non-
Share  Contrbuted ~ Cepital ~ Statutoy ~ option  Retained  fluctuation controlling Total
Notes capital suplus  reserve  reserve  resenve profits ~~ reserve Totd interests equity
e SERE
ik RE  E4RR ARER  iuRk B AREN ] Gt FERER  gER
RVBO0O  RMBO0OO  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBO00
ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Note 32 Note 34(h) Note 34(d)  Note 33ii)
Wik Mirsdi)  MEsd(a)  Biakauii
At 1 January 2022 R02E1A1A 32 160308 1292746 861278 43316 2214346 19429 4591805 197230 4,789,036
Proftfor the year EEai 490,066 190086 23206 513272
Other comprehensiveloss ~ FEEMAEEE:
for the year:
Bchange dfferenceson  BEHBRR EAZE
franslation of financial
statements (86,111)  (86,111) (86,111)
Total comprehensive income ~ FE2ARELE
for the year 490066 (86,111) 403985 28206 427,161
Acouision of a subsidiary ~ AEE-TEHBAE % 5084 598
Capital nfecton from ~BHBATZFHARRE
non-conroling shareholder ~ £%
of a subsidiary 4900 4900
Dividends paic to non- XTHERRE L RE
controlling shareholders (10259)  (10,259)
Acquision of non-controling A3 FARER
inferests . (30) (30)
Final 2021 dividend declred ~ BE R0 ERERS (182,257) (182,257) (182.257)
Recognition of share-based ~ FESELRA ARRA3H
payment expenses ER 3 2582 2582 2582
Transfer fiom retained profits ~ ERAARER 53,220 (53220)
At 31 Decermber 2022 R0 12831A W 008 104 9144 MB0E 2651192 (668" 4816085 221031 507,116

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 FE#H &



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)
fRE R ER (#)

Year ended 31 December 2023 #H ZE2023F12831HILFE

Share
Note capital

M B
RMB'000
AR®TT

Note 32

HiER

RUBR HAGR ZeRE
RMBI000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RME'000
ARBTT ARRTL ARBTR ARMTR ARMTT ARMTZ ARRTZ ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR

Attributable to owners of the parent
BATREARE
Share Exchange
option  Retained fluctuation
reserve  profits  reserve  Total

Capital
reserve

Other  Statutory

feserve  reserve

R HERS
Bf GmEl 88 o

i

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000

Note 34(o) Note 34(c) Note 34(d) Note 33(ii)
Wash) Midd(c) Misksdd) s

Non-
controlling ~ Total
interests  equity

FERER  A%R
RUB000  RMB000

At 1 January 2023 H0BE1A1R n 160,308 1,110,489 914498 45958 2,651,192  (66,682) 4,816,085 221,031 507,116
Proftfor he year EEai 138,869 130,069 (17,699 121,176
Other comprehensiveloss ~~ FEEM2EEE:

for the year:
Bchange dfferenceson ~ BEHBRRZER

tranglation of financil iE

statements (21,322 (21322) (21,322)
Total comprehensive income ~ FE2TNALE

forthe year 1889 (3 ST (176) 998
Capitalinjection from anon-~~ ~THBAZZ5HAR

confroling shareholderof  REEE

a subsidiary 400 400
Dividends paic to non- X THERRRL

controllng shareholders RE (10051)  (10,051)
Derecognition of non-contioling & HEFZSEAR SR

inerests put option e 314730 314730 666,770 981,500
Fiel 2022 iidend decered B RARERERS (158467 - (158467) (156,467
Recogniton of share-based BRI BERY

payment expenses [fER % 787 . N (] 787
Transfer of share option reserve 1B R /4 ERE

wpontheexpiyof share. ~~ IRiER B

options (4572) 4572
Transfer from retained profits ~ BREZRER 35,54 - (354
At 31 December 2023 H2023E12A31R n 952,022 314730+ 950,082 42,173 2,759,009  (88,004) 5,090,682 860,457 5,951,139

*

Z % # B BR B B N2023F12A31A M &
MM KA S R R A K ¥5,090,360,0007T
(20224 : A ¥4,815,763,0007T ) )47 &
1o

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  *
RMB5,090,360,000 in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB4,815,763,000).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
moRTREBR

Year ended 31 December 2023 #;£2023F12A31H L F[E

Notes 2023 2022
FiE 2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETTT

CASH FLOWS FROM RETHRBRERE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B35 Al A 321,722 546,501
Adjustments for: BRATRIBFE
Finance costs AR 7 174,894 163,740
Share of loss/(profit) of an associate ~ DMhEEE A EIEE, CHFI) 2,087 (363)
Investment income from short-term  RAF(EF ABRTENSE

investments measured at fair value ~ HIREHIRERA

through profit or loss 5 (47,292) (29,985)
Bank interest income RITH S WA 5 (23,363) (29,067)
Interest income from a company KB MB A BRI ATIEH

controlled by the former NA)EF EUA

shareholders of a subsidiary 5 (11,824) (19,487)
Fair value loss on an equity BATER ABRNRER

investment at fair value through ERFEERE

profit or loss 6 6,209 21,164
Fair value loss from short-term BATEFABRTTENE

investments at fair value through HRE 2 A THERE

profit or loss 6 - 4,787
Fair value loss from a loan to an STARMIEREEERRA

associate included in other non- FEFTENG THEAR

current assets measured at fair HMEFRHRATFEER

value 6 - 17,986
Fair value loss/(gain) from contingent 1R B ABRA AR

consideration at fair value through EBEATEEE (Kx)

profit or loss 6 39,747 (57,085)
Loss on disposal of items of property, BRE¥W¥ - BENREER

plant and equipment and right-of- IRFEREEEEE

use assets, net FEE 6 2,960 1,385
Government grants released BB RA BT B 27 (61,508) (103,646)
Depreciation of property, M BERZENE

plant and equipment 6 165,481 160,600
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FRAEEENE 6 42,200 45,905
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hfth ;& & 4 6 85,943 86,933
Provision for expected credit losses B 5 RUKIE 2 FBEZEE

on trade receivables BREE 6 20,562 8,722
Provision for expected credit losses ~ EHtEUFKIBZ BEEEE

on other receivables BREE 6 34,892 8,044
Impairment of goodwill EERIE 6 66,725 -
Impairment of other intangible assets H &R & ER(E 6 21,400 -
Equity-settled share option expense — AEZRAEEHERIEEH 6 787 2,582

841,622 828,716
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
fREoRENER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023F12A31H L F[E

Notes 2023 2022
FiteE 2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBFT
Decrease in inventories FERD 1,045 1,587
Decrease/(increase) in trade B HRWERIERD /(&)
receivables 206,026 (86,828)
Increase in prepayments, other FBRFIE - Kt ERRIER
receivables and other assets H At &N (16,241) (12,764)
Decrease/(increase) in long-term RETBMNFIE « HfbEUR
prepayments, other receivables and BREMEERD
other assets (38) > (6,486)
(Decrease)fincrease in trade payables & 5 ERFIECRA ),/ 10 (292,007) 137,082
Decrease in other payables and HAb e 5B R ERT B A
accruals L (112,414) (70,153)
Decrease in contract liabilities EHEERD (76,648) (82,288)
Decrease in payables for ENHEEERRD
compensation fees - non-current — JERNER - (60,000)
Government grants received BB B 27 44,844 85,510
(Increase)/decrease in restricted bank =R #IE1TER(EM),/
deposits L (3,671) 3,030
Cash generated from operations REMBRS 592,556 737,406
Interest received B B 23,363 29,067
Income tax paid B FEH (63,602) (46,634)
Net cash flows from operating REFDMERSREFE
activities 552,317 719,839

M Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 &£ HFGR A Al



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
moREnER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z=2023F 128318 ILF[E

Notes 2023 2022
i 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AREF T

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING

ACTIVITIES
Interest received

Increase in prepayment for acquisition

of land use right

Purchase of items of property, plant

REFBFEHEAE

BUF B 16,548 20,411
FRUREE L b P 2 TR IR
TR (142,441) -

BENZ  BEIREER

and equipment (299,522) (387,746)
Proceeds from disposal of items of ~ BEYW¥ - BEKREER

property, plant and equipment ZFS50E 460 1,892
Additions to other intangible assets  REEMEFEE 16 (2,973) (1,785)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEHT B A A (7,500) (101,708)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Yt 88 JE45 AR 4 &5 - (30)
Capital injection from non-controlling  — R B2 &) Z JEIERARR

shareholders of a subsidiary TE 400 4,900
Purchase of short-term investments B EZRAFEFABRE

measured at fair value through HE R A

profit or loss (6,299,643) (6,463,480)
Receipt from maturity of short-term IR AFEF ABRTERE

investments measured at fair value  HJR & BIHAA Y X

through profit or loss 6,329,098 6,633,638
Investment income from short-term  ZAFEF ABZAENE

investments measured at fair value ~ HHRE Z1RE WA

through profit or loss 47,292 29,985
Repayment of a loan from a third RE—RBZFZEFER

party 3,040 28,000
Net cash flows used in investing REZHMAREREFE

activities (355,241) (235,923)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

ReRERER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2023 #;Z£2023F12A31H L F[E

Notes 2023 2022
FiteE 2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARBTT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHREHESRE
ACTIVITIES
New bank and other borrowings R IRIT REAMER 37 417,642 555,193
Repayment of bank and other ERBITREMBER
borrowings 37 (600,571) (358,964)
Interest paid BERFE 37 (115,722) (90,260)
Interest element of sale and EREHEBENHEIHD
leaseback liabilities 37 (21,077) (21,130)
Lease payments HERR 37 (28,162) (29,347)
Principal portion of sale and EROEEENESHD
leaseback liabilities 37 (47,373) 78,848
Dividends paid BERRE 37 (79,254) (79,852)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BRI R 2 IR 2
shareholders 37 (10,051) (10,259)
Increase in other non-current assets -t IERENI &AL N (5,000) -
Decrease in restricted bank deposits SR #I$E1TF R - 182,986
Net cash flows (used in)/from MEEE (TR Fr58Re
financing activities MEFE (489,568) 227,215
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN BeRBASEEBNRD),/
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 8 10iB4 (292,492) 711,131
Cash and cash equivalents at FOHRERRSEEY
beginning of year 3,477,088 2,750,227
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXEHTE  FH
changes, net 5,250 15,730
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT EXEE€REEZEY
END OF YEAR 3,189,846 3,477,088
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BREeRBEESEEYEHRDIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances RE RIRITHERR 23 3,189,846 3,477,088

M Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ECESE

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
13 December 2005 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the laws of the Cayman lIslands. The address
of the registered office of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in providing
on-campus and online educational services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company and
the ultimate holding company of the Company is Minsheng
Group Company Limited, which was incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share
registration and business capital

AR/ AMEEREELE SROLE/HRRK

Minsheng Education Company Limited ~ Cayman Islands US$50,000

REHERRAR REHE 50000%7C

Minsheng Vocational Education Company ~ Cayman Islands US$10
Limited (“Minsheng Vocational’)

REBFHRERLA(REREAR)) FEES 0%

Minsheng Education Development Cayman Islands US§50,000
Company Limited

EEARURARAA REHE 50000%7

RAREEHER

REHEERAER AR ALXT )
2005512130 £ M £ B & B 1%
MERSANTMRIREREZER
ANAEle AR FMPERN MU R
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands °

RABRREER AR - SFA - AR
EIELHEPNSIE T RS - JDER:Y S
hE ARLMBE ([HE DREHRERE
RBE RIS -

EEZRR - ARBZERA R RREE
BRARBRESHERAR - ZAAS
REBR LB SEMBIIH AR -

BHEAB L AZEH
RAFEZMBRRNFBN TR

Percentage of effective equity
interests attributable to the Company - princinal activities

ARAREERRELA
Direct Indirect
BE [
100% -

IEXHED

Investment holding
100% - Investment holding
100% -

Investment holding
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Place of incorporation/
registration and business

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

AR/ AMEERERLE SROLE/HRRK

Leed International Education Group Inc.
(‘Leed International”) A

BEARAEEIERAA(HERE)) HERS

Cayman Islands

Leed International Education Group (China) Hong Kong
Limited?

BEERAREE(E)ERATN 0

Chongaing Li'ang Industry Company The PRC/Chinese Mainland
Limited”

ERNBEXARAR i/ REARE

Chongaing College of Humanities, The PRC/Chinese Mainland
Science and Technalogy*

ER AXHEER /AR

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A

US44,875
8155 T
US$1,282
1280%7

RMB10,000,000

AR#10,000,0007

RMB55,000,000

AR#55,000,0007

1. RFREEER(HE)
BEREME LAz EX (&)

ARREEMBARMFBO TR
(&)

Percentage of effective equity
interests attributable to the Company
ARARGERRELA

Direct

28

Principal activities

IZXHED

Indirect

Investment holding
Investment holding

Provision of education
management and
services

RUABEEREH

= 100%

Provision of formal
undergraduate and
junior college education
services

RUTRABERRAZHR
%

= 100%



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Pass College of Chongaing Technology
and Business University”

BRTAASRNER

Chongaing Vocational College of Applied
Technology*
ERRARITBRER

Chongging Yujinggang Education
Investment Company Limited*

BRAREHERARRAT

Chongaing Hechuan Renwen Hospital
Company Limited”

BRAIAXBRERAA

Changaing Minsheng Education
Management Company Limited
(‘Minsheng Management')*

ERRIHARERARAA(RAEE])

Place of incorporation/

registration and business

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

AR/ AMEERERLE SROLE/HRRK

The PRC/Chinese Mainland

GEVEEN::

The PRC/Chinese Mainland
e/ PE AR
The PRC/Chinese Mainland
e/ RE AR

The PRC/Chinese Mainland

R/ AR

The PRC/Chinese Mainland

R/ PEAR

RMB5,000,000

AR %5,000,0007

RMB5,000,000
ARH5,000,0007
RMB50,000,000
AR#50,000,0007C

RMB50,000,000

AB#50,000,0007

US$14,500,000

14,500,000% T

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

1. RAIRKEEER(E)

BHEAE LAz EX ()
ARREEMBARMFBO TR

(%)

Percentage of effective equity

interests attributable to the Company - principal activities

AAAEEERREL A
Direct Indirect

28 3
= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

IZXHED

Provision of formal
undergraduate and
Junior college education
services

RUTHAZERRASHR
%

Provision of junior college
education services

RUAZARRE

Investment in education
projects

REHEER

Provision of disease
diagnosis and treaiment
services

RtRRD B RRSE

Provision of education
management and
services

RUAREERRS

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 FE#H &



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. AFAREEER(E)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEKB L z2ER (&)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AABEEMBARIMFBUO TR
follows: (continued) (&)
Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share  Percentage of effective equity
registration and business capital interests attributable to the Company - principal activities
SRAL/EREREENY EROEE/SRRE  FLARGERERRA  rmpgwe
Direct Indirect
ER [
Chongaing Bozhi Education Services The PRC/Chinese Mainland US$9,000,000 = 100%  Provision of education
Company Limited (‘Bozhi Education’)* management and
services
ERREHERBARAA(REAE])  $8/HEXE 9,000,000%7 RUHBERREH
Chongqing Li'ang Education Services  The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
Company Limited” management and
services
ERNBHERBERAA hE/REAR AR#30,000,0007 RUHRERREH
Chongaing Pass Education Services The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB300,000 - 100%  Provision of university and
Company Limited” college logistics services
ERAHRRHARAA hE/EAR AEH300,0007T RUAZRBERREDRHS
Inner Mongolia Fengzhou Vocational The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB4,000,000 - 100%  Provision of junior college
College (Qingcheng Branch)* education services
AREEMBEER (BT /A AR ARE4,000,0007C REAZHERS

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Chongging Huizhi Education
Services Company Limited
(“Chongqing Huizhi")*
BRERHERKARAA(ERER))

Laoling Minsheng Secondary
Vocational School®

SERIBRTEEZEN

Chongaing Yugangao Enterprise
Management Consultant Company
Limited (“Chongging Yugangao')*

ER ARG RERENERAA
([ERmER) )

Chongging Yuecheng Zhiyuan Education
Technology Company Limited
(“Chongging Yuecheng")*

ERNIEBAENEARART
([ERHH )

Place of incorporation/

registration and business

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

AR/ AMEERERLE SROLE/HRRK

The PRC/Chinese Mainland

R/ PEAR

The PRC/Chinese Mainland

R/ RE AR

The PRC/Chinese Mainland

CEVEEN::

The PRC/Chinese Mainland

/R

RMB10,000,000

AR#10,000,0007

RMB30,000,000

AR#30,000,0007

RMB5,000,000

AR %5,000,0007

RMB50,000,000

AR#50,000,0007

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

1. RAIRKEEER(E)

BHEAE LAz EX ()

ARREEMBARMFBO TR

(%)

Percentage of effective equity
interests attributable to the Company - principal activities

AAAEEERREL A
Direct Indirect
E# 5
- 100%
- 100%
- 100%
- 100%

IZXHED

Provision of university
logistics services

REARRRS

Provision of secondary
vocational education and
technical training

R EREAR R

Provision of rental and
business management
Services

RHBERXHERRE

Provision of education
management and
services

RUABEERRH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. AFAREEER(E)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEKE NG z2EHF (/)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AABEEMBARIMFBUO TR
follows: (continued) (&)
Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share  Percentage of effective equity
registration and business capital interests attributable to the Company - principal activities
BfAL/aRMesREsey ERAEE/sRRs  FLARGERERMN iz
Direct Indirect
ER
Changaing Electronic Information College™  The PRG/Chingse Mainland RMB183,680,000 = 51%  Provision of junior college
education services
EREERAER /AR AR%183,680,0007C REAZHARS
Chongaing Zhenzhi Real Estate The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMBS,000,000 - 51%  Real estate development
Company Limited”
ERBRELARAMAA /A AR AR¥8,000,0007C BHERE
Chongaing Jierui Minsheng Education ~ The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
Technology Company Limited* management and
services
BRAEHANRARAA /AR AR 50,000,007 REARER RS
Chongging Fanyun Minsheng Education  The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 - 100%  Provision of education
Technology Company Limited* management and
(“Chongging Fanyun’) services
BRARHENEARAA(ERAR]) 98/ HEAE ARE20,000,0007T REARER RS

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

Place of incorporation/
registration and business

AR/ AMEERERLE SROLE/HRRK

Chongaing Jiehan Education Technology ~ The PRG/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000
Company Limited”

EREBUBHBARAR /A AR A&H#20,000,0007

Shiji Kuangao (Beijing) Investment The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000
Management Co., Ltd *
(“Shiji Kuangao”)

HEER(ERREERERAR /AR AR%2,0000007T
h:s3 £ 1)

Laoling Minsheng Education High School  The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000
Company Limited”

EERTHRERTERRAT /A AR AR#30,000,0007

Chongaing Mengzhuo Education The PRC/Chinese Mainland US$2,600,000
Technology Company Limited
(“Chongqing Mengzhuo")*

ERESYRHRARAA(ERBE)) A/ PEAE 2,600,000%7

Leed (China) Education Technology Co.,  The PRC/Chinese Mainland US$29,000,000
Limited (“Leed (China)")"

Bife(PEDBEMBARAR /AR 29,000000£7C

([BEa))

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

1. RAIRKEEER(E)
BHEAE LAz EX ()

ARREEMBARMFBO TR
(&)

Percentage of effective equity
interests attributable to the Company

AORRERRRELA

Direct Indirect

28 3
= 100%

Principal activities

IZXHED

Provision of education
management and
services

REAZER RS
- 100%  Provision of investment
management and
services

RURATERRS

= 100%  Provision of high school

education
RERTELRHE
- 100%  Provision of education
consulting and
management services

REABEAREERY
- 51%  Provision of education
consulting and
management services

RUHEHIREERE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

RAREEER (F&)
BEREME LAz EX (&)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Place of incorporation/

registration and business

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

AR/ AMEERERLE SROLE/HRRK

ARREEMBARMFBO TR

(%)

Percentage of effective equity

interests attributable to the Company - principal activities

AAAEEERREL A
Direct

28

Indirect

IZXHED

Yunnan Dianchi Education and Training  The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 120,000,000 = 51%  Provision of education
Co., Limited (“Dianchi Co.")* consulting and
management services
EEENHEEIARAR (TREAR))  $8/hEAK AB&#%120,000,0007T REHEHARERRS
Dianchi College of Yunnan University  The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB290,183,700 = 51%  Provision of formal
undergraduate college
education services
EEARER" /AR AR%290,183,7007C REFRAMSRAE RS
Yunnan Dianchi Education Management  The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 - 51%  Provision of education
Co., Limited * consulting and
management services
BRI ERARAA /A AR ARE100,000,0007T REABHARERRR
Yunnan Dianchi Vocational College Co., ~ The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 - 51%  Provision of education
Limited” consulting and
management services
EEEREERARAA /A AR ABH50,0000007C REABHARERRE

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Place of incorporation/

registration and business

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

AEL/ EREEREELY CROLE/ERRA

Yunnan Dianjiao Asset Management Co.,  The PRC/Chinese Mainland
Limited*
EHEHAEERARAA e/ REAR

TCL Educational Web Limited
(“TCL Educational Web’)
TCLHEBERAA(TCLABR))

The British Virgin Islands
EERABS

Shenzhen TCL Education Technology Co., The PRC/Chinese Mainland
Ltd." (“Shenzhen TCL")

MIMCLABHRARAELT i/ PEARE

([RimeL))

RMB1,000,000

AB#1,000,0007

US$5,521,977
552197757

HK$31,000,000

31,000,000 7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

1. RFREEER(HE)
BHEAE LAz EX ()

ARREEMBARMFBO TR
(&)

Percentage of effective equity
interests attributable to the Company  principal activities

ALNTREERRRLH E2:3 33

Direct Indirect

B [

Provision of asset
management and
project investment and
management services

RUEEEBREERARE
B i

- 100%  Investment holding

REER
- 100%  Provision of educational
software development
and other related
services

REARRHRURALEE
R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. AFAREEER(E)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEKE NG z2EHF (/)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AABEEMBARIMFBUO TR

follows: (continued) (#8)

Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share  Percentage of effective equity
registration and business capital  interests attributable to the Company - principal activities
BRAL/EREREENY BRAEA/SRRE  FOORCERERRA  rmpgee
Direct Indirect
E& [

Silk Road (Beijing) International The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB39,000,000 = 80%  Provision of technology
Educational Technology Centre Co., development services,
Ltd.* educational consultation
(“Silk Road") services, intermediary

services for overseas
studies

HEZRORERAERRLERAT B/ REAR AR#39,000,0007C RUFHRERE  HEEN
([4@25%]) % - B2 R

Doxue Network Technology (Beijing) The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 60%  Provision of technology
Co., Ltd." (‘Doxue Network’) development and

education consultation
services

DEBEMR (L) BRAT hE/HEAE ARH5,0000007C REKHRERBEHARE
(#2842

Huixue Education Technology (Beijing) ~ The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 60%  Provision of organising
Co., Ltd." (‘Huixue Education”) cultural and artistic

exchange activities and
advertising services

SEURHR(LR)ARAR hE /AR AR5,000000T REAR RERRES
([2248)) NRES RS

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Huixue International Cultural Exchange
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.*
(Huixue International’)

SEER R (LR BRAR
(2288

Doxue Huixing Education Technology
(Beiing) Co., Ltd." (“Doxue Huixing’)

BEEAYEHR(LR)BRA
(4857 )

Beijing Mingyuan International Culture
Co., Ltd." ("Beijing Mingyuan')*

RERARXARL ([ RER))

Open University Online Long Distance
Leaming Education Technology
Company Limited"

(“Open University Online’)

EAESERYBRITARAR
([8xE&))

Place of incorporation/

registration and business

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

AEL/ EREEREELY CROLE/ERRA

The PRC/Chinese Mainland

HE/PEAR

The PRC/Chinese Mainland

VY

The PRC/Chinese Mainland

HE/PEAR

The PRC/Chinese Mainland

HE/PEAR

RMB3,000,000

ABE#3,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

AR¥1,000,0007

RMB,000,000

AE%6,000,0007T

RMB125,000,000

AR 125,000,007

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

1. RAIRKEEER(E)

BHEAE LAz EX ()
ARREEMBARMFBO TR

(%)

Percentage of effective equity
interests attributable to the Company  principal activities

RAAEEERREL A
Direct Indirect
E# 3
- 60%
- 60%
- 60%
- 100%

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 FE#H &

IZXHRED

Provision of organising
cultural and artistic
exchange activities and
advertising services

REBRRERRRED
NREERE

Provision of technology
development and
computer animation
design services

REKNRERERDER:
T

Provision of services of
organising cultural
and artistic exchange
activities
REBRURERRRED
Hhi

National operator of the
public service system for
distance education

RENERYERBNELE



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. RAREEER(E)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEKE NG z2EHF (/)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AABEEMBARIMFBUO TR

follows: (continued) (#8)

Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share  Percentage of effective equity
registration and business capital interests attributable to the Company - principal activities
SRAL/ERUREENY ERGEE/SRRE  FLARCRRERMA  rmpgwe
Direct Indirect
E% [

Beijing Open Distance Education The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB44,450,000 = 100%  Provision of online academic
Center Co., Ltd." (“Open Distance educational services
Education’) and vocational training

programs

FRERERRYEPOERAR /A AR NEH#44,450,0007 REERSEARRBREE
! ) SRR

Beijing Xiaoai Intelligent Technology The PRC/Chinese Mainland R\MB4,081,633 - 51%  Provision of Saa$S service
Company Limited” and human resource
(“Xiaoai Technology’) compliance consultative

services

PROZEHRHARAA ([DENR]) 8/ REAR AE4,0816337 RitSaaSRBERANERA

RkARE

Qingdao Huizhong Salary Tax Technology ~ The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 - 81%  Provision of educational
Co., Ltd." (Qingdao Huizhong’) consultative services

ERERERMMARLA(ERER]) HE/HEXE ARE2,000,0007T REHEHARE

Minsheng Onling Education Technology  The PRC/Chingse Mainland RMB10,000,000 = 51%  Provision of online academic
Company Limited” (“Minsheng educational services
Online’) and vocational fraining

programs

ERREERARHERRAT hE/hEAR AR¥10,000,0007 REEREEAERBREE
(RERR]) SRR

Guangzhou Minyun Information The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 51%  Provision of software
Technology Co., Ltd.* (‘Minyun development services
Information”)

EMRERSHEARAM(RERR)) BB/ HEAE ARH1,0000007 REGHFLES

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/ registered share
registration and business capital

AR/ AMEERERE SROLE/ERRK

Guangzhou Minfu Shengaiang Education ~ The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB500,000
and Training Center Co., Ltd.*
("Minfu Shengqiang’)

ENTREERABEIROERAAY B/ REAR AR#500,0007C
([REXR))

Umooc Online Education Technology The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB3,750,000

(Beijing) Company Limited*
(“Umooc Online’)

ERATAHAMR(IR)ERERRR  $B/HEXE AR%3750,0007T
([BRRER))
Shanghai Zhiaosheng International The PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 12,000,000

Business Development Co., Ltd."
(“Shanghai Zhiaosheng’)

HERRRERERERERAA hE/REAR AR%12,000,0007
([EEERE])

The English names of these companies represent the best effort
made by the management of the Company to directly translate the
Chinese names as they do not register any official English names.

# These entities are owned through contractual arrangements.

A The Group had accounted for the acquisition of 100% of the shares
of these entities as if the remaining 49% of equity interests were
acquired on the date of acquisition. As the put option expired on
17 August 2023, put option liability was derecognised and non-
controlling interests in relation to 49% share in Leed International
were recognised on the expiry date of the put option. Further details
are set out in note 3 to the financial statements.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

1. RAIRKEEER(E)
BEHE 2 Al 2 B4 (&)

ARREEMBARMFBO TR
(&)

Percentage of effective equity

AORRERRRELA TERRED

Direct Indirect
E#

- 51%  Provision of self-study
examination assistance
services

RREELHBHRY

- 100%  Provision of digitalise
educational information
and online education
supportive services

RUSFIHERSRESH
ERERK

- 51%  Provision of immigration and
education consultation
services

RUBREAFHARE

f RS ARMENEMAARREERER
BHEEHNEPANELEANERE  ERZK
E QR EEMEREX XL -

#  ZFERDEBSOTTEMEE -

A AREBIREZ S E R 100% (0 AR
BRIB - WA T40% NI E B EIE
T U HE o A R BN 2023678 A 17
BEm  MRIEERBEHERGE M
b2 5 B 49% A 7 1 B mO FE AR 2R 10
RonHIEE W BB T IARER o Rt
BRI TR M FES -
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31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Except for Minsheng Management, Bozhi Education,
Chongging Mengzhuo, Leed (China) and Shenzhen
TCL, which were established as wholly-foreign-invested
enterprises, all the above PRC companies were established
as domestic-invested enterprises.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) (which include all International
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and interpretations) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“lIASB”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for an equity
investment and wealth management products at fair
value through profit or loss and contingent consideration
for business combination, which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

BT RINEBECEZRAER -
BEHE  EEZ2=2 - BETERY
TCL > AT ERRIGKRIAEA
BREMRE -

ERFIIDEERREIBXEASEF
ERENBRAEEEEFERAID
MARBIMB AR - ERRRFIIEM
fERRIMEREESRIBBANRITE

AERBHRRDRBEER £
AEEe((BERErENES
g )Rz B HR S %R
((EEMBREER]) (BFEME
BRI B RmE R - BREF %
A(TEREER ) KRB LE
BRRMEH 2 WEREMRE -
BRERATFEFABRNRERE
EEMERERBAHNIAN
BINRAFEAEN  ZEPH
BRIDIRELKANEIERS
ZETBHRREOUARBETAR
WDE25 RIEXEZHA - TR
FrESRANERLAEREIIN
TRIEEE -



Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company has
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases.

31 December 2023 2023 12H31H

REEE

REMBHRERBEARRE REHK
B RARE E2023F12A8318 1t
FENVBE®REK - WEAFEH
ARG EEXEEEHNER -
PREFEELER  EXANEEA#
HEREENSHEMESKARE
BEEso® - ARARNEEY
ZERERTEBEGE - BBRE
NBBREHWIREFHNE N (nE
AEBHLTERMREIETHEE
FEBESNREEN)MTER
BaE TR

—RERT  A—EEE %
R ER AL - HEARRA]
BAEGRED —FUATREREN
BOER - MIASKEAEFGEER
BHRRELRBENEKEE
FIENEBSERER 21

(a) EEEESTEMBERAA
BB KL BE

(b) REMSHOZHEMmE LR
/RN

(c) AEBMNRERKEERE
-

P I8 % B A B 75 i 3R T # R B AR
RAARNRERE - KA =
VEHBERTUARE - KB AR
MEBEASBEIGSES 2B
maAk XTREESRS AR
BEZENITBFEZBRL -



31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of
any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

REEE (8)

B 38 B S0 R A 25 1 TR A
B BEREMDERSSEN
HHBBERAEEDIATEAA
BRI - FiEEERAT
R EER B s WA
MR REBANKEAAMNRSE
ENRSRERGAAER2E
1 o

WEENMBRBR EXAE=
EEGIREz —HAZRALRE
B AEEEEFNGEERDE
I ETT - M B R R E P
aBE(WEREEE) &
R AR -

i N E K = — B A R ey iz
BRE BIERILERREEE(S
EEHE)  BfE - TR ER
KANERENFER © REERPTIRE E
A% E /R FE MBS RF T
HALEENBRKER - AR
Hit 2 MK R AERNAEEE
MEIEF I EERE LA T
MOER)  REMEEAZER
ERGLEHNBAEELREMAR
FREOBEREEDHE



2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B aE (1)

31 December 2023 2023 12H31H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EHBEH)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 EBiHFEEERIESE
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised AEBEERAFERNLGE T BEIR
IFRSs for the first time for the current year’s consolidated REXRMNTI T REIEET
financial statements. BREA TS R A 2R o
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts BRI TSRS R (R A4
FA7HR
Amendments to IAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Rt HB|E1 BIFHENE
IFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies S K2 (BB B S
HEREEHB
F25 (BRI A)
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting HR Gt ER|ES @ EETAE
Estimates SRUERTA) &
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to B@ETHERE  HEHE—XFAT
Assets and Liabilities 1258 (IE5TA) ELREE
arising from a Single KB (Z1EF
Transaction BB T TE
Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform B estXERE R FIEN
— Pillar Two Model 1258 (&5 A) B—XH_
Rules HAF AR

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 FE#HE
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31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs
that are applicable to the Group are described below:

(a) Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose

their material accounting policy information rather
than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements. Amendments
to IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance on
how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the
material accounting policy information in note 2 to
the financial statements. The amendments did not
have any impact on the measurement, recognition
or presentation of any items in the Group’s financial
statements.

B R S B 3 3T RIS AT
A BREEANNEERY B
a0

(a)

R g st E R FE1R(EFT
R)BKRERWEEEESH
BERER MIEEEANEF
KR > REFTHRIERE
TRMEmERTES ZHEM
EE—EEER ISR
wEHeXEBAMBEREK
LEIBERERBEZENH
BRFLHIRE - MIAME
AABRREERERM - B
MHmRELEMNER RS F2
SR RT AR /E 1 2 K H B st
M EZUERSEARS
AR SR R R (IR 08 ) M e
5l REB DRI B ®mKM
AP RBEEAGIHEKE
Bt REFETHAKET K
BRAMIEBNFE - R
K2 BELTAZE -



(b) Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between

changes in accounting estimates and changes
in accounting policies. Accounting estimates
are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs
to develop accounting estimates. Since the Group’s
approach and policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception
in IAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available)
and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these amendments,
the Group applied the initial recognition exception
and did not recognise a deferred tax asset and
a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
for transactions related to leases. The Group has
applied the amendments on temporary differences
related to leases as at 1 January 2022.

(b)

31 December 2023 2023 12H31H

& 5t & B E8HR( & FT
K)BBETREFIZ2ERS
AABRREE 2ENER - &
AHEFT R ERE R B RER P
FEAETHEMEZER S
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78 a0 o] £ B 7T & K Ml A da A
BERFEGF A - HRA
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RIARTAE—B - AitZE R
RJ NI 4 S 7K 5 [ A B A R
RIERTE -

B & 51 2 R £ 1258 (& 7T
R)EE - GHELNEE
K B (& 16 5 0 4 AT B R 4 /N
TEER G ERIFE125F 1
IRTERPIIN 2 SBE - EE D
BEARELHEERRTA
AHREREERZRS
PInBEEMBRRER - B
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AEzEREEZERBRELR
HEE(HREHR T M ER
BAE) MEEHRREE

RMEEBZFEITARZ
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F1IAIRERTHHERH
R BRI Z RAERIA



31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

(c)

(continued)

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group
has determinedthe temporary differences arising from
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately,
which have been reflected in the reconciliation
disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements.
However, they did not have any material impact on
the overall deferred tax balances presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position as the
related deferred tax balances qualified for offsetting
under IAS 12.

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements
better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes, including the disclosure of current tax
related to Pillar Two income taxes separately in the
periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective and
the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted
or substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively.
Since the Group did not fall within the scope of the
Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not
have any impact to the Group.

(c)

(&)

46 FE 3% F 1B R] ANES -
AEBOHEEEREEE
AHERBEEANERMEE
R FRAZHECRPBRK
B SE30%K 55 & ¥t AR R SR AR o
Rim - EIEERERE T
MARF 25 EEBELTN
HEBREEERNERTZE
HAREBEEER e ERIFE12
S HEREEHBLERTE
IR -

Rt ERIFE125 (& F]
R)BIER BN E— 1 =
HAEAS AREREES
EREREBBAMOIE—
AR 88 AN i 2 A H AR ST A IR
2 HE R K 4% R #9811 R A
BISMNER « ZRFETAER
XEENERSIATRER
K NEBMBRERERE
B AF T AR B B A SXAE
“HRBAR  BREXE
TMRERHIHEBRER
X HE = P 15 7 40 BE A B0 ER A
B AREMAERMAE
BEEEMERKERD
[ 4% B8 H E i B T2 — PR 13
BB B B &3k AT & IR fh AT
MER - AEEEEPIEE
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The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these
revised IFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IFRS
10 and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS

16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback!

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)’

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)’

Supplier Finance
Arrangements'

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025

C No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption

31 December 2023 2023 12H31H
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31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10
and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
was removed by the IASB. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date
of initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

BEHEARARENZSEERY
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The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that
a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. Additional disclosures are required
for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after
the reporting period. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with early application permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice
versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
amendments and whether existing loan agreements may
require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. The
amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as
at the beginning of the annual reporting period and
interim disclosures. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate
at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking.
The amendments require disclosures of information that
enable users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier
application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate
component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of
initial application. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in
the associates, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is
included as part of the Group’s investments in associates.
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Investments in associates (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest
is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues
to be accounted for under the equity method. In all
other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the
associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount
of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised
in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
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Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts
of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investment, wealth
management products and contingent consideration for
business combination at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for a non-financial asset is required
(other than inventories and deferred tax assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group
of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss
in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the

same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the

Group.
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31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

Buildings 1.9% to 10%

Motor vehicles 9.5% to 23.8%

Furniture and equipment 9.5% to 31.7%

Computer equipment 11.9% to 31.7%
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end.
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Computer software

Purchased computer software is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-line
basis over its estimated useful life of 5 to 10 years.

Brand name

Brand name is depreciated over the estimated useful
life of 10 years based on the directors’ best estimation.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship is depreciated over the estimated
useful life of 3-6 years based on the directors’ best
estimation.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases for low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets
as follows:

Leasehold land 50 to 70 years
Buildings 2 to 6 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the
assets.
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(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to
be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a
change in measurement of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.
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(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value

assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of office equipment and
laptop computers that are considered to be of low
value. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Sale and leaseback transaction — the Group as
seller-lessee

The Group applies the requirements in IFRS 15 to
determine whether the transfer of an asset under a
sale and leaseback arrangement is accounted for
as a sale of that asset. If the transfer of an asset by
the Group under a sale and leaseback arrangement
does not satisfy the requirements of IFRS 15 to be
accounted for as a sale of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset and
recognises a financial liability equal to the transfer
proceeds which is presented as interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and interest accruals
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification)
each of its leases as either an operating lease or
a finance lease.
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(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets (continued)

Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue
in profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent
rents are recognised as revenue in the period in
which they are earned.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI1”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified
or impaired.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on the equity investments are also
recognised as other income in profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if
the economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment
only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of
the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows
that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit
or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract
containing a financial asset host is not accounted for
separately. The financial asset host together with the
embedded derivative is required to be classified in its
entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss.
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Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.
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Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition
and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in
credit risk when contractual payments are more than 3
years past due.
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
(other than trade receivables) when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not purchased
or originated credit-impaired) and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses
as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as loans and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables,
dividend payables, other payables and accruals,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and put
option liability.
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Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised costs (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

Put option liability

After initial recognition, put option liability is subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-
out basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined
above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.
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Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, provided that
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to
be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is
presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs
in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the year, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates.

3]

ERBEFHEBREBAKESR
BOERIME) BETTZER
KEe8HAKRERRL - BIHER
B ARREENUZETSR
fEL AT SEfhET -

EARSBEBEME D k2 BB ES
EEN mMRELTFEENEE
NHBERT  ARENERSE
VEE - BEHRBAXNERZE
SICRBREREN ) -

AR T EEKX - RIFER R
RERASBMBETZERMTN
ARAZNRERARNEE -
By i1 7% 441 T 222 At Y B 3R 3R (B 48 10
ATARBERABENA

FrigH

FISHERNRAREERE - &
B IASMERIRB BTSN
REBEAINER - BIREAM 2 H
Wan sk BN TR o

BT IEEEM B EA TR
754 B U (3] 2k /) B S N B9 & BB AT
B RANRKR(RBER)RER
RICRAKERBEME - A&
EAEEREREBRRRITHZ
BRAER -



Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of each reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

e whenthe deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and
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Income tax (continued)

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.
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Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended
to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.

Tuition and boarding fees are generally received by
colleges and high schools in advance prior to the
beginning of each academic year, and are initially
recorded as contract liabilities. Tuition and boarding
fees are recognised proportionately over the relevant
period of the applicable program. The portion of tuition
and boarding payments received from students but not
earned is recorded as contract liabilities and is reflected
as a current liability as such amounts represent revenue
that the Group expects to earn within one year. The
academic year of the Group’s schools is generally from
September to June of the following year.

The Group charges fixed rate service fees based
on tuition fees received by cooperative universities,
where the Group generally is acting as an agent and
its performance obligation is to provide e-platform for
distance education operated by cooperative universities.
Revenue from distance education services are recognised
on a net basis.
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Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

The Group also operates education centres and provide
educational support services. For these services,
the Group charges fixed rate service fees based on
tuition fees received by cooperative universities. The
revenue is recognised as gross basis as the directors
of the Company considered that the Group is acting as
principals on the service provided.

Both service fees are recognised proportionately over
the periods of the applicable program. The portion of
payments received from cooperative universities but not
earned is recorded as contract liabilities and is reflected
as a current liability as such amounts represent revenue
that the Group expects to earn within one year. The
academic year of the Group’s cooperative universities
is generally from January to December.

Service income from teacher training services, online
courses services and examinations and assessments are
recognised in the accounting period when the services
are rendered.

Commission income is recognised at the point in time
when the referred students enrolled at the overseas
education universities with the tuition fees paid and upon
the entitlement of the Group to the commission income.

Revenue from sales of books is recognised when the
purchaser obtains the possession of the books, being
when the books have been delivered to the customers,
and when the Group has the present right to payment
and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Revenue from other education business provided by
the Group is recognised when the relevant service is
provided or when goods are delivered.
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Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

The Group’s contracts with customers may include multiple
performance obligations. For such arrangements, the
Group allocates revenue to each performance obligation
based on its relative stand-alone selling price. The Group
generally determines stand-alone selling prices based
on the prices charged to customers.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where
the period between the transfer of the promised services
to the customer and the payment by the customer
exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does
not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time
value of money.

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income
in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services
to the customer).
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Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to
refund some or all of the consideration received (or
receivable) from a customer and is measured at the
amount the Group ultimately expects it will have to return
to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of
refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the
transaction price) at the end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). The
cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. Further details of which are given
in note 33 to these financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.
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Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been
met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include
a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are
treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or
non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.
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Share-based payments (continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Chinese Mainland are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The subsidiaries operating in
Chinese Mainland are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the central pension scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss.

BERA

WEE - 2RHXEECEREE (R
FE-BREERTEERHEET
AERHLENEE) ERRHENE
EXRAERCRELEEEZED
AR e BEERBEAEERE
RERHE  BZFEEXRNRE
SIRIEENE - B EMEEK
AREELEHEXE - FERA
BREBHREBAESME LA
BREMMRA

’RE

RABRBERBRAS LERR
HERER SR E - BURKHK
BRI ERRM TR EE -

SN

ZETBHRERNAREZ®R - K
SEENSEBREBHINDEE
58 Mt ASERBYHHRERN
BEHERAGEEEAE - K&
EETNERBARNINERZN L
REXBERRZAERNEE
HERAR - LIMNEFTENER
BERBE BRBEHRNIY
RREBEXRKE FEIBER

WIREEEREZRENERER



Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

The Company incorporated in the Cayman Islands uses
the United States dollar as its functional currency. As
the Group mainly operates in Chinese Mainland, RMB is
used as the presentation currency of the Company. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of the Company and certain overseas subsidiaries,
which use currencies other than RMB as their functional
currencies, are translated into the presentation currency
of the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
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Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the
differences are attributable to non-controlling interests.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures,
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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Contractual arrangements

The Group exercises control over Chongging Yugangao,
Chongqging Yuecheng, Chongqging Electronic Information
College, Chongging Zhenzhi Real Estate Company Ltd.,
Chongging Jierui Minsheng Education Technology Company
Limited, Chongging Fanyun, Chongqging Jiehan Minsheng
Education Technology Company Limited, Shiji Kuangao
(Beijing) Investment Management Co., Ltd., Laoling Minsheng
Education High School Company Limited, Doxue Network,
Huixue Education, Huixue International, Doxue Huixing,
Beijing Mingyuan, Beijing Yierxue Education Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Yierxue”), Beijing Minsheng Zhihe
Education Technology Co., Ltd., Beijing Minsheng Zhiyun
Education Technology Co., Ltd., Beijing Minsheng Zhixue
Education Technology Co., Ltd., Beijing Fanyun Education
Technology Co., Ltd., Xiacai Technology, Qingdao Huizhong,
Minsheng Online, Minyun Information, Minfu Shenggiang
and Umooc Online (the “Structured Entities”) and enjoys
economic benefits of the Structured Entities through a series
of contractual arrangements.

The Group considers that it controls the Structured Entities
notwithstanding the fact that it does not hold direct equity
interests in the Structured Entities, as it has power over the
financial and operating policies of the Structured Entities
and receives substantially all of the economic benefits from
the business activities of the Structured Entities through
the contractual arrangements. Accordingly, the Structured
Entities have been accounted for as subsidiaries during the
year.
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Current and deferred taxes

Significant judgement is required in interpreting the relevant
tax rules and regulations so as to determine whether the
Group is subject to corporate income tax. This assessment
relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a
series of judgements about future events. New information
may become available that causes the Group to change
its judgement regarding the adequacy of the tax liabilities.
Such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the
period that such determination is made. Further details of the
current and deferred taxes are set out in notes 10 and 30 to
the financial statements.

Put option liability

Pursuant to a Share Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) in relation to
the acquisition of Leed International, the Group is committed
to grant an option to the sellers to sell the remaining 49% of
the issued share capital of Leed International at the exercise
price based on a predetermined formula (the “Put Option”).
Significant judgement is required in determining whether
a present ownership interest exists in the shares that are
subject to the Put Option, so as to determine the accounting
treatment of the non-controlling interest and the put option
liability. Management considers that the Group has a present
ownership interest over the remaining 49% interests in Leed
International since the exercise price of the Put Option is
determinable and the Group can exercise right over these
interests and enjoy the related return since acquisition. As the
Put Option expired on 17 August 2023, put option liability was
derecognised and non-controlling interests in relation to 49%
share in Leed International were recognised on the expiry
date of the Put Option. Further details of the put option liability
are set out in notes 31 and 38 to the financial statements.
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The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the year, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
goodwill was RMB2,271,699,000 (2022: RMB2,338,424,000).
Further details are given in note 15 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of the year.
The non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. Impairment exists when the carrying value of
an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
using key assumptions such as budgeted sales amounts
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. As at 31 December 2023,
the total carrying amount of non-financial assets that were
subject to impairment tests was RMB4,488,794,000 (2022:
RMB4,482,306,000).
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Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and aging).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in
note 21 to the financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on loan to a
company controlled by the former shareholder of Leed
International (the “Loan”) included in other receivables

As the counterparty of the Loan of RMB400.0 million failed
to make the demanded repayment, the Group assesses the
provision for ECL for the Loan based on the fair value of the
collateral held by the Group, which is the pledge of a 49%
equity interest of Leed International. As at 31 December
2023, the fair value of the collateral using the discounted
cash flow model is larger than the carrying amount of the
Loan. Further details are included in notes 22 and 37 to the
financial statements.
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Provision for expected credit losses on financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets (other than the Loan)

ECLs are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with
reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The
loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The
information about the ECLs on financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is disclosed
in note 22 to the financial statements.

Fair value of contingent consideration

As at 31 December 2022, the contingent consideration
arising from business combination was estimated using the
discounted cash flow model and Monte Carlo simulation
model. These models require the Group to make estimations
about the expected future profits, discount rate, and hence,
they are subject to uncertainty. As at 31 December 2023, the
fair value of the contingent consideration has been estimated
based on net profit of acquired companies during the
performance guarantee period. Further details are included
in note 42 to the financial statements.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their services and has two reportable
operating segments as follows:

(a) on-campus education

(b) online education
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Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit before
tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest income,
non-lease-related finance costs as well as head office and
corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group
basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at
the then prevailing market prices.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

f BRI (8)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

4. BEWEH(H)

On-campus
Year ended 31 December 2023 education Online education Total
EHZE2023F12A31HLLEE REZE EBRHE HEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T ARET R

Segment revenue (note 5) 2 2R UL S (FF3E5)
Sales to external customers  HEFINERS 1,379,852 972,543 2,352,395
Intersegment sales DEEHE - 10,813 10,813
Total segment revenue AN Gt 1,379,852 983,356 2,363,208
Reconciliation: #ik -
Elimination of BB S 8

intersegment sales (10,813)
Revenue Wz 2,352,395
Segment results Pk 577,066 (26,685) 550,381
Interest income FEHA 35,187
Corporate and other PEREMADERX

unallocated expenses (91,158)
Finance costs (other than MEKA(HEREF S

interest on lease liabilities) BRAM) (172,688)
Profit before tax BB AR A 321,722
Segment assets PEHEE 10,201,179 2,441,370 12,642,549
Reconciliation: HHE -
Elimination of 7> P 3 e W SR I 1 8K

intersegment receivables (1,303,178)
Corporate and other TrEREMADEEEE

unallocated assets 27,197
Total assets BERE 11,366,568
Segment liabilities PTHEE 3,537,717 2,180,502 5,718,219
Reconciliation: #iE -
Elimination of DB FE T R IB

intersegment payables (1,303,178)
Corporate and other rEREMADEEE

unallocated liabilities 1,000,388
Total liabilities BEERE 5,415,429
Other segment information  HEt 5 EHER
Share of loss of an associate D hEtE A A EE 2,087 — 2,087
Impairment losses recognised RIEFER 2 FERE

in profit or loss (11,146) 154,725 143,579
Depreciation and amortisation ~ #7% & 4 178,740 124,831 303,571
Capital expenditure* EARZ 312,137 24,402 336,539
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

M #B MR EE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4., REQIER(E)
On-campus Online
Year ended 31 December 2022 education education Total
HZE2022F12A318 1L EE RE#E B E st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
Segment revenue (note 5) 2 Bl as (FiI3E5)
Sales to external customers HETINERP 1,311,676 1,042,289 2,353,965
Intersegment sales DEEHEE = 1,258 1,258
Total segment revenue P E s AR 1,311,676 1,043,547 2,355,223
Reconciliation: ik -
Elimination 5> B 84 6 ¥ 8
of intersegment sales (1,258)
Revenue Wegs 2,353,965
Segment results DEEE 520,846 202,822 723,668
Interest income FBUWA 48,554
Corporate and other PEREMADERX
unallocated expenses (65,102)
Finance costs (other than MEKA(HEARERNE
interest on lease liabilities) BRIM) (160,619)
Profit before tax BB AR A 546,501
Segment assets PHEE 10,000,259 3,135,786 13,136,045
Reconciliation: ik
Elimination of intersegment 7 B FE USRI H 85
receivables (1,247,811)
Corporate and other PEREMADEEE
unallocated assets 68,347
Total assets BERLE 11,956,581
Segment liabilities PHEE 4,382,442 2,812,425 7,194,867
Reconciliation: BIER -
Elimination of B SR IE
intersegment payables (1,247,811)
Corporate and other rEREMADEEE
unallocated liabilities 972,409
Total liabilities BEE5E 6,919,465
Other segment information  Htt 5 EHEH
Share of profit of an associate 7 E & A B1%E F (363) = (363)
Impairment losses recognised MAIBZHIER 2 BEEE
in profit or loss 12,282 4,484 16,766
Depreciation and amortisation  #7% K &4 171,505 132,591 304,096
Investment in an associate BENAIRE 2,063 = 2,063
Capital expenditure* BART" 312,823 42,834 355,657

*

Capital expenditure consists of additions of items of property, plant

and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited §

REHBEHBRY

EARXBENE  BE KR
EREREEERE

#wAE  BVE



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4., REFHBER(E)

Geographical information EER

During the year, all of the Group’s revenue was generated FR - REBRFWREGNPBEESE
in the PRC and over 90% of its long-term assets/capital MmEBBIRNEIEE EARALY
expenditure were located/incurred in the PRC. Accordingly, R, TREFRE - Eitt - #HE25IERA
no geographical information is presented. @ EH o

Information about major customers EBRTEREFNER

No revenue derived from services provided to a single FR - WEKEGRE —BEEHEREN
customer accounted for 10% or more of the total revenue of WaRE AR E R EE10% A L ©

the Group during the year.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Wz Hbw AR KR
An analysis of revenue is as follows: BREWEIHOTWOT ¢

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARETT

Revenue from contracts with customers EFP &A1z

Tuition fees 28 1,265,979 1,204,604
Boarding fees FEE 113,873 107,072
Distance education services — platform  ERHERBE—F&
services B 75 212,775 365,200
Distance education services — REHERGE -—#HEX
educational support services 5 IR 451,002 387,818
Teacher training services DS I R 7S 87,172 84,817
Online courses services FEFRIZIRTS 27,491 39,108
Commission income BEKA 32,144 27,914
Sales of books HEESE 34,716 27,014
Examinations and assessments Z 3 KAIFE 2,802 8,958
Other education business HAu# B %1% 124,441 101,460
Total Bt 2,352,395 2,353,965
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M F IR aE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. W&H > HWA R W= ()
2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE AR®T ARBTTT
Other income and gains HaA R iEs
Investment income from short-term &2 A {EzF AIBZEAT
investments measured at fair ENEHKRE 2R
value through profit or loss BEWA 47,292 29,985
Fair value gain on contingent FAREZ A FER
consideration = - 57,085
Rental income: HEWA -
Fixed lease payments B EMER R 13,273 18,500
Variable lease payments AEAENR 3,522 3,997
16,795 22,497
Bank interest income RITHEHBA 23,363 29,067
Interest income from a company K EMBAFIRKE
controlled by the former PRSI Q B8 2
shareholders of a subsidiary LN 11,824 19,487
Government grants T fE B 27
- Related to assets — B ENER 21,721 25,952
— Related to income — g AAERE 39,787 77,694
Others HA 20,467 18,803
Total other income and gains HUg A N Wi 4aqa 181,249 280,570

The government grants are related to the subsidies received
from the local government for the purpose of compensating
the operating expenses arising from the schools’ teaching
activities and expenditures on teaching facilities. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to such
recognised government grants.

E Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 &£ HFGR A Al
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued) 5. Uz - HEMUA K e (48)
Disaggregated revenue information for revenue from EF &/ a5 il 2 &R

contracts with customers

Year ended 31 December 2023 B Z2023F12A31HLEE

On-campus Online
education education Total

REHE ERHE #et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTRT AR®ET:R

Timing of revenue recognition Uz 2R
Revenue recognised over time: BERF[EIHEZTERH)

Tuition fees 28 1,265,979 = 1,265,979
Boarding fees FEE 113,873 = 113,873
Distance education services RIEHE RH

- platform services —F &R - 212,775 212,775
Distance education services REHBE RS

— educational support services —#HA X EFRE - 451,002 451,002
Teacher training services HED LS AR TS - 87,172 87,172
Online courses services TEARRIZARTS - 27,491 27,491
Examinations and assessments & & & BIEF - 2,802 2,802
Other education business HtHB %% - 124,441 124,441
Revenue recognised at RE—5 B2 7 8

a point in time: Hgz% -
Commission income RPN = 32,144 32,144
Sales of books HESHE - 34,716 34,716
Total FEE 1,379,852 972,543 2,352,395

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 FE#H &



31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Year ended 31 December 2022 HZE2022F12831HILFE
On-campus Online
Segments education education Total
7 &B RE#E ERHE HaET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARBTT AR®BTT
Timing of revenue recognition W EHEREE
Revenue recognised over time:  FERERIBEEEZRIK S

Tuition fees 2E 1,204,604 - 1,204,604
Boarding fees FEE 107,072 = 107,072
Distance education services RIEHE R

- platform services — &R = 365,200 365,200
Distance education services BIEHE R

- educational support services — —¥E X EHRHE - 387,818 387,818
Teacher training services FRAmIE 3| RS - 84,817 84,817
Online courses services HEERERY - 39,108 39,108
Examinations and assessments & & &8IET - 8,958 8,958
Other education business HMHE %% - 101,460 101,460
Revenue recognised at RE— ]2 7 Y

a point in time: Wezs -
Commission income AEWA = 27,914 27,914
Sales of books HEER - 27,014 27,014
Total et 1,311,676 1,042,289 2,353,965
The Group’s contracts with students for college and high REEBHEBLAFREBREGPHERER
school education programmes and boarding services can FERBEILHEH - AIBER T AR IE
be terminated anytime without compensation. Tuition and MEFIMNEAEE ZERETBEED
boarding fees are determined and paid by students before MNEBFERIGAIEE RBBESZT -

the start of each school year.



REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Online education

The Group’s contracts with cooperative universities and
other customers are recognised proportionately over the
service periods of the applicable programme. Cooperative
universities are required to pay services fees in 1 to 3 months
after the Group remits the tuition fees from students received
on behalf of them, and are entitled to the refund of payment
in proportion to the service not yet provided. There is no
fixed term for delayed payments.

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting year:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

M #B Y EE (18)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

Wras ~ B AU AR Wik ()
HERHAE

AEEEAERREREMER ZEHA
KN A BEREN IR BAIR L PIRER -
BB RZAN AL EE R H WEH 2
HFEER—E-HARNXNREE - X
B R L I BT R 1R S AR 75 O AR RA SR
A EENFULBBETELHR -

TRIER AR E PREER L ARSE
FEMBERENABNRESE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
Revenue recognised that was included s AREHAT AL A B
in contract liabilities at the beginning EER R
of the reporting period:
Tuition fees 28 631,833 620,510
Boarding fees FEE 70,185 65,108
Distance education service fees REYERBEE 151,825 226,852
Teacher training services HEmEE 3 AR 75 37,117 43,582
Other education business HtH B %5 18,647 30,508
Total HEt 909,607 986,560

No revenue recognised during the year related to performance
obligations that were satisfied in prior years.

Performance obligations

The contracts for educational services are for periods of one
year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

FAMERANBETFETKBEHNEE
s o

BAREE

BERBANBHE—FRUT - EHE
B IS SR B BSTE ST Mt
AEEZEHRETA DN D ERIE
R -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M F IR aE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BEREADRF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBBRBADGEF T, (GEA) T
(crediting): BIRBEN
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR ARETTT
Depreciation of property, ME - BERRETE
plant and equipment 13 173,141 168,971
Less: amount matched with other w o EEMREBAAE
long term liability TR R 7,660 8,371
165,481 160,600
Amortisation of other intangible assets Efh /& E# i 16 85,943 86,933
Lease payments not included inthe ~ W& AMEABENE
measurement of lease liabilities MBAERRK 14(c) 15,194 15,726
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 14(a) 44,487 48,192
Less: amount matched with other w o BEMRARE
long term liability CRHEE 2,287 2,287
42,200 45,905
Research and development costs PREE R A 110,876 117,605
Impairment of goodwill* EERE" 15 66,725 =
Auditor’s remuneration Gl 5,200 4,900
Employee benefit expense (including EEGFIAS (BEES
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): B & (FF5E8)) :
Wages and salaries ITERE® 656,613 613,964
Equity-settled share option expense LA/ MREALE
£/ 33 787 2,582
Pension scheme contributions BARSFEHR(RE
(defined contribution schemes)** KA 8 137,948 167,423
795,348 783,969
Foreign exchange differences, net* VHEE N AR 1,952 4,090
Impairment of other intangible assets* H A& & ERE" 21,400 -
Impairment of financial assets: CHEERE :
Impairment of trade receivables B S W IERE 21 20,562 8,722
Impairment of financial assets SAEMFIEB - Hit
included in prepayments, other e IR K EoAt &
receivables and other assets ENEREERE 22 34,892 8,044
55,454 16,766

H Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

f BRI (8)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) BRBE AT R ()
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBFT
Investment income from short-term BATEGF ABRETE
investments measured at fair value B E 2 REWR
through profit or loss A (47,292) (29,985)
Bank interest income RITH B UA (23,363) (29,067)
Interest income from a company REKBARRREN
controlled by the former 2| A REF S UA
shareholders of a subsidiary (11,824) (19,487)
Fair value loss from an equity BATEF ABROK
investment at fair value through EIRE A TEEE
profit or loss* 6,209 21,164
Fair value loss from a loan to an STARMIEREEER
associate included in other non- BATEFENGT
current assets measured at fair BEATNERHA
value* FEEE - 17,986
Fair value loss from short-term BATEGF ABRNE
investments at fair value through BEE 2 A FEEE
profit or loss* - 4,787
Fair value loss/(gain) from contingent R FEFF ABZER
consideration at fair value through ARERATEEE,
profit or loss* (Llﬂzm) 39,747 (57,085)
Loss on disposal of items of property, BREWE - BE&RE
plant and equipment and right-of HANKEREEE
use assets, net ZIEEFE 2,960 1,385
Donation expenses BRAY 11,433 8,425
* These items are included in “Other expenses, net” in the * ZEHEBTAZEBRLEMEE S

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

**  There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group
as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

RE[ B AGFASOFRR I o

= IHE/XIW RAEAREESRER
DRBEFOKF -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BERAK
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Interest on bank loans and RITE R R HAMEKFE
other borrowings 115,014 90,876
Interest on sale and leaseback liabilites &&EHBEFS 20,646 21,130
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFNE 2,206 3,121
Interest on put option liability RoaHEEERR 37,028 43,729
Interest on payables e HIEERFIE
for compensation fees - 4,884
Total HBEt 174,894 163,740
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEM£
Details of directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed Bk ETARR - BERQFEEIZE383(1)
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),(b),(c) and (@) c)kRhHiEkAR(BHEES
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of BN ERBKE)ROIF2HHEE 2K
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of FEEEMSFBOT

Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETFTT

Fees we 978 966

Other emoluments: H i<

Salaries, allowances e EMEREYHE

and benefits in kind 17,687 17,731

Equity-settled share option expense LMZE”‘Z*ME’J%HﬂEEFH 418 1,668

Pension scheme contributions RIKESET B R 162 155

Subtotal INEF 18,267 19,554

Total Bt 19,245 20,520

M Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. EEM< (M)

During the year, certain directors were granted share options, FANETESREARQFERET 25
in respect of their services to the Group, under the share U AREBIR M RSIERENRE - 1878
option scheme of the Company, further details of which are E—SHBIHNIERRMF33 - %
set out in note 33 to the financial statements. The fair value of LHERERBHNNBERMERN AT
such options, which has been recognised in profit or loss over BN REBHETE » KEEMBSHRR
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant TP SRS RAT EE S IHEN -

and the amount included in the financial statements for the
current year is included in the above directors’ remuneration

disclosures.
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BYKHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors REARBYIERTEEZNH
during the year were as follows: eI
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR¥ETTT
Mr. Chan Ngai Sang PR 326 322
Mr. Yu Huangcheng RENTHE 326 322
Mr. Wang Wei Hung FIEBEE 326 322
Total 5T 978 966
There were no other emoluments payable to the NER BEERMNBIIENTE
independent non-executive directors during the year ENEMEN S (2022F : &) o
(2022: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

EEM< ()
(b) BTESE

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8.

(b) Executive directors

Salaries, Pension  Equity-settled
ear ended BZ2023F allowances and scheme share option Total
1 December 2023 12A31ALEE benefits in kind  contributions expense remuneration
3211 BikE UEREE
REWR G SRR NBEREER MemE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBTR ARBTR AR¥TR
Mr. Li Xuechun TBELRE 4,507 - = 4,507
Ms. Zhang Weiping REFRT 7,340 - 245 7,585
Mr. Zuo Yichen ERR%HE 3,685 146 74 3,905
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung MBRELE 1,746 16 74 1,836
Total st 17,278 162 393 17,833
Salaries, Equity-settled
Year ended BE2022F allowances and Pension scheme share option Total
31 December 2022 12A31AL5E benefits inkind  contributions expense  remuneration
e 2 BINGHE EGEER
REYN & % BREER &
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETFTT ARET T ARETFTT
Mr. Li Xuechun FEEEE 4,528 - - 4,528
Ms. Zhang Weiping RETLL 7,314 - 1,030 8,344
Mr. Zuo Yichen ERERRE 3,743 139 288 4,170
Mr. Lam Ngai Lung MBEEE 1,737 16 288 2,041
Total @it 17,322 155 1,606 19,083

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. EEMS(H)
(c) Non-executive directors (c) HITESE
Salaries, Pension  Equity-settled
ear ended BZ2023F allowances and scheme share option Total
1 December 2023 12A31ALEE benefits in kind  contributions expense remuneration
4 2 RIKEHE  UEREEN
REMF = R BREER [t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR®TR AR®TR ARBT T
Ms. Li Yanping FR¥EL+L 409 - 25 434
Mr. Shen Jinzhou* LM T E - - - -
Total st 409 - 25 434
Salaries, Equity-settled
Year ended HZE20226F allowances and  Pension scheme share option Total
31 December 2022 12A31BIEEE benefits in kind contributions expense remuneration
o= RIKEFTE HEREEN
REMN & {3 BREER M & a%E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFT ARBTFT ARETT
Ms. Li Yanping FREzL 409 - 62 471
Mr. Lin Kaihua" MFIRESEL" - - - -
Total @it 409 - 62 471
*  Appointed as a non-executive director on 13 January 2023. * MR2023F1 H13HEZ T A IEHIT
£
" Resigned as a non-executive director on 21 December 2022. Y FA2022F 12 A21H BHE FEITE
$ °
There was no arrangement under which a director waived RERN BEEERENRE BN
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year and BEEMATFMOLTHE  EXASES
no remuneration was paid to any of the directors by ERTAESZNEMEAMA
the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the S AN A 7N 5= B 12 1Y 2 B ok Bk Bk
Group or as compensation for loss of office. I
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M F IR aE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. HEBREFMES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year HZE2023F12A31ALFE - A5 E
ended 31 December 2023 include four (2022: four) directors, hEmEeEHES BENE(2022F :
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. ME)ESE - HEESEFHFEEN L
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining one M HIEE8 o F A E ) — & (20224 : —
(2022: one) highest paid employee who is neither a director BV EAEBEENIIEFTETHRAE
nor chief executive of the Group, are as follows: M=o E SR EBEFBIT ¢
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARKETTT
Salaries, allowances and e RZUHREYNZ
benefits in kind 1,028 1,016
The remuneration of the non-director and non-chief executive FEERIIEFETHRAENZ= T ME
highest paid employee fell within the following band: BHMN T IyEE :
Number of employees
EEAY
2022
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 L2 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
During the year, no highest paid employees waived or agreed RER - BIESSHIMESNEXRAE
to waive any remuneration and no remuneration was paid WEEAHH  MAEETERZOLA
by the Group to any of the five highest paid employees = 5 i E B R E R ASZ e ER
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as MAREE SR INAREE 1% B3
compensation for loss of office. BERLAE(E -
10. INCOME TAX 10. FriS®

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

The Company, Minsheng Education Company Limited,
Minsheng Education Services Company Limited, Minsheng
Education Development Company Limited, Minsheng
Vocational, Minsheng Secondary Education Company
Limited, Minsheng Education Technology Company Limited,
Minsheng Education Information Company Limited and Leed
International, which were incorporated in the Cayman Islands,
are not subject to income tax.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A

REBARBAREEKE AR AERE
BZRAERES BN BEEBEEY
TSR -
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RBEERAF  REAXBERARAQ
A REBEHE RAETEHFER
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Minsheng Education Development (Hong Kong) Company
Limited, Hong Kong College of Technology and Business
Limited and Leed International Education Group (China)
Limited, which were incorporated in Hong Kong, were subject
to profits tax at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned
in Hong Kong during the year.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and the
respective regulations, except for Chongging Li'ang Education
Services Company Limited and Chongging Pass Education
Services Company Limited that are subject to preferential tax
rate of 15% under the Western Development Tax Incentive
Scheme, and Huixue International, Open Distance Education,
Minsheng Online and Umooc Online that are subject to
preferential tax rate of 15% for high-tech enterprises, and
Chongqging Huizhi, Silk Road, Huixue Education, Doxue
Huixing, Beijing Mingyuan and Xiaoai Technology that are
subject to preferential rate of 20% under the Notice Regarding
the Implementation on Tax Reduction/Exemption Policies for
Small and Micro-sized Enterprises(SMEs), the companies of
the Group which operate in Chinese Mainland are subject
to Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) at a rate of 256% on their
respective taxable income.

Pursuant to the decision (the “2016 Decision”) of the Standing
Committee of the National People’s Congress on Amending
the Private Schools Promotion Law ( (2Bl ARR R A& E#%
ZESUNER<PEARLENBERBRHAEREESHRTE) ),
and the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting
Private Education of the PRC ( {FREARANBERBHF (2
SEE MBI ) with an effective date of 1 September 2021 (the
“2021 Implementation Rules”), a private school may enjoy
the preferential tax policies, which are not defined under
either the 2016 Decision or the 2021 Implementation Rules,
as stipulated by the related government authorities and a
non-profit school may enjoy the same tax policies as enjoyed
by a public school. In accordance with the tax compliance
confirmations obtained from the local tax authorities and the
Group’s external legal advisor’'s comments on the preferential
tax treatments for the year ended 31 December 2022, no
income tax expense was recognised for the income from the
provision of formal educational services in 2022.

31 December 2023 2023 12H31H

REABER(BE)BERAR B
THERERARLEEEERERESE
(FEDERARREBEMAKL - H
REBEBEL 2 GFTERTG N FRBER
16.5% M B R A FHL ©

H PO AN 62 (B 1 )8 2 A sl BRERAE ]
FERRBUR A - B F R |AFHBBF
SRS -

REFBREEMEVENRBREESR - B
EENSHERBER AR REE KT
B RIGAR A B =AM R
BB EI TH15%BERE - UARE
BEE - REHE  RECRRERR
HERAIZH B X H15%E
BRELEEER - 425K 28
B - #MEET  ARFENDEREA
Z A /B B e MR R 5 E B MR WOR
RBERAGBA TE20%BEH XN - K
SEETRPEAMLENRFIERS
B B AR UAIR25% Bt B (3 Pl
SR EXEmRER]) -

BEB(ZBRARRRASEHLZESTH
RIER<FEARENBERHHE R
HESESEPRTE ) ([2016FRE 1) A B
2021F9 A1 HAMM(HPE AR LFE
R E REEZEHIEN) ([2021F &
MefEBI ) - RERAB BT B AR T
RMER A ZZERBREE (72016
FREMNFEHIKFIETHRE
RE) MIEBFMUBERAZIZEAT
BRAERMBURECR - BB E %
BB R A R BB R AN B MDA
REBARBEE2022F12A318 IEF
EEBERBFENER - WHEFE2022
FREBFEHRE RSB RARERAE
AL -



31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

The Group applied for classification registrations to convert
the PRC operating schools of the Group into for-profit private
schools (“For-profit Conversion”) to comply with the 2016
Decision and the 2021 Implementation Rules during the
year ended 31 December 2021. The For-profit Conversion
was in progress as at the date of this annual report. One
of the Group’s PRC operating schools has undergone the
relevant registration in 2023 as one of the steps of the For-
profit Conversion process in relation to such school. During
the For-profit Conversion, the PRC operating schools of the
Group may be subject to PRC enterprise income tax at a
rate of 25% in respect of service fees they received from the
provision of formal educational services, if they do not enjoy
any preferential tax treatment. The Group has made a PRC
enterprise income tax provision at a rate of 25% in respect
of service fees received by its PRC operating schools from
the provision of formal educational services in 2023.

The major components of the income tax expense for the
Group are as follows:

BNE — B KRE

Current — Chinese Mainland

Charge for the year* FNRE
Underprovision in prior years BAFERETE
Deferred (note 30) ERE (F17E30)
Total HEt

* Current tax charged for the year amounted to RMB29,823,000
(2022: RMB29,266,000) was in relation to the online education
business during the year.

AREBREZE2021F12A318 ILFE
RENBER  BAKEETRAEE
BENERERRENNMTREPER([EF
HER ) LUESF2016F R T K&2021
FERGH - BEXAFEREAH - &
FIMEREIHIELETR - AEBER—
R & EBRA2023F #1777 1HH
WEL M - EAZERRE N TEE
BEH—EER o mE TR AIE
B AEENFEZEEERIOITHEER
EREETFS - AR e AR E AR
HEBREUE RS TKWERS R BIZH
TOE% MM B> FEFTEH o 72023
F rEEERHETBREESERARM
BREHAE R T UER 8 BR 75 B IR B X
25%EH P B EFTIS B o

AEEMAEHAINEZAX LS I
-

2022
RMB'000
ARETIT

35,971
4,118
(6,860)

33,229

* FRBHENETIE A AR 29,823,000
Jo(2022%F : A R #29,266,0007T ) * Jb
BFRNIERHBEEFER -



10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory tax rates for the countries in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

M #B Y EE (18)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

10. FTBH (&)

RAARRARE KIS M B AR R
EERZEEREGTE 2 BB AR ME
Rz HRERERBERTRGTHE 2R

to the tax expense at the effective tax rates is as follows:

ERHRIT

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR®ETTT
Profit before tax B 5 B A 321,722 546,501
Tax at the statutory tax rates BEEMETE IR 128,747 155,043
Lower tax rate enacted by local B H AR AR 2 BUE T 2R
authority (16,104) (29,362)
Effect of withholding tax on earnings [ BA 7] 2 & i sk FE AR i [ B &
remitted or anticipated to be Mz BN 2 2
remitted by subsidiaries 3,746 15,874
Effect on opening deferred tax of WX S HRERIBENZE
increase in rates 37,937 -
Adjustments in respect of current tax BB EFERIERIEEL 2 A%
of previous years 1,471 4,118
Income not subject to tax BARBUA (30) (136,204)
Income tax arising from deemed BRAEF B AEE 2 FEHE
interest income 1,527 1,245
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 34,817 12,370
Effects of preferential tax benefits BB B E A B AR it
on Super-Deduction of research PR ST EY BT A R B B B AR Nt
and development expenses of HBRe2E(HE)
subsidiaries incorporated in
Chinese Mainland (Note) (6,840) (11,607)
Tax losses utilised from previous PR AFFEEREER
years (1,747) (378)
Tax losses not recognised RERZHIBEE 17,022 22,130
200,546 33,229
Note:  According to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, enterprises Mz BIBFRREBBEERER  EHEE

engaging in research and development activities are entitled to
claim 175% of the research and development expenses so
incurred as tax deductible expenses when determining their
assessable profits for that year (“Super-Deduction”).

B 1b A B L % R AR AR
BRERBELNEBERN75%ERA

RSz (TonEtH0BR 1) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M F IR aE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

11. DIVIDENDS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥ETTT
Proposed final - RMBO0.89 cents FORAREIRR B — BT AR
(2022: RMB3.76 cents) ARM0.895 (20224
per ordinary share AR¥E3.765) 37,477 158,744
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the REFHHIRAR RS BFERRRIKRER

approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 4,217,720,000 (2022: 4,217,720,000) in issue during the
year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the
share option had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings
per share amounts presented.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

12.

ﬁéﬁ%?ﬂﬁ%ﬂik?t&t/&&ﬁﬂf’ﬁ
7 o

BRARAEBEREREEABEERER

BREARAF HIREREQ LJM“’
hﬁ/\ﬂéfﬁifg/ﬂuxzimaﬁéﬂ ]
A% hn #E I 15 #14,21 7,720,0001&(2022
£ 1 4,217,720,00008) 5T & -

B Z20234F F2022F 12 A31B L&
FIEMZBREARF B EHEE
EHAR  RRABREHMEINE
REABFCBERBELE -

BREANEERN 2 ETIRE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREFT
Earnings B 7
Profit attributable to ordinary equity RARETESREANEERF
holders of the parent, used in the AR ERERTE ARL
basic and diluted earnings per gl
share calculation 138,869 490,066
Number of shares
R E
Shares g tn
Weighted average number of ordinary BRI ESRERNNEERF 2
shares in issue during the year used  FRB /T B INETFIIEK
in the basic and diluted earnings
per share calculation 4,217,720,000 4,217,720,000
E Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W%  BEKRZRE

Furniture
Motor and  Computer Construction
Buildings vehicles  equipment  equipment in progress Total

g7 RE  BAREE  ERMRE  HRIE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARETR

31 December 2023 2023%12A31H
At 1 January 2023: R2023E1A18 :
Cost KA 3,081,032 40,764 746,427 136,229 458,583 4,463,035
Accumulated depreciation ZitihE (674,744) (27,982)  (460,832) (88,686) - (1,252,244)
Net carrying amount BHSE 2,406,288 12,782 285,595 47,543 458,583 3,210,791
At 1 January 2023, net of #2023%51A1A -

accumulated depreciation NhZanE 2,406,288 12,782 285,595 47,543 458,583 3,210,791
Additions HE 16,310 2,322 78,041 21,617 123,749 242,039
Disposals e (1,009) (117) (1,352) (40) - (2,608)
Depreciation provided ERfERE(HE6)

during the year (note 6) (96,562) (2,490) (58,421) (15,668) - (173,141)
Transfers B8R 218,844 - - - (218,844) -
At 31 December 2023, net of R2023512A31A -

accumulated depreciation k2518 2,543,781 12,497 303,863 53,452 363488 3,277,081
At 31 December 2023: R2023%F12A318 :
Cost KA 3,314,371 40,979 804,070 147,388 363,488 4,670,296
Accumulated depreciation ZitE (770,590) (28,482)  (500,207) (93,936) - (1,393,215)
Net carrying amount FHFE 2,543,781 12,497 303,863 53,452 363,488 3,277,081
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M F IR aE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

13. M3 ~ BB KRR E (&)

Motor Furniture and ~~ Computer ~ Construction
Buildings vehicles  equipment  equipment  in progress Total
BF g BLREE BB 0 ERIRE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETT ARETR
31 December 2022 2022F12831H
At 1 January 2022: R2022F1A18 -
Cost A 2,773,761 39,724 699,863 140,364 515,760 4,169,472
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (585,901) (26,557) (413,767) (81,619) - (1,107,844)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,187,860 13,167 286,096 58,745 515,760 3,061,628
At 1 January 2022, net of R202251A18 -
accumulated depreciation NGB 2:nE 2,187,860 13,167 286,096 58,745 515760 3,061,628
Additions HE 16,896 2,213 55,598 7,764 239,400 321,931
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 36)  WEEME A (HzE36) - 150 4 - - 154
Disposals e (3,336) (98) (451) (66) - (3,951)
Depreciation provided EnirEReE (o)
during the year (note 6) (90,067) (2,710) (57,294) (18,900) - (168971)
Transfers g 294,935 - 1,642 - (296577) =
At 31 December 2022, net of 12022F 124318 -
accumulated depreciation NREHE 2,406,288 12,782 285,595 47,543 458583 3,210,791
At 31 December 2022; 20225128318
Cost A 3,081,082 40,764 746,427 136,229 458,583 4,463,035
Accumulated depreciation 2itHE (674,744) (27982)  (460,832) (88,686) - (1,252,244)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,406,288 12,782 285,595 47,543 458,583 3,210,791

The Group’s buildings are situated in Chinese Mainland.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A
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Certificates of ownership in respect of certain buildings
of the Group located in Chongqging, Yunnan and
Shandong, the PRC with a total net carrying amount of
approximately RMB197,933,000 at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB350,874,000) have not yet been issued by the relevant
PRC authorities. As at the end of the year, the directors were
still in the process of obtaining these certificates.

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s buildings with a
net carrying amount of approximately RMB80,938,000 (2022:
RMB82,680,000) were pledged to secure bank loans and
other borrowings (note 28).

The carrying value of the Group’s buildings and equipment held
under sale and leaseback arrangements as at 31 December
2023 was RMB 179,506,000 (2022: RMB176,968,000). Leased
assets were pledged as security for the related sale and
leaseback liabilities. The Group entered into sale and
leaseback arrangements for fund raising. The key terms and
conditions of sale and leaseback arrangements are disclosed
in note 28 to the financial statements.

The Group has lease contracts for buildings used in its
operation. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire the leased land from the government with lease
periods of 50 to 70 years, and no ongoing payments will
be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases
of buildings generally have lease terms between 2 and 6
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

31 December 2023 2023 12H31H

FERE P B B 1 R B I A SR B AL A
BF  ZEERURZETEF AR
F o ZEEFN2023F12A31B 2R
MR ELTEL A AR197,933,000 7T
(20224 : AR¥350,874,0007T) ° A
TR BENERBIEXSTEES
MEF -

R2023F12831H ° AEEREFE
B #) A R #80,938,0007T (20224 :
AR ¥82,680,0007T) K& FEFE F
EIHRARSIRITER R A AR (M5
28) °

M2023F12H31H - A& ERERXRE
MEZHRBENEFRRENRAEAA
R #179,506,0007T (20224 : A R ¥
176,968,000t ) - HEEELE T & #
EREEEREEAEMNER - RNEB
FIVEROBALTHNEEES - £140
FE %2 B89 3 221650 B A6 1A B 765 S 2 B
FIo81HEE o

AEEERARERKZENETHNHEE
B#) - BRAMEH —RER AR B
WHEHE +1b - HEIRE0E70%F - M
RIEZE T HHEER - ST %8
A EMRIE - BFOEBABENF2
E6%F o —RME - ARBETAIAAE
BASMANTEEROBHEERE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

14. LEASES (continued) 14. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) FEBERERMEA (E)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) ERREEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets AEBEFACEAEEENREEB
and the movements during the year are as follows: REFBHWNT :

Leasehold
Buildings land Total

BF HEL# st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTRT AR®TxR

As at 1 January 2022 R2022F181H 55,039 804,269 859,308
Additions NE 31,941 - 31,941
Acquisition of a subsidiary WM B 7 (H5E36)

(note 36) 126 - 126
Disposal BE (6,139) = (6,139)
Depreciation charge WEER (29,728) (18,464) (48,192)
Exchange realignment HE 5, B 186 - 186
As at 31 December 2022  A2022F12831B K

and 1 January 2023 2023%F1H1H 51,425 785,805 837,230
Additions NE 19,086 72,441 91,527
Disposal RE (2,501) = (2,501)
Depreciation charge TeEsBR (25,903) (18,584) (44,487)
Exchange realignment bE W FE R 29 - 29
As at 31 December 2023 A2023F12H31H 42,136 839,662 881,798

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

14. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the
movements during the year are as follows:

14. HE (&)
EEBEERBEBA (E)
(b) HERE

FRHEREMNEEEGIARTE
RITREMEREAT) REBWN

T

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARBTT
Carrying amount at 1 January »1A1B/ERAEE 51,494 52,421
New leases e 19,086 31,941
Additions as a result of EHEREARELENARE
acquisition of a subsidiary (Pft3E36)
(note 36) - 123
Accretion of interest FAEROFNERIE
recognised during the year 2,206 3,121
Payments (BN (28,162) (29,347)
Disposal BRE (1,689) (6,813)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 5 B 166 48
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A31BREREE 43,101 51,494
Analysed into: DITWT -
Current portion TENER D 19,138 22,653
Non-current portion SEMENER 23,963 28,841
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEBBEMIBRBRAY TR

note 43 to the financial statements.

RERMIFFAEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M F IR aE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

14. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in

relation to leases are as follows:

14. HE(R)
LEEELFABEA (HF)

(c) REERBEHFEINEHEWT :

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBTT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFNE 2,206 3,121
Depreciation charge of TREEENEER
right-of-use assets 44,487 48,192
Expense relating to short-term EEESNEER
leases (included in cost of (GTASHEAA)
sales) 4,895 7,329
Expense relating to leases of KEEEERENRABR:
low-value assets (included in GTATTEAX)
administrative expenses) 10,299 8,397
Loss/(gain) on disposal of REFREEECEE
right-of-use assets (Wezs) 812 (674)
Total amount recognised in R ER A ETE
profit or loss 62,699 66,365
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d HEMNBR@RLBBEEERIH

37(c) to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases certain of its buildings under operating
lease arrangements. Leases for buildings were negotiated for
initial terms ranging from one to three years. Rental income
recognised by the Group during the year was RMB 16,795,000
(2022: RMB22,497,000), details of which are included in note

5 to the financial statements.

H&MFE37(C) °

EEBEERLHEA

FRMIFES ©

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A
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F - FALAEBERNDESKABA
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14.

15.

LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

14. HE (&)
EEBEERLHBEA (F)

MN2023F12A31H » REERIEEE
iD= VA ORNCIE € S E o N )AL
MW A ARIRE SN T ¢

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARBTT
Within one year —FR 13,835 13,942
After one year but within two years —FRERMER 2,010 1,685
After two years but within three years MWEEER=FRA 627 1,126
After three years but within five years Z=F®EREER 413 775
Total #Et 16,885 17,528
GOODWILL 15. HE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AREETTT
Cost: A
At 1 January M1A1R 2,338,424 2,335,902
Acquisition of a subsidiary W B 2 =) (FiI3E36)

(note 36) - 2,522
At 31 December MW12A318 2,338,424 2,338,424
Accumulated impairment: ZERE
At 1 January R1A18 - —
Impairment during the year FARE (66,725) -
At 31 December K12H31H (66,725) —
Net carrying amount: AREFE -

At 1 January W1A1R 2,338,424 2,335,902
At 31 December M12A318 2,271,699 2,338,424
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M F IR aE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

15. GOODWILL (continued) 15. & (&)
Impairment testing of goodwill A A
Goodwill acquired through business combination is allocated BREBEHKRENREBOREUTR
to the following cash-generating units for impairment testing: SEEBMDETRERR
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®ET T
Chongaing College of Humanities, BEAXEHREZER
Science and Technology 303,937 303,937
Leed International BiEsE 1,381,162 1,381,162
Doxue Network HEME 97,795 97,795
Open University Online BAIERZ 391,095 391,095
Xiaoai Technology NER 66,725 66,725
Minsheng Online RAEER 86,483 86,483
Umooc Online BRERER 8,705 8,705
Shanghai Zhiaosheng LB RE 2,522 2,522
2,338,424 2,338,424
The recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit has KW ELBEN ZoikE £ zE JIRIEE
been determined based on a value in use calculation using BEETE AR ATIEBIE
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering BERERFHREZ MBEEEMEE 2R
a five-year period approved by senior management. ShREBEANET - UTAEEEENUE
The following describes each key assumption on which HIREmETE R A S EETRE RS
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake HRIBEXrEB/RE

impairment testing of goodwill:

E Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A



15. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

15.

f BRI (8)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

& (&)
P& Bl E R ()

2023 2023F

Chongging

College of

Humanities, Open

Science and Leed Doxue  University Xiaoai  Minsheng Umooc  Shanghai

Technology International Network Online  Technology Online Online  Zhiaosheng

ERAX

MHERE  RERE  #EE%  EXER  MENH REER  ERRAR  LEERE
Sales amount HESE
(annual growth rate)  (EEREXR) 5% 3% 4% 2% 14% 9% 12% 5%
Long term growth rale REPERE 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2%
Pre-tax discount rate ~ FERIATRE 15% 15% 20% 18% 23% 18% 17% 20%
2022 20224

Chongging

College of

Humanities, Open

Science and Leed Doxue  University Xiaoai  Minsheng Umooc  Shanghai

Technology  International Network Online Technology Online Online  Zhiaosheng

BRAX

iRk BESE  #ERE  BXER  IERR REER BRRER  LEERR
Sales amount HELE
(annual growth rate)  (EEREXR) 5% 3% 5% 6% 12% 3% 8% 5%
Long term growth rate  REPERE 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3%
Pre-tax discount rate ~ HAIHTERE 15% 16% 20% 18% 2% 20% 17% 15%

Budgeted sales amounts — The budgeted sales amounts are
based on the historical data and management’s expectation

on the future market.

BEHESHE —REHEREANESL
BEREEEHRKRMSNAYME

F o
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31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Long term growth rate — The long term growth rate is based
on the historical data and management’s expectation on the
future market.

Pre-tax discount rate — The pre-tax discount rate reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant unit, which is determined
using the capital asset pricing model with reference to the beta
coefficient and debt ratio of certain publicly listed companies
conducting business in the PRC education industry.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of the cash-generating units and discount rates
are consistent with external information sources.

Following the annual impairment testing, an impairment loss
of RMB66,725,000 (2022: nil) was recognised for the Xiaoai
Technology cash-generating unit, which is part of the online
education segment, during the year, due to the intensive
market competition.

Xiaoai Technology was acquired in 2021 and was engaged
in providing SaaS services for the human resources. The
impairment loss was due to the intense competition in the
market, which resulted in a significant decrease in sales of
Xiaoai Technology for the year as compared to the budget
and a corresponding decrease in expected future cash flows
of the cash-generating unit.

As at 31 December 2023, based on the recoverable amount
of nil under the value in use calculation, the impairment loss
amounting to RMB66,725,000 was recognised on the relevant
goodwill of Xiaoai Technology.

RHRERER -REERXTENELH
BEREEBHARRMGNBHMETE -

AT R — BIATBS R R A E
RRBIMBERR - DEREAREER
BRI 2% B ERRE TR B
BETEMREBNAN LT ARNAR
RETE o

SEEREEEEMNTHER LR
R EIRE BRFZPE T HOEEEINED
BRAORME 2 e

RERFERERRER - FRETSES
FRR N ERRERCEAEM(ER
HERRN—BD)ERBREBEAR
#66,725,0007T (20224 « #&) o

AREBR2021FWBNERL - %A
AR AN ERITE R HSaaSlkRH © B
EBRIARMERFH - BHER
NEMKHERREARRS - AR
EEFEUNAERRIR S RERELD -

R2023F12A31H - E RN F B E K
FETHAKEeEAT  RAOE
BMEEEmE2RRREBEEARRE
66,725,0007T °



16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

16. Hih\BEFEEE

Computer Customer
software  Brand name relationship Total
e B mEER EFBf 3t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
31 December 2023 2023F12A31A
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of R2023F1A1E/
accumulated amortisation PO HBR 25T 42,313 264,492 127,480 434,285
Additions NE 2,973 - - 2,973
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6)  “F PUR S {5 (Pl 5%6) (12,616) (32,760) (40,567) (85,943)
Impairment during the year FRRE - - (21,400) (21,400)
At 31 December 2023 120034128318 32,670 231,732 65,513 329,915
At 31 December 2023; R2023512A318 :
Cost DN 116,744 327,600 198,500 642,844
Accumulated amortisation and impairment S EERAE (84,074) (95,868) (132,987) (312,929)
Net carrying amount REFE 32,670 231,732 65,513 329,915
Computer Customer
software  Brand name relationship Total
ShHEn miEEH EPBA @5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
31 December 2022 2022512831
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of R2022%1 18
accumulated amortisation A - 1B R 54,134 297,052 168,047 519,433
Additions NE 1,785 - - 1,785
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6)  4F R0k 34 B85 (P56 (13,606) (32,760) (40,567) (86,933)
At 31 December 2022 2022612318 42313 264,492 127,480 434,285
At 31 December 2022; R2022%F12A31H
Cost 5% 113,771 327,600 198,500 639,871
Accumulated amortisation ZEEH (71,458) (63,108) (71,020) (205,586)
Net carrying amount REHE 42,313 264,492 127,480 434,285

Following the impairment testing, an impairment loss of
RMB21,400,000 (2022: nil) was recognised for the intangible
asset of customer relationship, which is part of the online
education segment, during the year. The impairment loss
was due to the decrease in the number of students of online
education for the year as compared to the budget and a
corresponding decrease in expected future cash flows.

RIEERERRE  FAREFLBER
(EBRHBERRN—HD ) B EER
R EE 1B A R ¥ 21,400,000 (2022
F8E)  BAREEBIBERFARE
BHEBEABRBERMRL © AR
TRERKBEREMERD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, based on the recoverable amount
of RMB55,400,000 under the value in use calculation, using a
pre-tax discount rate of 18%, the impairment loss amounting
to RMB21,400,000 was recognised on the relevant intangible
asset.

17. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 17.

16.

HitBEPEE (&)

2023F12A318 - AR EREER
HET A E £ % A R #¥55,400,000
7T K X R KR B AT B 3R E18%t & ¢
HEREFEERRREBEARE
21,400,0007T °

DMEEEFE

Share of net assets

REE D RNKRE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T NS
- 2,063

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/

Particulars of registration and

equity/interest held business

AR/
i R

MR/
AE R 3 it B

R RBMEIRIT

Percentage of
ownership interest
attributable to

the Group Principal activities

rRERGTRE
BiEcEIL FEEHR

Beacon International Ordinary shares Republic of
College PTE. LTD.* Singapore
gl AN M

25.6% Commercial schools
offering higher education
programmes

RESSHEHAZAEER

* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network

The above investment is indirectly held by the Company.
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

information of the Group’s associate that is not individually
material:

Y OREEBEBRT KRB KEHBEZ S K
B ARIEZ

AEREBARREEITA

TREAAEE 2 EBME LIFEEN
e nrm BRI EER

Share of the associate’s (loss)/profit
for the year
Share of the associate’s total

R

comprehensive (loss)/income W858
Aggregate carrying amount of the AEBERBERRREZ
Group’s investment in an associate ~ BREIEE

AEEBE R RFAR(ER),

DEEENRZ 2E(ER),/

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AR¥TIT
(2,087) 363
(2,087) 363

L 2,063

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A
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18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B aE (1)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

18. BAFEFABENEH

PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
Current assets MENEE
Short-term investments measured at R A F{EFF ABHAEH
fair value through profit or loss (i) RHEIRE() -~ 29,455
Contingent consideration (note 42) HARE (MIFE42) 108,553 148,300
Total st 108,553 177,755
Non-current assets EMEEE
An equity investment measured at - BT ARG EMRERE
fair value through profit or loss (ii) — R AFEFT AB (i) 7,941 14,176

(i)

Short-term investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss

Short-term investments measured at fair value through profit or loss
is wealth management products with expected rate of return around
1.8%-2.8% per annum for the year ended 31 December 2022. They
are denominated in RMB. The return on the wealth management
products are not guaranteed, and hence the contractual cash
flows do not qualify for solely payments of principal and interest.
Therefore, they are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
None of the investments are past due. The fair value is based
on cash flow discounted using the expected return based on the
contract and is categorised within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

An equity investment at fair value through profit or loss

An equity investment at fair value through profit or loss represents
a listed security. The fair value of the listed security is determined
based on the closing price quoted in an active market. It is
categorised within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

() ROFEFABRRITENEHRE

HZE2022F12A31BILFE @ 2 ATFE
ATABSITENEHRE A —BESE
MR ATFHN1.8%-28%N B E R °
ZEMAAREAE ZEMERNE
HMERE  WEANBRESRELTE
B AMERBAR - At ZERT
RATFEFABENE - ZIREWES
He AFERBERESREBENGHNAE
HZEHBIREEAE  UBAAFE
BROE 4

(i) BROFEFABRROBRERE
BATEFABRSORERER EHE
Fo MRS RTEDENERTS

Pl EEE  EBEAXFEERD
E
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

19. HMFERBHEE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT
Prepayments for acquisition of L B 1 P FRRE Y TR SR IE
land use rights 234,575 164,575
Prepayments for acquisition of a Wi R R A R TR RIE
private school and companies 19,560 22,789
Long-term prepayments, other RETE FIE - H A EKGRIE R
receivables and other assets Hiw&EE 7,316 3,624
Total EEt 261,451 190,988
20. INVENTORIES 20. 78
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT
Consumables SHIEm 2,439 3,040
Books = 6,519 6,963
Total #Et 8,958 10,003
21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. EFEWFIE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETT
Trade receivables Z 5 W I8 500,975 707,591
Impairment BB (43,426) (23,454)
Net carrying amount BREDFE 457,549 684,137

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



The Group’s students are required to pay tuition fees and
boarding fees in advance for the upcoming school year,
which normally commences in September. The outstanding
receivables represent amounts related to students who have
applied for the delayed payment of tuition fees and boarding
fees. There is no fixed term for delayed payments. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of
the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to a large number of diversified students,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

The trade receivables mainly represent amounts related to
service fess due from cooperative universities. Cooperative
universities are required to pay services fees in 1 to 3 months
after the Group remits the tuition fees from students received
on behalf of them. There is no fixed term for delayed payments.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over
its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 26% (2022:
32%) and 50% (2022: 49%) of the Group’s trade receivables
were due from the Group’s largest customer and five largest
customers, respectively.

31 December 2023 2023 12H31H

AEENSZEFRAN TEASFHNEE N
EEE BF-RNNAARK - HAX
NRERKFREEEHFTEEIREER
EEENSLEBNESE - TENRYL
42 [ TE HARR $ElﬁﬁF%Tﬂ$§
EWIE - WREEERR - SRE
BETHEDaNER - ﬁ?ii%t
RAREENE 5 REES Eﬁ&A@%K
MoBMBE - MBS KEER

o $%Iﬂﬁﬁﬁ?%%%ﬁﬁ%%
ZHHEMER M EMERER - B S
EBHIARRE °

B 5 WA ZIE R A 1B R AR
BERBFIE - S1ERRERAEEE
HREKRMWBLEEZBRIZIFEMAR
SR E o B F & E T 2R o

2N 2 B B ) PR RS 5 ) R <2 A+ P Uk R
H - WRIEEERR - 2R EIEETH
EHBEESR AEBUVEREZSE
WHIBEHRFEEMER R EMER
B ESHRKFBARE - RIREH
K BHRANEBE26% (20224 : 32%)
K:50% (20224 : 49%) K B 5 & I
BN R RERAEBREARFRAAE
FHZIE  BMASEERE—TEPEE
ﬂ[ﬁuu °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting year, based on the transaction date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

. BZRWE(E)

@Ziiﬁiﬁfﬂi B 5 BRI E
BEREE - EHRUGENKRE DN
W

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMTF T ARETT

Within 1 year —FR 380,468 641,237
1 to 2 years —ZEMF 70,604 42 297
2 to 3 years ME=F 6,162 364
Over 3 years =FUE 315 239
Total #Et 457,549 684,137

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

B o RERKFIEREBSERENES N
B

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%TR ARBTT

At beginning of year F4] 23,454 15,038
Impairment losses (note 6) BEEE (fizEe) 20,562 8,722
Write-off g (590) (306)
At end of year FR 43,426 23,454

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for the
expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables.

w Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A
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21.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

On-campus education

The Group assessed the expected losses on trade receivables
from students grouped based on the ageing of the trade
receivables, considering the historical default experience
and forward-looking information, as appropriate. The Group
uses debtors’ ageing to assess the impairment for students
in relation to its college and high school education because
these customers consist of a large number of students with
common risk characteristics that are representative of the
students’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. Generally, trade receivables are
written off one year after the student drops out from the tuition
programmes and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group'’s trade receivables from on-campus education

using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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Within 1t02 2103 Over

1 year years years 3 years

-£R -E@E BE=E ZENE
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 1.96% 9.90% 38.90% 100.00% 7.80%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BREAARE(ARETTT) 11,505 5,565 635 388 18,093
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) FEHEEBE(ARET L) 226 551 47 388 1,412
As at 31 December 2022 2022 12A31H

Within 1102 2103 Over

1 year years year 3 years Total

—ER —EmE ME=F ZEE a3
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBREX 11.96% 23.57% 53.60% 100.00% 16.75%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BRE AR (AR T ) 48,772 24,383 666 516 74,337
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) FBHEEEE(ARETT) 5,833 5,748 357 516 12,454
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

21.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Online education

The Group assessed the expected credit losses on trade
receivables from cooperative universities grouped based
on the ageing of the trade receivables, considering the
historical default experience and forward-looking information,
as appropriate. The Group uses debtors’ ageing to assess the
impairment for cooperative universities in relation to distance
education because these customers consist of numbers of
cooperative universities with common risk characteristics that
are representative of the cooperative universities’ abilities
to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual
terms.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables from online education using
a provision matrix:

1. EZRWFEE)

TERHAE

AEBFEXEEGERENE SR
WRENBHEEERK - IHRIE
BHRWFENRKETIE I
ZRBEENRELATEMEER(D
HEE) - AEBAER ARKRERKLE
RHEHEBEIERRFGERHE" &
AREAMNGH  ZEFEPRER
ZEAERBARBENAIERR K
REAERRI A RMNKIERN

ok
Be °

TROIBA LSRR E SR PR
HOB B PR B B B 0 AR O
&R

As at 31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Within 1t02 PACK]

1 year years years

-£R —EWE WEZF

Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 2.90% 18.95% 56.88% 96.24% 8.70%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BREA2E(AR¥ T ) 380,197 80,921 13,390 8,374 482,882
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEEE(ARETT) 11,008 15,331 7,616 8,059 42,014

As at 31 December 2022 R2022F12H31H

Within 1102 2103 Over

1 year years year 3 years Total

—£R —ZmE mEZF =ELE 8z
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 0.19% 6.86% 50.00% 97.12% 1.74%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BRmEAZEE(ARE T L) 599,452 25,404 10 8,288 633,254
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BEEEFE(ARETT) 1,154 1742 55 8,049 11,000
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22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B aE (1)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

22. AARIE  HtBEWREREMBEE

ASSETS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT
Prepaid expenses FERAX 4,438 3,854
Advance to staff B THIE 21,413 26,444
Advance to suppliers B R FIR 38,556 35,971
Loan to third parties MTYEZFNEZR 4,268 6,408
Interest receivables FEWFI S 794 5,518
Deposits Ee 19,568 21,289

Loan to companies controlled by BT RAEEGIFERAR R FTIZES]

non-controlling shareholder of NAIMER"

Minsheng Online” 32,000 32,000
The Loan* ¢/ 411,824 400,000
Other receivables H b U skIE 78,105 65,993
Other current assets Hinmeh & e 3,211 3,809

614,177 601,286
Impairment allowance BB (70,089) (35,197)
Total Ry 544,088 566,089

The Loan is secured by the pledge of a 49% equity interest of
Leed International. The Loan bears interest at rates of 5.2% (2022:
5.2%) with maturity on 27 July 2023.

Loan to companies controlled by non-controlling shareholder of
Minsheng Online bears interest at rate of 4.8% (2022: 4.8%) with
maturity on 28 August 2023.

Except for certain receivables for which the counterparty
failed to make the demanded repayment and the Group has
made a 100% provision (“default receivables”), the financial
assets included in the above balance have no historical
default and are expected to be settled within 12 months which
were categorised in stage 1 for measurement of ECLs at the
end of the reporting period. In calculating the expected credit
loss rate, the Group considers the historical loss rate and
adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data. During the
current year, except for the default receivables, the Group
estimated the expected loss rate for the remaining financial
assets is minimal (2022: minimal).

* BRDNERENBEEBONREER
R - BFIEFRE.2%(20224 : 5.2%)
R R 202357 F27HEHA -

N RTREEGIETERBREAMIEHIQFEN
BERURFIERA4.8% (20224 : 4.8% )18
I 420238 A28 H EIHf -

BHFHRREREREAEED 2R
AHEBRENE TR ESR(HE R B
RN LAERTEESNERE
RN B R Lk B A 1218
HR&EE - HEERRE ARG ERY
EEBERNEIEE RAERMEE
BRXE - AKBERAEERE X
SLATIE M RS BBURIEL FE - A
FE - FRIEREKFIRSN - AEEGF
HEfp e EENTRHEEETA(2022
et 7558
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M F IR aE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS (continued)

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Long ageing balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group has
significant concentration of credit risk over the Loan. Other
than the Loan, the Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its deposits and other receivable
balances. Except for the Loan, Loan to companies controlled
by non-controlling shareholder of Minsheng Online, loan to
third parties and interest receivables, deposits and other
receivables are non-interest-bearing. The movements in the
provision for impairment of deposits and other receivables
that were categorised in stage 3 for measurement of ECLs
are as follows:

22. ANRIE - HtBEWREREMBEE

(&)

AEB B e SRR AN UK
BRI - UREEERER - FRikEE
M RAER=AREIEEENERN - N
SEREREHRERETEERR © &
BRI REBEYERERE R EAE
WOk TR A S A R R s s B AR (S
B RERSN 8T REEGRIFER
BERATEGINABNER K TE=T
BV E SR M EUCR S ~ RS N Al FE UK
BIPRETE - e MEMEKRFIERE
BRENEH(BEANERAGEEER
MBI

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R AR¥EFTT

At beginning of year F4) 35,197 27,152
Acquisition of subsidiaries L B B BB A B = 1
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) B HERREEE (HizE6) 34,892 8,044
70,089 35,197

The individually impaired other receivables relate to
counterparties that were in financial difficulties or were in
default in payments and no receivable is expected to be
recovered.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/RESTRICTED BANK
DEPOSITS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B aE (1)

31 December 2023 2023 12H31H

23. RERASZEY ZRFBITER

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®EFTT

Cash and bank balances He MIRTTA &R 3,193,517 3,477,088

Less: restricted bank deposits B ZBREIERITFR 3,671 =

Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSFEY 3,189,846 3,477,088
Cash and cash equivalents AT EEABHReRREE

denominated in: B :

- RMB — AR 3,155,207 3,200,501

- Hong Kong dollars (HK$) — BT 30,480 26,289

— United States dollars (US$) —X7T 4,159 250,298

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’'s cash and
cash equivalents denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB3,155,207,000 (2022: RMB3,200,501,000). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised
to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The
expected credit loss is approximately zero.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations
imposed by the relevant PRC government authorities or the
terms and conditions set out in the relevant government
grant agreements, proceeds from government grants are
required to be deposited into designated bank accounts
and restricted to be used in the relevant projects. As at
31 December 2023, such balances were RMB106,911,000
(2022: RMB63,356,000).

M2023F12H31H A& B MR ¢
LBESEEMUAAREBHE  BAR
#3,155,207,0007T (20224 : A KB #&
3,200,501,0007T) - ARBATAIERK
BRAHMER - AW - REBEPBEKED
CHNEE B IG5 ) RS 4ETE - BIE RSIE
ERBRE) AEEEATRAREE
RITRARELBRAEMEMRELUEITIN
PEZETS ©

RN RITHIR 2R E B IR1TTERA X
B R BRERHE. o RITARTIERL
ET R MR B AEBMRTT - A
EEEBRHORT -

REEEPRBNE RE NG BER
AR BB B BUR 48 BY & 175 5 PR 8 1R K
&t - BT HIBY & P8 SR IBATT A 15
ERITERFPYRELEBBEBEEEA -
MR2023F12A31H B & &H B A
R #106,911,0007T(20224F : A R #&
63,356,0007T) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

24. TRADE PAYABLES 24, ESENRIE
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the HEREHER  BHRNRERESR
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HHIRBRER DTN T -
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR¥ETTT
Within 1 year —FRA 606,335 914,985
1to 2 years —EWF 21,834 16,934
2 to 3 years ME=F 13,269 7,696
Over 3 years =FAE 10,775 4,605
Total 1Bt 652,213 944,220
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally ZHENRER%E B —MKN30E60
settled on 30-60-day terms. HEARA&EE -
25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. EHEE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: SREEFBOT :

31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
2023%F 20224 20224F

12A31RH 12A31H 1A1H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AREBTT ARETR

Short-term advances received [f] & /5 Y By 52 BIFE (150
from customers

Tuition fees == 661,854 631,833 620,510
Boarding fees FEE 70,491 70,185 65,108
Distance education REHBERGE

service fees 49,020 151,825 226,852
Teacher training services AN P AR T 10,694 37,117 43,582
Other education business HtHE %% 40,900 18,647 30,508
Total 4t 832,959 909,607 986,560

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



Contract liabilities mainly include short-term advances
received from students in relation to the proportionate service
not yet provided. The Group receives tuition and boarding
fees from students in advance prior to the beginning of each
academic year. Tuition and boarding fees are recognised
proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable
programme. The students are entitled to the refund of
payment in proportion to the service not yet provided.

Contract liabilities mainly include short-term advances
received from cooperative universities and other customers
in proportion to the service not yet provided. Service fees
are recognised proportionately over the service periods of
the applicable programme. The cooperative universities and
other customers are entitled to the refund of payment in
proportion to the service not yet provided. The gross amount
due to customers for the provision of services is expected to
be settled within one year. The decrease in contract liabilities
in 2023 and 2022 was mainly due to the decrease in short-
term advances received from customers in relation to the
provision of services at the end of the year.

31 December 2023 2023 12H31H

BHREIZEEM W ARRMIRGIZLL
{5117 E2 A W ER B0 F2 R TR K - AREEER
BRFFRAALRASERINES KT
BE BENEFENARERENERE
HINIZ L IR - BA BRI AN D
AR S ARTS VAR KR -

EHBEIEPERHRIBERBIZL
Bl & VER AR & B 2 P U ER A 52 HA TR
R - RIBEREBERIZNRBEARNA
L HIRER - EERR REMEF A%
AN AR R H AR e B R FRIE -
SR ARG B B P SRIB R TEHA SR
—FRNEE ° 2023F R2022F 54 E
B EZHRFARRIBEREAEZ S
B A 55 HRTE A FOR D PR ER o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M F IR aE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. HtEENSREREEH
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBTT
Accrued bonuses and other JERHTEAL R H AL fE B 1R A

employee benefits 103,534 95,844
Payables for catering services FETE RIS RIAE 10,666 4,156
Payables for purchase of property, BEWE  KELEE

plant and equipment B FE < 3R 241,821 299,304
Payables for management fees BEBREMNKIE 46,274 21,124
Payables for compensation fees ENHEER - 60,000
Miscellaneous expenses received Uk B B2 A 0 3 TR B S (B RE(T))

from students (note (i)) 114,630 102,465
Tuition fees received from students  UREREE R E B (KIzE(i))

(note (ii)) 111,590 212,753
Other tax payable H th e T 18 10,507 11,730
Payables for audit fee Bt EREMNRIE 1,304 2,925
Payables for interest FEATFIE 1,148 1,855
Refund liabilities RRBE 313 1,282
Consideration payable for business ¥4 GfEMKE

combination 49,725 57,225
Payables to the non-controlling AL DIEPNGIE 225

shareholder of subsidiaries AR R RIE 20,000 20,000
Other payables E fh fE 518 70,660 75,026

782,172 965,689
Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable on HuENFBEARE  WIRERKEE -
demand.
Notes: BEE
(i)  The amounts represent the miscellaneous expenses received from () =RR/PRBLENFMEMS  BRBL
students which will be paid out on behalf of the students. XAt e
(i)  The amounts represent the payment of tuition fees from students (i) TRRBEXNNEE - DHRAERR
received on behalf of cooperative universities. The balance will be WER o BRI —FAEZE SRR ©

remitted to cooperative universities within one year.

E Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

M #B Y EE (18)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

27. DEFERRED INCOME 27. EEUIRA
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBTT
Government grants I I #66 Bh
At beginning of year F4) 265,227 283,363
Grants received B U B 44,844 85,510
Transferred from other payables EE A EMENKIE 5,290 -
Charged to profit or loss (note 5) RIBESHIBR (KI7E5) (61,508) (103,646)
At end of year FR 253,853 265,227
Current BIVHA 19,660 22,832
Non-current JERNEA 234,193 242,395
Total #Et 253,853 265,227
On-campus education BEHE
These government grants are related to the subsidies received ZEBNEEM AN E R EEHEL

from the local government for the purpose of compensating
the operating expenses arising from the teaching activities
and expenditures on teaching facilities of the Group. Upon
completion of the operating activities and the related projects,
the grants related to the expense items will be recognised as
other income directly in profit or loss and the grants related to
an asset will be released to profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset.

Online education

These government grants are related to the subsidies received
from the local government for the purpose of reimbursements
of expenditure spent on research and developments projects
of the Group. Upon completion of the operating activities and
the related projects, the grants related to the expense items
will be recognised as other income directly in profit or loss.

LB A MBEREFR S FTERER
EHRFTUWERE I ERE - EKEED)
KAARIE B ek & - SRR B ARREAY
AT RERNERERREMUA -
MEEERMENBOSERERHREEDN
BRI A F AR AR -

HERHAE

ZEBRT B AR A LB HIRA FX
FTYE#RIH A & Hh B AT R BY B A
BR2EBNMAAIAR T - B
HERENED S RE RN AR ER A
HA WA -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28. it 28 {TREMER
2022
Effective Effective
interest interest
AR A0S rate (%) Maturity  RMB'000
BRA= ERA=
(%) HE ARETR (%) A8 ARETT
Current ]
Bank loans - secured RITEF-HHEA 5.0 2024 60,000 3.7-63 2023 99,650
Bank loans - unsecured ROET—EER 4.0-4.5 2024 99,992 - - -
Current portion of long - REFITE RIS
term bank loans - secured Br-BHA 2.2-5.5 2024 329,456 2.2-55 2023 299,113
Current portion of long - RERTEH MR
term bank loans - unsecured By - iR 2.7-4.9 2024 504,772 2.7-49 2023 49219
Other loans - unsecured Bt ER - EEA 15.0-24.0 on demand 6,144 15.0-24.0 on demand 6,144
Current portion of other loans - At ESMEERE
secured -BHA 7.8 2024 30,200 = = =
Current portion of long-term KRBT EH AR
government loan - secured #r-HHA 3.5 2024 2,000 35 2023 2,000
Current portion of lease liabilties ~ HEEBHHNHHSH
(note 14(b)) (HEE14(b)) 3.7-4.5 2024 19,138 4849 2023 22,653
Current portion of sale and EREREENNHT
leaseback liabilities 6.7-8.2 2024 96,911 6.7-7.4 2023 119,272
Total - current Fiae il 1,148,613 598,051
Non-current FEEH
Bank loans - secured BITER-BHR 2.2-55 2025-2031 796,570 2255 2024-2028 1,111,188
Bank loans - unsecured ROER-EHR . . 2749 2024 487,887
Other loans - secured At ER-FER 7.8 2025-2026 64,800 - - -
Government loan -secured BRER-FHER 35 2026-2032 20,000 35 2024-2032 22,000
Lease liabilities (note 14(b)) REBEME14(b) 3.7-45 2025-2029 23,963 4849 2024-2026 28,841
Sale and leaseback liabilities ERERERE 6.7-7.4 2025-2026 84,124 6.7-7.4 20242026 109,567
Total - non-current @5t —JE0H 989,457 1,759,483
Total b 2,138,070 2,357,534

@ Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A



28.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

f BRI (8)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

28. B BURITR AN (K

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETT
Analysed into: DHTWT :
Bank loans repayable: JEEBIRITE
Within one year or on demand — 7 AR EK 994,220 447 982
In the second year E_F 332,579 767,243
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EFHF BEMF
BEEA 463,745 746,162
Beyond five years tBRAF 246 85,670
Subtotal NEE 1,790,790 2,047,057
Other borrowings repayable: JEEREMIESK :
Within one year or on demand —FZAFTIREK 36,344 6,144
In the second year F_F 36,000 =
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EFARF HEMF
BIEER 28,800 -
Subtotal e 101,144 6,144
Government loan repayable: JEEBBITER
Within one year or on demand —FZAHIRER 2,000 2,000
In the second year E_F - 2,000
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EFAF  HEMF
BREEN 9,000 6,000
Beyond five years HRiE T F 11,000 14,000
Subtotal /NEt 22,000 24,000
Lease liabilities: HEHE
Within one year or on demand —F 2 NIREK 19,138 22,653
In the second year F_F 13,432 13,502
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EZFRF  gRMEF
BEEA 10,400 15,339
Beyond five years R AF 131 =
Subtotal NEE 43,101 51,494
Sale and leaseback liabilities: ErEHEEE
Within one year or on demand —FZAFIREK 96,911 119,272
In the second year E_F 84,124 70,457
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=ZFNLF HEMF
BIEEA - 39,110
Subtotal /NEF 181,035 228,839
Total FEE 2,138,070 2,357,534

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 [ % ﬂ



31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Notes:

(a)

The Group’s loan facilities amounted to RMB600,000,000
(2022: US$28,240,000), of which RMB160,583,259 (2022:
US$28,240,000) have been utilised.

Certain of the Group’s bank loans and government loans are
secured by: (i) mortgages over the Group’s certain property,
plant and equipment, which had an aggregate carrying value at
the end of the reporting period of approximately RMB80,938,000
(2022: RMB82,680,000); (ii) the pledge of a 51% equity interest
of Chongging Li'ang Industry Company Limited, the pledge
of a 60% equity interest of Chongqging Minsheng Education
Management Company Limited and the pledge of a 100% equity
interest of Laoling Minsheng Education High School Company
Limited; (iii) the pledge of a 60% equity interest of Doxue
Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd; and (iv) the pledge of
rights over tuition fees of Dianchi College of Yunnan University.

The carrying value of the Group’s buildings and equipment held
under sale and leaseback arrangements as at 31 December
2023 was RMB179,506,000 (2022: RMB176,968,000). Leased
assets were pledged as security for the related sale and
leaseback liabilities.

Except for the other loans of RMB95,000,000 (2022: nil) which
are secured by pledge of rights over tuition fees of certain
programmes of Dianchi College of Yunnan University with
interest rates of 7.8% (2022: nil) and are repayable in 2024 to
2026, the Group’s other loans are unsecured, bear interest at
rates ranging from 15.0% to 24.0% (2022: 15.0%-24.0%) and are
repayable on demand.

Except for the bank loans of RMB498,421,000 and
RMB697,067,000 (2022: RMB532,549,000 and RMB632,822,000)
as at 31 December 2023, which are denominated in HK$ and
USS$, respectively, all borrowings are in RMB.

Pursuant to the share retention agreements ancillary to the loan
agreements with International Finance Corporation and Deutsche
Investitions — Und Entwicklungsgesellschaft Mbh, Mr. Li Xuechun
and Minsheng Group Company Limited, being the controlling
shareholders of the Company, are required to comply with
performance obligations to remain as controlling shareholders.
Pursuant to the share retention agreements ancillary to the loan
agreements with Bank of China Limited Macau Branch and
Minsheng Bank Hong Kong Branch, Mr. Li Xuechun, being the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, are required
to comply with performance obligations to remain as ultimate
controlling shareholder.

GEX

(@)

(d)

AREBHWERBEEAARE
600,000,0007T (20224 : 28,240,000
Xmx) B AR®160,583,259
TL(20224F : 28,240,000%7T) & °

AEEBHNETRTEREBEFTE
HFAONVAEBEETWE - BE K& #
EHER HRBEHRAEEEYD
B AR#80,938,0007T (20224 « ARE
82,680,0007T) : (WEEMBEEARL
AIMS1%RELE R EERAXREEE
BIR A RIH60%A% 1 1 [ 2405 R A
Bl EERAFM100%EE HiE
R (il BEBREREGER)BRAFH
B0%ARIEEIRELR ¢ R(iv)ERAZEM
BT E BN R R EHRER o

M2023F 128318 AEBZE %D
LB ENEFRRENERESR
AR #179,506,0007T (20224 : A R#
176,968,0007T) - HEEZEEE FTEHE
ARBEELEHEABENEE -

% A R #95,000,0007T (20224 : 4 ) Hy
HERAEREMASEMBRET
THE 2BMENBER - 1&7.8% (2022
)RR B I ER20245F £2026
FEEBN AEEBHEMERAERE -
BN F15.0%%F24.0% (20224 : 15.0%
224.0%)NFREHE - WBKRERIERE -

Br1A2023F 12431 H AR #498,421,000
7T K A R #697,067,00070(20224F: A &
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G FTEIERIIAARKEHE -
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TEREKBEERERFAZERARMNA
AYERBHAMOROREBRS  F
BEAERREEHABRABH /AR
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AIRFIN T RRAERITEEBDITMAIL
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29.

30.

OTHER LONG TERM LIABILITY

According to the SPA, the school campus of Dianchi College
of Yunnan University, which is owned by Dianchi Co., shall
not form part of the acquisition (the “Non-acquired Assets”).
After the completion of the acquisition, the Group has the
right to continually use the Non-acquired Assets for free until
a new campus of the same size is established by Dianchi
College of Yunnan University, and meanwhile the Company
has the obligation to transfer the Non-acquired Assets to
Leed Education Holding Limited, National Education Holding
Limited and Hyde Education Holding Limited (the “Vendors™)
with all taxes and charges arising to be borne by the Vendors.
As such, the Group considered that the fair value of the Non-
acquired Assets at the date of acquisition should be recorded
as a payable to the Vendors and reduced subsequently to
match the depreciation of the Non-acquired Assets.

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during
the year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

2023

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

29.

30.

Withholding

taxes

B8

RMB’000
ARBT R

f BRI (8)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

HttRBEE

RO BERS - WEOAREER
ERAEELSRNRE T EEXKE
FEN—HBO([FKBEE]) - WESE
BTEKE  AEBBREBREERE
WHEEE BETMASRENSREK
RERENFTRE - RAFAAREEE
% JE Ui & B 85 TLeed Education
Holding Limited * National Education
Holding Limited &zHyde Education
Holding Limited ((EA ) + EAKFT
BEHERERBAELARE - Bt - A&
ERRIENEEENIKE BN A FE
FEFIBRIEME N B T 50IR - W EAR{ED
FRABCESEN B E EMITE o

IEAER IR

FEEBRE R

20234

Fair value
adjustments
arising from

acquisition of
subsidiaries

Right-of-use
assets

HYEHELR
MEENATLE
Eif
RMB’000
AR¥ETR

ERREE
RMB’000
AREFR

a3t
RMB’000
ARBTR

At 31 December 2022 202212318 47,623 96,639 - 144,262
Effect of adoption of amendments to IAS 12 FREE&:HERF 125
(BTN 272 - - 8,646 8,646
At 1 January 2023 (restated) #2023 1A 1A
(&E5) 47,623 96,639 8,646 152,908
Deferred tax charged to ERRNBRMBRHETHIE
profit or loss during the year (note 10) (MzE10) 3,746 14,342 15 18,103
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December FA2023%F 12831 BREILH
2023 HAFEES 51,369 110,981 8,661 171,011
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M F IR aE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

30. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

2022 20224
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Withholding acquisition of  Right-of-use
taxes  subsidiaries assets Total
AW ERE A
AImMEERA
AR TERAR  ERAEEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFTT ARBFT ARBFT
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12A31H 31,749 116,428 - 148,177
Effect of adoption of RABEBReEAE
amendments to IAS 12 125 (IBRT ) 2 %
& - - 8,912 8,912
At 1 January 2022 7202261 A1R
(restated) (/mE5) 31,749 116,428 8,912 157,089
Deferred tax charged/ FRRBEINR/
(credited) to profit or loss (GEA)RIRIERTE
during the year (restated) (&E75)) (KI=E10)
(note 10) 15,874 (19,789) (266) (4,181)
Gross deferred tax liabilities 72022412 A31H
at 31 December 2022 IR A R
(restated) E(RET)) 47,623 96,639 8,646 152,908

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

30. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 30. MEFEBIE(E)
Deferred tax assets FBEHEAEE
2023 2023%F
Provision
for
Lease impairment
liabilities  of assets Tax losses Others Total
EERER
HEAE #  HEER Hith @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TR AR%Tr AR¥Tr AR¥Tx=
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12A31R - 5,815 7,737 - 13,552
Effect of adoption of RAER e ERE12
amendments to 1AS 12 KBTI 2 H & 8,646 - = = 8,646
At 1 January 2023 202351 A1H
(restated) (&mE5) 8,646 5,815 7,737 - 22,198
Deferred tax credited/(charged) FRREHEA,/
to profit or loss during the (k) KIETERE
year (note 10) (fEE10) 381 11,472 (5,411) 4,024 10,466
Gross deferred tax assets at R2023F 12 A31 B K
31 December 2023 BERHABERRE 9,027 17,287 2,326 4,024 32,664
2022 2022%F
Accrued
liabilities
and future Provision for
Lease  deductible impairment
liabilities ~ expenses of assets  Tax losses Total
JEAtRER
ARAMB  EERER
HEAR 53 #®  HEER st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
At 31 December 2021 R2021412H31H - 329 5,139 5,139 10,607
Effect of adoption of RRBEESHERE12
amendments to 1AS 12 FBEIIR) 2528 8,912 = = - 8,912
At 1 January 2022 M202261A1H
(restated) (E5) 8,912 329 5,139 5,139 19,519
Deferred tax credited/(charged) FRRNBIEA/
to profit or loss during the (kR ) ROIETERE
year (restated) (note 10) (& =51) (F3E10) (266) (329) 676 2,598 2,679

Gross deferred tax assets at R2022%12 318
31 December 2022 (restated)  BIEFIBEEHLT
(mE5) 8,646 . 5,815 7,737 22,198
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31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

REHREH  REBMRAKRPETEL
BMBREEKBEE TEHE o TRIEA
SERERIBASRON - EHM TSR
ZH

2022
RMB’000
ARBTFT
Net deferred tax assets recognised  RARE B TEHRR R FERR A IR EFY
in the consolidated statement of HEETH
financial position 13,552
Net deferred tax liabilities RERE AR R R IR
recognised in the consolidated BEEFR
statement of financial position 144,262

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Chinese Mainland. The requirement is effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recognised relevant
deferred income tax liabilities of RMB51,369,000 (2022:
RMBA47,623,000) on earnings anticipated to be remitted by
certain subsidiaries in the foreseeable future. Other than the
amount recognised in the consolidated financial statements,
deferred tax has not been recognised for withholding taxes
for the earnings of approximately RMB2,638,476,000 at 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB2,535,703,000) expected to be
retained by the PRC subsidiaries and not to be remitted to
a foreign investor in the foreseeable future. In the opinion
of the directors, such remaining earnings will be retained in
Chinese Mainland for the expansion of the Group’s operation,
so it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such remaining earnings in the foreseeable future.

BIEP BB ERAEHE - P BIRREE
S HSNEIRE R ERINEIREEETIRR
BIABIM10%TE T - 52 F 52008
F1A1BRAEN - Bi@BAR2007F12
A31B &M AR o fmrh B K FE B HNE
KREEMERNAERE 2ET ARG IK
A HAIFHARENBNBEEE - gt
Elﬁﬁ% BEAMEAE10% ° Bt + A

EBEERE AR R KREXZAMME R
meiﬁ%at%i%ﬁﬂ%
KRR BN TEINES -

M2023F12A31H * AEEE THB
A BTE BRI A B] R A R BE L ) & ) B R
M RIEEFTE T A & A K¥51,369,000
T0(2022%F : AR™47,623,0007T) ° K&
RERE ISR ERMFIRSN - 182023
F12A318 - WESF EHE A FEE
REB R TSR] RASREFINEIEEH
B2 FI Y TE N 49 A R #E2,638,476,000
TL(20224F : AR#¥2 535,703,0007C ) HE
RELEFIE - EE2RAE - BEKTAEF
HRBRAEFBEAERARETASELE -
EHZENB AR LAERAIETS
DIKAEER T &BF -



There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had tax losses arising
in Hong Kong of RMB33,378,000 (2022: RMB33,102,000),
which are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
The Group also had tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of
RMB327,272,000 (2022: RMB235,333,000), that will expire in
one to ten years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

The financial liability for the Put Option is recognised at the
present value of the expected amount payable of RMB981.5
million upon exercise of the Put Option assuming that the
purchase will take place in the fifth year after the effective date
of the SPA in relation to the acquisition of Leed International.
Such present value is calculated with a discount rate of 4.75%
(the published People’s Bank of China benchmark rate). As
the Put Option expired on 17 August 2023, put option liability
was derecognised and non-controlling interests in relation
to 49% share in Leed International were recognised on the
expiry date of the Put Option. Further details are set out in
notes 3 and 38 to the financial statements.

31 December 2023 2023 12H31H

DA E R ORI BT R AT 18

R2023F12A31H » AEBEBHBE
AR TLIEE B B A R %33,378,0007T
(20224 : A R ¥33,102,0007C ) * A]
EREAR AR H IR B BN AR AR
JERBETF o NEBM P BERREERESE
I8 E5 18 A R #327,272,0007T (2022
F: AR#235333,00050) 0 BEEF
HEEER—Z2+TFRNER - TRARE
$HRRERTIA AN o HRZEMBAR]
BEABE—BEM BRBAWEDLE
AR REIRBIBEENERTRF -
MW ERZEERERELHBEE -

ROLBEN SR B E TR R B
BOFEE#EZEHENRBEARYE
981,500,0007TCHIRBEER « &HREK
BEERNKEDEEENROEE KR
EHARERFEL BB AER
BRI EA.75% (PR ARBITAMAIE
EFE)GTE - ARRGHEE K 2023
F8A17THE M F RHHIEB BRI
R kB BEEEBA9%M 7D K IEIERR
ERERNAL M B T AR -
#— B IEE R MR RMIFE3R38 °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. A&
Shares R
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETF T ARBTT
Authorised: JETE ¢
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares R20234 12 531 A K
of US$0.00001 each as at 10,000,000,0000% &A%
31 December 2023 (2022: {80.000013E T E B
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares) (20224 : 10,000,000,000
R AR ) 747 747
Issued and fully paid: BT RBURIRK
4,217,720,000 ordinary shares as R2023F12H31HAY
at 31 December 2023 (2022: 4,217,720,000% & 8 A%
4,217,720,000 ordinary shares) (20224 : 4,217,720,000
PR E A 322 322

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital
is as follows:

R2022F12A31H &
2023512 A31H

At 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2023

ARBRAEHEEMAT -

Number of

shares in issue Share capital

ERITROEE MR
RMB’000
ARBTR

4,217,720,000 322

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 33 to
the financial statements.

@ Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. The Scheme became effective on 2 March 2017
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
board, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal
value of a share; (ii) the Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company'’s shares on the date of offer of the share options;
and (iii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer.

There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does
not have a past practice of cash settlement for these share
options. The Group accounts for the Scheme as an equity-
settled plan.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

(i) Movements in share options

The following share options were outstanding under the
Scheme during the year:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

33.

f BRI (8)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

fBRERT 8

ARrELElREta(arE ) |
B RMSAKEKRINESELRRA
RER2EERMNELER - FHER
201753 A2 AR - BRIESRTTHUARK
ERT - Koz B MFRGRIHELERTF -

BRENTEEHESSET  BE1TE
BERUATH&RESEOBRDEE ()RR F
RRAD PRI AE R ) B HATE B S Fr o i min
B R>IARAIRMNREEZE T B H
Al A AR 5 B Es R TR R mE -

PAEENRSEE - AREBEYE
AR SR EZE B - NEEKEE
ARSI EEETE -

R A T B AR A B Bk
RERAGEITRE

(i) BREZE

FAFTEIE T AT B ARTT
1%

2023 2022

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise  Number of
price options price options

T INHEFS
THEE BRERE TEE BREsE

HK$ HKS$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
BRET T4 BRAET T
At 1 January m1A18 1.49 64,750 1.49 65,250
Forfeited during the year  FRR¥K 1.48 (500) 1.42 (500)
Expired during the year FAEM 1.39 (7,000) = =
At 31 December Mm12H31H 1.52 57,250 1.49 64,750
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. BRETEI(E)

(ii) Outstanding share options (i) RITEEBRE

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

31 December 2023

Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREYE TEE

‘000 HK$ per share

R E R A RITERBRENTT
EEMITESRET

2023F12H31H

T BRER

7,000 1.39 31 August 2019 to 30 August 2024 20198 A31HE2024F8 H30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2020 to 30 August 2025 20208 A31H£2025F8 A30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2021 to 30 August 2026 202148 A31HE2026F8 A30H
7,000 1.39 31 August 2022 to 30 August 2027 20228 A31HZE2027F8 A30H
5,550 1.66 27 August 2019 to 26 August 2024 20198 A27H£2024F8 A26H
5,550 1.66 27 August 2020 to 26 August 2025 2020F8 H27H£2025%8 A26H
5,450 1.66 27 August 2021 to 26 August 2026 20218 A27HE2026F8 A26H
5,450 1.66 27 August 2022 to 26 August 2027 202258 A27HE2027F8 A26H
5,450 1.66 27 August 2023 to 26 August 2028 2023F8 H27HE2028F8 A26H
200 1.42 19 August 2020 to 18 August 2025 20208 190 £2025F8 A18H
200 1.42 19 August 2021 to 18 August 2026 20218190 £2026F8 A18H
100 1.42 19 August 2022 to 18 August 2027 2022F8 A19H £2027F8 A18H
100 1.42 19 August 2023 to 18 August 2028 20238190 £2028F8 A 18H
100 1.42 19 August 2024 to 18 August 2029 20248 A 19H £2029F8 A18H
300 1.22 21 August 2021 to 20 August 2026 20218 A21H £2026F8 A20H
200 1.22 21 August 2022 to 20 August 2027 20228 A21HE2027F8 208
200 1.22 21 August 2023 to 20 August 2028 20238 H21H 220288 H20H
200 1.22 21 August 2024 to 20 August 2029 202458 A21HZ2029F8 A20H
200 1.22 21 August 2025 to 20 August 2030 20258 H21HZ2030F8 7208
57,250

@ Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A



The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows: (continued)

31 December 2022

Number of options

Exercise price*

BREXNS T E"
000 HK$ per share
T BB

7,000 1.39
7,000 1.39
7,000 1.39
7,000 1.39
7,000 1.39
5,550 1.66
5,550 1.66
5,450 1.66
5,450 1.66
5,450 1.66
300 1.42
300 1.42
200 1.42
200 1.42
200 1.42
300 1.22
200 1.22
200 1.22
200 1.22
200 1.22
64,750

*

Exercise period

31 August 2018 to 30 August 2023
31 August 2019 to 30 August 2024
31 August 2020 to 30 August 2025
31 August 2021 to 30 August 2026
31 August 2022 to 30 August 2027
27 August 2019 to 26 August 2024
27 August 2020 to 26 August 2025
27 August 2021 to 26 August 2026
27 August 2022 to 26 August 2027
27 August 2023 to 26 August 2028
19 August 2020 to 18 August 2025
19 August 2021 to 18 August 2026
19 August 2022 to 18 August 2027
19 August 2023 to 18 August 2028
19 August 2024 to 18 August 2029
21 August 2021 to 20 August 2026
21 August 2022 to 20 August 2027
21 August 2023 to 20 August 2028
21 August 2024 to 20 August 2029
21 August 2025 to 20 August 2030

The exercise price of the share options is subject to

adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other
similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

31 December 2023 2023 12H31H

R E BRE RITERBREANTT
EENRITERIT (&)

2022F12H31H

*

201848 H31HE202348 A30H
201958 A31HE20244%8 A30H
202048 H31HE202548 A30H
202148 A31HE2026F8 A30H
202248 H31HE202748 A30H
201948 H27HE2024%8 A26H
202048 27 E2025%8 4261
202148 H27HE202658 4261
202248 H27HE202748 A26H
202368 H27HE2028F8 4261
202048 A19H £202558 4184
202148 H19HE2026%8 A 18H
20228 F19R E202748 A 18H
202358198 E2028F8 418H
20248 190 £2029%8 A18H
202148 A21HE2026F8 A20H
202248 218 E2027F8 A20H
20238 H21H%2028%8 A20H
202458 A21HE2029F8 A20H
202558 H21AE203048 A20H

B IR 17 G AT AR SR AT IR
17 A DR AR S
BRI -



31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

At 31 December 2023, the share options outstanding
under the Scheme were divided into five tranches at
their respective grant dates. Generally, the first tranche
vests in one year after the grant date while the remaining
tranches vest in the subsequent four years each. There
is a five-year exercise period for each share option
granted under the Scheme.

At 31 December 2023, the Company had 57,250,000
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 57,250,000 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital
of HK$4,400 (equivalent to approximately RMB4,000)
and share premium of HK$86,293,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB78,200,000) (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Company had 57,250,000 share options outstanding
under the Scheme, which represented approximately
1.4% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

The Group recognised a share option expense of
HK$875,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB787,000)
(2022: HK$2,960,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB2,582,000)) during the year ended 31 December
2023.

R2023F12831H @ sFEIIE T %
TEEREZESENREAE
SAEAELK . BEME @ F—
HARBELBBHE—FARS -
H R 5 Rl R & MFE & F5
BosrElETRESERENSS
REMITER o

#2023F12A318 » A RQ A2
I8 TR 175 B8 IR ¥ /57,250,000
Do BMBARABERFHR AL
o BEIOTERTEBERESS
By 1 2%57,250,0000% A& 1 7] I @
B% - 38 0 A% A54,40078 T(HEE R
#I AR #4,0007T ) LA R B& 15 %@ (B
86,293,000 L(HE RV AR
#78,200,0007T ) ( R IIBR 1T
%)

RZEVHEHRERENLEZA - K
NAIFFEIE T ARITHEERE
57,250,000 * th AN R AR &% B
EBEITRNAI.4% °

N E B NE E2023F12 8318 1E
F E R B IR #E F 2875,000%8
TL(HE & R4 A R #787,0007T )
(20224 : 2,960,000/ 7T (FHE
#AR¥E2 582,0007T)) °



The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for each of the years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages
157 to 158 of the financial statements.

The capital reserve of the Group represents the capital
contribution premium from its then shareholders.

Other reserve mainly represents the difference between
the consideration for disposal to non-controlling interests
and the non-controlling interests recognised in the case
of disposal of interests to non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the relevant laws in the PRC, the
Company’s subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland shall make
appropriations from after-tax profit to non-distributable
reserve funds as determined by the boards of directors
of the relevant PRC subsidiaries. These reserves include
(i) the general reserve of the limited liability companies
and (ii) the development fund of schools.

(i) In accordance with the Company Law of the
PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Group which are
domestic enterprises are required to allocate 10%
of their profit after tax, as determined in accordance
with the relevant PRC accounting standards, to
their respective statutory surplus reserves until the
reserves reach 50% of their respective registered
capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in
the Company Law of the PRC, part of the statutory
surplus reserve may be converted to registered
capital, provided that the remaining balance after the
capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered
capital.

31 December 2023 2023 12H31H

AEBERSFNHFHEcELAES
SR A EHRERFE157H = 5158
BHGAEREEHRET -

AEBNERNFHESE SRR
REVEEHE -

Hibi##EE 2R RMNE QR IE
A A R B M R R A SRR AR
a3 & /AL (8 B P e AR SR AR AR
mLZRERR -

RETBEBBEE  ARRFE
ARENMBRARARSBESSE
BENSRARRERNERE
PANIKFEHEES - ZFHEE
E()B BR B £ 27— MR I K (i)
BRERES °

(i) BECPEARAME QA
E) AEBETHERARR
RNEDLE ARREBET
B = 5t 28 QI P 8 E R A 1R it
ME0%BEER BNETE
BN E BEEREEIR
B &M & KH50% « ERF &
(REARAMBERRE)A
HETRHHERT - 8D
VA TE B8R 1 e ] R S R
BRA - AR 2 B T B AN R B
THRHBATEREME AL
25% ©



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

34. RESERVES (continued)

(d) Statutory reserve (continued)

34. f#iE (&)
(d) ZEMFE &

(i) According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations,

since 1 September 2021, a for-profit private school
is required to appropriate to the development fund
of not less than 10% of its audited annual net
income, while a non-profit private school is required
to appropriate to the development fund of not less
than 10% of the audited annual increase in non-
restricted net assets. The development fund is for
the construction or maintenance of the school, or
procurement or upgrading of educational equipment.

35. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that have material non-
controlling interests is set out below:

(i) REBEBERBIERER - 8
2021F9A1H#E - BFMHR
MERBAHHEEZFETF
WA D IMORBEEHREH
© MEZEFMERBRERA
I EZIERGBIMEFEESF
EEERNDLI0%BEEER
Ee BRESTHAEERE
REEER  IHBERHEDN
FRB S

35. BEEARFERERZIFZENBAT

BARE R ER 2 AEENE AR

MEIRESINT

Percentage of equity interest held by
non-controlling interests:
Leed International

B
BiesE

IR R PR R

49%

2023

RMB’000
ARBTR

Profit for the year allocated to

2B E R AR R Y

non-controlling interests: FEmA -
Leed International BiesE 3,354
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RS B HASEE IR 2 Y

interests at the reporting date: RETHEE
Leed International BEEE 670,124

M Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



35. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)
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(IIE)

f BRI (8)

December 2023 2023%12A31H

35. BREEARFEREDZIFZENBAT

RIS R R
at o PR EE € R AERIA R EH AR

are before any inter-company eliminations: B

Leed

International

BEEE

RMB’000

2023 20234 ARET
Revenue Wezs 510,699
Other income and gains H A A Kz 19,251
Cost of sales HEKA (208,094)
Total expenses HE (145,998)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FEEH N2 MRS 258 175,858
Current assets MBEE 343,736
Non-current assets EMBEE 1,801,430
Current liabilities mENAaE (1,069,979)
Non-current liabilities EmBAE (172,383)
Net cash flows from operating activities KREEBFEHEEREFHE 236,403
Net cash flows used in investing activities REERBSFAREREFHE (95,020)
Net cash flows from financing activities MEEZHIERESREFHE 27,582
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents Re MRS FEEYILINFEE 168,965
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31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Acquisition of Shanghai Zhiaosheng

On 28 July 2022, Open Distance Education, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity
investment agreement with CIIC Technology Group Co., Ltd.
(PERIREBAR AR, pursuant to which Open Distance
Education agreed to acquire 51% equity interests in Shanghai
Zhiaosheng at a total consideration of RMB8,750,000. After
the completion, Open Distance Education will hold 51%
equity interests in Shanghai Zhiaosheng.

Shanghai Zhiaosheng is an agency company which mainly
engages in providing immigration and education consultation
services. The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy to form a good integration and synergy with the
Company’s existing education business. The acquisition
has been accounted for using the acquisition method. The
acquisition was completed on 23 December 2022. Since
then, Shanghai Zhiaosheng has become a subsidiary of the
Company.

W is e RS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

36. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 33. EBE(E)
Year ended 31 December 2022 (continued) BZE2022F12A31HILFE(E)
Acquisition of Shanghai Zhiaosheng (continued) Wi e s R (E)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of R RBRIER B ENEERE
Shanghai Zhiaosheng as at the date of acquisition were as BEHAFENT
follows:
Fair value
recognised on
Notes acquisition
MisE  WEBRERLATYE
RMB’000
AR®T T
Property, plant and equipment Y3 - B R 13 154
Right-of-use assets FAEEE 14(a) 126
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTFRIE ~ H b U RIE R A
other assets BE 77
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBELEED 19,462
Other payables and accruals HAth BN FRIE KR FEST & (2,149)
Contract liabilities aHAaE (5,335)
Lease liabilities included in interest- FTAGTERITREMEROEE
bearing bank and other borrowings & & —BDEp
— current 14(b) (73)
Lease liabilities included in interest- FFAGTERITREMEROEE
bearing bank and other borrowings B & —FERNET
— non-current 14(b) (50)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value Al B FEELE - IHATE 12,212
Non-controlling interests FEPERR M 2 (5,984)
Goodwill on acquisition BT R 2 15 2,522
Satisfied by: AT
Cash consideration ReRE 8,750
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

36. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 36. ¥¥50F(E&)

Year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)
Acquisition of Shanghai Zhiaosheng (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
a subsidiary is as follows:

BI£2022F12A31H L FE (&

ks LigE RS ()

HE—ENBATNRERES TN
I

RMB’000
ARBTR

Cash consideration HeRE (8,750)
Cash and bank balances acquired FrifiEIR & RIRITAE R 19,462
Net inflow on acquisition included in FAREBEBAGERSRENEERA

cash flows from investing activities R 10,712

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB29,500 for this
acquisition. The transaction costs have been included in
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Since the acquisition, Shanghai Zhiaosheng contributed
RMB106,000 to the Group’s revenue and caused a loss of
RMB29,000 to the consolidated profit for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group
for that year would have been RMB2,360,203,000 and
RMB511,205,000, respectively.

M Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A

AEBERRXBBEER KN AARE
29,5007T °c BAR G AE st ALZE
B hkHEM2ERERANITERASX

BUBSRIELR - S RBAEAER
HZE2022F12A318 L FE AR K=
AR #106,0007T © W B BEREG @ M E
A EEAR29,0007T °

e HRFNET MXFER
SEEZEREMNBDBBARE
2,360,203,0007C & A R #511,205,000
7TE o



37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

(b)

a)

During the vyear, the Group had non-cash
additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of RMB19,086,000 (2022: RMB31,941,000)
and RMB19,086,000 (2022: RMB31,941,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for
buildings.

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to non-controlling interests of RMB666,770,000
(2022: nil) upon the expiry of the Put Option with the
related put option liability amounted to RMB981.5
million being derecognised on the same date.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities

2023

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

f BRI (8)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

37. RERERERME

(a) FBHEEZXE

(b)

Bank and
other
borrowings

BITR
HifE
RMB’000

ARBTR

a)

FA- - ASEREFHER
ERNEAEEERHEHERSRE
MIEBRERED R AARK
19,086,00070(20224F = A
FR#31,941,0007T ) & AR ¥
19,086,0007T (20225 : AR
#31,941,0007T) °

FR - AEBRRBEHERE
MBI EERERA RS
#E A AR666,770,0007T
(20224 : &) - MABBERA
HEBEARKIBISEET
AR B4R EHER o

AL ZETELE B EE

20234

Lease
liabilities

HERRE
RMB’000
ARBTR

Sale and
leaseback
liabilities
E®EA
afE
RMB’000
AR¥TR

Dividends
[EVEL] ]

RS
RMB’000
ARBTR

At 1 January 2023 $®2023F1 /18 2,077,201 51,494 228,839 102,428
Changes from financing BMERERED

cash flows (298,651) (28,162) (68,450) (89,305)
New leases HHE - 19,086 = =
Interest expense MERAX 115,014 2,206 20,646 -
Disposal of leases REME - (1,689) - -
Dividends declared EEIRKRE - - - 168,518
Effect of foreign exchange ExZEHzE

rate changes 20,370 166 - 6,770
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H 1,913,934 43,101 181,035 188,411
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

(c)

activities (continued)

37.

RERSREBRME(HE)

(b) BEZEFELRENNEE (E

2022 20224
Bank and Sale and
other Lease leaseback Dividends
borrowings liabilities liabilities payables
IR e
Hit a0 HERE BfE ERRE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT AR%TR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 20221 A 18 1,776,515 52,421 149,991 23
Changes from financing BER GRS
cash flows 105,969 (29,347) 57,718 (90,111)
New leases g - 31,941 = =
Acquisition of a subsidiary WEARNESE - 123 — -
Interest expense FEFZ 90,876 3,121 21,130 —
Disposal of leases REWHE = (6,813) = =
Dividends declared EERKRE - - - 192,516
Effect of foreign exchange ExZEHzE
rate changes 103,841 48 - -
At 31 December 2022 M2022F12A31H 2,077,201 51,494 228,839 102,428

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement

(c) BEZRZRHBH

y=S

AARERERNEEZRE

L

of cash flows is as follows: HAAFEMNT -
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Within operating activities REREA 15,194 15,726
Within investing activities REEEA 72,441 -
Within financing activities BEEEA 28,162 29,347
Total Ky 115,797 45,073

M Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



Minsheng Vocational and the Vendors are in dispute over a
put option for the sale of 49% shares in Leed International
under the SPA entered into between the parties in 2018,
which is subject to resolution by arbitration administered
by the Hong Kong International Arbitration Center (“HKIAC
Arbitration”). The Vendors claimed for an inflated exit price
of RMB2,180.7 million, alleging that they had effectively
exercised the option under the SPA. Minsheng Vocational’s
position is that the Vendors’ purported exercise of the option
was ineffective because, inter alia, Minsheng Vocational had
not granted any option as required under the SPA prior to
the Vendors’ purported exercise of the option, the timing of
which fell outside the put option period provided under the
SPA, and the Vendors’ calculation for the claimed exit price
of RMB2,180.7 million was also flawed. On 3 August 2023, in
fulfilment of its obligation under the SPA, Minsheng Vocational
issued a Deed of Grant of Option (“Deed”) granting the
Vendors an option to sell the 49% shares in Leed International
at an exit price calculated pursuant to the SPA equal to
RMB981.5 million. As the Vendors failed to exercise the option
granted under the Deed by the designated deadline of 17
August 2023, the Deed automatically lapsed. Subsequently,
the Vendors alleged that the Deed was in breach of the SPA.
Minsheng Vocational’s position is that the Deed was properly
issued in compliance with the SPA, and Minsheng Vocational
has fully fulfilled its obligation to grant the option under the
SPA by way of the Deed which the Vendors consciously
chose not to exercise, and subject to the decision of the
Tribunal in the HKIAC Arbitration, Minsheng Vocational’s
position is that it is not obliged to purchase the 49% interests
in Leed International. The directors of the Company are of the
view that the Vendors would not be able to overcome all of
Minsheng Vocational’s defences and succeed for the whole of
their claim for the inflated exit price of RMB2,180.7 million. At
the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements,
the arbitration is still in process. Based on the above, the
put option liability was derecognised and non-controlling
interests in relation to 49% shares in Leed International were
recognised on the expiry date of the put option. As at 31
December 2023, the Group made no provision related to the
aforesaid arbitration.

31 December 2023 2023 12H31H

REBEXRERE 55 E 5 1K20184F
RENROEBEHRZBE T EHEBEEE
49% R B H BB ER T A - ZA
BB PER OB IR PEERA
(AT St BB E AP ORED) -
EFEREDKERITERGEE R
BETHRERE  REREOREEEAR
W2 180.7TEBLEITRHERE - RARE
HEMEIREE FFTEMNREETER
|mAH  REBREREBREHBWARE
B ERAREETENREROES
R ERAEEE - BEHBEANERE
RITHERBERNBE HEIE T RER
HFEE I MABFEHRBRAA
R¥2,180.7B B TR HERWNEE
R RE o R2023F8A3H - BRETT
RIVEEMZE RS - REBREHS
BHETETEEEZR(TRE]) - &T
B H HEREEE49% M AR ERE
BREROEBERETENRLELAA
R#¥98158&8 T - AREH RN IE
FEHAE LI B 812023F8 A 17HRT{TER
BRERTEAEEE  ZBEAEBAM -
e BEABRBEBERROEED
%o REBEHERAZBERERMN
BEBRZARL  REBEHFEL
BBRBEFATEEET T ROBE RS
ETHRLEEENER  MEASHRE
BEBNERLBITREREE T 8
BUFR R R MM B BE B R 1R SRV AT
RT  REBEHESEHEERDESER
AO%RIENERTS - RAREZRARES
EARRTRRERERS WA NG
MR RESNEHREERARE
2,180.7E BT - HEHFREWBHmEHR
EZB - PEDEETR - ERME -
RIEERGHEAE - WEREET
AR EREEB49%R K R
FEFERR AR R & o B2 2023F 12 431
B - A& B R bl (P & 1E A e
1 o



31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

In February 2019 and June 2019, Chongging Yuecheng
extended loans in an aggregate principal amount of RMB400
million to Leed National Education Technology (Beijing)
Limited (a company designated by the Vendors, “Leed
National”) and 49% shares in Leed International held by the
Vendors have been charged as the guarantee under the loan
agreements. In May 2023, the Vendors and Leed National filed
a request for arbitration with China International Economic
and Trade Arbitration Commission (“CIETAC”) claiming that
the obligation to repay the principal of RMB400 million and
corresponding unpaid interest under the loan agreements has
been extinguished and Chongging Yuecheng and Minsheng
Vocational were not entitled to enforce the charge following
the effective exercise of the put option by the Vendors at an
exercise price of RMB2,180.7 million and the set-off clause
under the loan agreements. In August 2023, Chongging
Yuecheng and Minsheng Vocational filed a counter-claim for
arbitration, requesting for an award for the repayment by Leed
National to Chongging Yuecheng of the principal amount
totalling RMB400 million under the loan agreements, together
with the corresponding interest and additional late payment
fees. As at the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements, the arbitration with CIETAC is still in progress. In
May 2023, the Vendors filed an originating summons with the
Grand Court of the Cayman Islands to apply for an interim
injunction to restrain Minsheng Vocational from taking any
step to enforce a series of share charges over 49% of the
issued share capital of Leed International. In August 2023,
a conditional time-limited injunction order was issued by
the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands (“Injunction Order”).
In September 2023, Minsheng Vocational filed a notice of
appeal with the Court of Appeal of the Cayman Islands to
appeal the decision of the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands
and to apply for the Injunction Order to be set aside. At the
date of approval of the consolidated financial statements,
the arbitration with CIETAC is pending for hearing and the
proceeding in Cayman Islands was heard on 23 January 2024
but a judgement has yet to be handed down by the Court of
Appeal of the Cayman Islands. With a detailed analysis of
the HKIAC Arbitration, the directors of the Company are of
the view that the Vendors cannot succeed for the whole of
their claim for the inflated exit price of RMB2,180.7 million by
overcoming all of Minsheng Vocational’s defences. Therefore,
the outstanding principal and corresponding unpaid interest
and the charge are still subsisted.
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39. COMMITMENTS

40.

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

39. F&iE
AEERHREAROEAREENT

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Contracted, but not provided for: BETAMBRBHE -

Equipment B 54,472 43,553
Buildings BF 324,138 358,441

Acquisition of a private school and Wi RER R A A
companies 91,800 91,800
Total #Et 470,410 493,794

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have
significant capital commitments that are authorised but not
contracted for (2022: Nil).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

RS - NEBW EDIREBKRET
AV E KB AR EIE (20224 « ) ©

40. FAERRS
(a) XEELTEEZENSHIFH -

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Salaries, allowances and e RMLREDNZ
benefits in kind 25,214 18,697
Equity-settled share option NESEENERESR
expense 418 1,668
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFHEIHR 449 419
Total compensation paid to key S FFEEBRAERN
management personnel FrisazE 26,081 20,784

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 8 to the financial statements.

EFEMEenE—PHEBRNTH
HRMEES o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 4. eRITASE

RBEHR - SRR T ANKEEL

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as TS ¢
follows:
2023 2023%F

Financial assets

SRMEE
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

BAVEGIARENEHMEE

Designated Financial
as such  Mandatorily assets at
upon initial designated as amortised
recognition such cost
REHEHA
RA% HEM
BRRIEE BHEE SREE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR®T R ARBT T ARBT T
Trade receivables B HRWTE - - 457,549 457,549
Financial assets included in STAERIE - Eit
prepayments, other JEURIE R E B B Y
receivables and other assets CREE - - 476,470 476,470
Financial assets included in STARMIEREEEN
other non-current assets CREE - - 5,000 5,000
Financial assets at fair value BATEFABRN
through profit or loss SREE
- Equity investment - kR E - 7,94 - 7,94
- Contingent consideration —SARE 108,553 - - 108,553
Cash and cash equivalents BeRReEEN - - 3,189,846 3,189,846
Restricted bank deposits RBHIRTER - - 3,671 3,671
Total et 108,553 7,941 4,132,536 4,249,030

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 41. &R T E5 ()

2023 (continued) 2023 (#&)
Financial liabilities £ =N
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
BB AR
mWemas
RMB’000
AR®T T
Financial liabilities included in other ST AEAM BN IR M BT B A H
payables and accruals TEAE 553,188
Trade payables 2 S IE 652,213
Dividend payables JERT IR B 188,411
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings  #F B R1T R EM{E K 2,138,070
Total #Et 3,531,882
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M F IR aE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

2022

Financial assets

20224
ERMEE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

BAFEHABRNEREE

41. eRMIBESE(E)

Designated
as such Mandatorily Financial
upon initial  designated as assets at
recognition such amortised cost Total
R
iz FTEH
FERRHIEE RHIETE EREE Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT ARETTT ARBTT
Trade receivables B 5 EW0R - - 684,137 684,137
Financial assets included in STABERFIE - HifE
prepayments, other receivables — YUE K E B EH)
and other assets SREE - - 496,011 496,011
Financial assets included in other st ARMIEREHEER
non-current assets SREE - - 900 900
Financial assets at fair value BRATER ABRD
through profit or loss SREE
— Equity investment — R E = 14,176 = 14,176
- Contingent consideration —FRRE 148,300 - - 148,300
- Wealth management —-BHER
products 29,455 = = 29,455
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY - - 3,477,088 3,477,088
Total st 177,755 14,176 4,658,136 4,850,067

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 8 SH B R A



41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

M #B Y EE (18)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

4. sRTAESEER)

2022 (continued) 2022 (#8)
Financial liabilities £ =N
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REHN AT E
Cofeat=i =R
RMB’000
ARBTT
Financial liabilities included in FEAE A AN RRIE K
other payables and accruals EErrEBANcRAaE 754,368
Trade payables B 5 ENRIE 944,220
Dividend payables FETARE 102,428
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings  &F8$R7T R E M {E5K 2,357,534
Put option liability ROLEERE 944,472
Total et 5,103,022
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 42. SRITENAFERAFEER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial AEBcRTEA(GRAMEEATFESE
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that HEERINNERERAFERNT :

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

2023 2023
Carrying
amounts Fair values
REE AFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at fair value BATETABRN SR
through profit or loss BE
— Equity investment —RiERE 7,941 7,941
— Contingent consideration — S ARE 108,553 108,553
Financial assets included in TARMIERBEER
other non-current assets PREE 5,000 5,000
121,494 121,494
Financial liabilities cREE
Interest-bearing bank and other &t BR1TREMMER
borrowings (other than lease (HREaERM)
liabilities) 2,094,969 2,104,819

w Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B aE (1)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 42, TRTENAFERATFEER(E)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

2022 2022
Carrying
amounts Fair values
REE NE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at fair value BATEFABRN SR
through profit or loss BE
- Equity investment —RiERE 14,176 14,176
— Contingent consideration —HARE 148,300 148,300
- Wealth management — IR E M
products 29,455 29,455
Financial assets included in STAEMIERBEER
other non-current assets TRIEE 900 900
Total HBEt 192,831 192,831
Financial liabilities THRAaE
Interest-bearing bank and other &t BR7T M HAbE K
borrowings (other than lease (THEE BRI
liabilities) 2,306,040 2,305,096
Put option liability RGHEEE 944,472 944,472
Total #Et 3,250,512 3,249,568
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31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets,
trade receivables, trade payables, dividend payables and
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of financial assets included in other non-
current assets and financial liabilities included in interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as a
result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2022
and 2023 were assessed to be insignificant.

The fair value of the put option liability has been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities.

The fair value of the listed equity investment is based on
quoted market prices.

As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of the contingent
consideration has been estimated using the discounted cash
flow method and Monte Carlo simulation model. As at 31
December 2023, the fair value of the contingent consideration
has been estimated based on net profit of acquired companies
during the performance guarantee period.

Method and assumptions used to determine the fair value of
the wealth management products are disclosed in note 18
to the financial statements.

EEEEHERELRAEEEY  XR
HERITFR - FEATENFIE - HMEWR
REANEMEENTREE BEHEK
PR - BHRENTIR - BABREIA LA
ARMMENFELEFERNSRAE
HAHE - BEREERS  E22H
RzETARBREE -

TREENBENRFENBBR ST
(FFREFRHE)EAMRSPZTA
AR S EEARR - LTHERRR
tEAEHR SN R FE -

STAEMIERBEEN S RE E KT
AFERTREMERNEHREED
ANEELEBRERAAEBUGR - EER
% K ea T EIHR B /) T EIREFa] A FIR L
WIEPAKIB S RETE - AAEBR
20224F 2023 12 A31 B gt st B8R 1T
K HAbAE TR R & 1B 49 & T S B
AFEESH T HEATTEK -

Rh e BN R HERBRAERU
G- EERRLRGTIHANTA
B Al AR R IR FEHARRIR @M EAT

s
= o
AP

R A AT E R A5 E(E
-

MR2022F12831H » SRARBRAF
BENRBRRERFEREFRER
B A fE 5 o 20235128318 » 8
ARENRFETDERBHOERIAET
W iE A A8 s M & ET o

BEEMEMRN R FHEMRANITAER
RERA M TR 181K EE -



42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable
inputs to the valuation of financial instruments together with
a quantitative sensitivity analysis at the end of the reporting
period:

31 December 2022
Significant

unobservable input

EXFITRESH

Valuation technique

fhER %

Contingent Discounted cash Discount rate
consideration flow method
FARE RERAERAE IR

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

42. TRMIENLAFERAFEER(E)

R I AMERRSHARNERTAH
2R ECFURES T ZE I
I

2022F12A31H

Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input

BE ATPEHZENSBE

17.0% 0.5% increase/(decrease) in discount rate
would result in (decrease)/increase in fair
value by RMB600,000/RMB400,000

17.0% BREELA/(TH)05%KEHATE
(), 181 A R #600,0007T,/ ARH
400,0007T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

42. EWMIENAFERAFEBR(E)

Fair value hierarchy N EER

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TREBAEESH TANAFEFE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: IEE S

Assets measured at fair value RAFEFENEE

As at 31 December 2023

R2023F12A31H

Fair value measurement using

AVEHBER

Quoted
prices  Significant  Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total

REBTS EX EX

NEE WERZE FUEEZH At
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(B-%) (Z=R)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRE AR®TR AR%®Trn AR®Tn

Financial assets at fair value BATEFABR
through profit or loss SREE
- Equity investment —RiERE 7,941 = = 7,941
- Contingent consideration —HARE - 108,553 - 108,553
Total @5t 7,941 108,553 - 116,494

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R42& £H G R A Al



42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value (continued)

As at 31 December 2022

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

42. ERTANAFERAFERERA)

RNFPEERE
BRAVEFENEEE)
MN2022%12A31H

Fair value measurement using
AFEHERA
Quoted
prices  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs Total
N EWNG| BAFA
HRE BR2Y BR2Y Bt
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(B—4) (B=H) (B=ZH)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TT ARETRT ARETR
Financial assets at fair value BRRTEGABRN
through profit or loss SREE
— Equity investment —RERE 14,176 = = 14,176
- Contingent consideration —HARE - - 148,300 148,300
- Wealth management products - B ER - 29,455 - 29,455
Total et 14,176 29,455 148,300 191,931

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 FE#H &

307



30

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

M #B MR EE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3

during the year are as follows:

RFEER(E)

42. ERTANAFERAFERER(E)

FRE=ZFARFEFTENEBINT

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARBTT
Loan to an associate included in STARMIERB B E R4 THEE
other non-current assets RNAIMER
At 1 January M1A1H - 17,169
Total losses recognised in profit or ST A A TR B = R BV S 18
loss included in other expenses 8% - (17,986)
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXEHTE
changes = (817)
At 31 December R12A31H - -
Financial assets at fair value BATEGFABRN 2R
through profit or loss BE
— Contingent consideration —HARE
At 1 January ®1A1H 148,300 63,400
Consideration to be paid transferred ¥ A% — F 89 #5F
to Level 2 RKE (108,553) 13,430
Fair value change NEEEE (39,747) 71,470
At 31 December ®12A31H - 148,300
Financial liability at fair value BEAFEFABENSRE
through profit or loss af&
— Contingent consideration —HARE
At 1 January M1A1H - 7,840
Consideration to be paid R RE — (22,225)
Fair value change N {EEE) - 14,385
At 31 December M12A31H — -

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the contingent
consideration at fair value through profit or loss was transferred
out of Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy due to the net profit
of acquired companies during the performance guarantee
period was fixed. It was categorised within Level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy at 31 December 2023. There were no other
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and
Level 2 and no other transfers into or out of Level 3 for both
financial assets and financial liabilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and
Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial
assets and financial liabilities.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A

NE E2023F12A31B LEE - ;AR
B XER B A ATIRBE A R Fm 7 A E
F o BRAFEFABEOIARES
NEEEFHNE=HFEL - 12023
F12A31HEBARTFEREMNE -
BopeMEERCRAENS  F—
BEREBE-_HGzEBELMAATETFEE
B MEZRINEEE AKET -

RE =2022F12A31BILFE ' &
MEEMERABEMNS FAKREZ
HoEAMEATENEEE  ME=R
JhEERE A S -



42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets for which fair values are disclosed

As at 31 December 2023

Financial assets included in AARMIERBEEMN
other non-current assets TREE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

42. E@MIENAFERAFEBR(E)

RFEER(E)
BEAFENEE
R2023F12A31H

Fair value measurement using

AVEHEER

Quoted
prices  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total

WEBR™ EXT EXFA
HN&RE BE2Y BE2Y st

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(B-%) (B=8&) (B=&)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥TR AR®Tn AR¥TxR

= 5,000 = 5,000

As at 31 December 2022

#2022F12 4318

Fair value measurement using
AT RER
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
inactive  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs Total
NG AR EXA EXA
B BE2H BE2H it

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(B—#) (E=8) (E=R)

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARET:T

Financial assets included in FARMIEREEEN
other non-current assets TREE

= 900 = 900
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B RRMEE ()

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 42. SRITANAFERATFEER(E)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NFEER(E)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed WEAFENERS
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H

Fair value measurement using

AVEHEER

Quoted
prices  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total

WEBR™ EXT EXFA
E BE2Y BE2Y st

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(%) (F=4) (B=4)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETR ARBT T AR®BTR AR®TR

Interest-bearing bank and STERITREM
other loans (other than ER(HE
lease liabilities) aERIN) = 2,104,819 = 2,104,819
As at 31 December 2022 M2022612H31H
Fair value measurement using
ATEBER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
inactive  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
INEY i XA BRAA]
HRE BE2Y BR2Y st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(B—8R) (=) (B=84)
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETx
Interest-bearing bank and STRRITREM
other loans (other than ER(HE
lease liabilities) BERIN) - 2,305,096 = 2,305,096
Put option liability RaHEaR 7 944,472 = 944,472
Total st - 3,249,568 - 3,249,568

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank
loans, other interest-bearing loans and cash and bank
balances. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables, other receivables, trade payables and
other payables and accruals, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank loans with
floating interest rates. It is the Group’s policy to keep certain
borrowings at floating rates of interest so as to minimise the
fair value interest rate risk. The Group currently does not use
any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk. However, the directors of the Company will consider
hedging significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable rate bank
borrowings at the end of years 2022 and 2023 and assumed
that the amounts of liabilities outstanding at the end of years
2022 and 2023 were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profits for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2023 would decrease/increase by RMB8,656,000 and
RMB7,911,000, respectively. This is mainly attributable to the
Group’s exposure to variable interest rates on its bank loans.

31 December 2023 2023 12H31H

AEENFESRTABERITENR
HApst RERIARIR € RIRITHEER © &%
FeRMTANTIRANTIRARENE
BREEEES - AEEASBERR
CEELNEMEREERARE  1E
SEWGR - A EWFIR - B 5 RN
IR LA N B At PR AT RIB N FERT B ©

AEBeRTAMEENEZRERSH
REf - SNERER - EERRMREE
TRE EEFeEHIHEERESAH
FEBREEER - BREBCRRBIEN T -

AREB TSN RSB FIENE R T2
BLELY BIRITE AR - AEBMEEK
RRFETIEEE  NEEREQF
(B2 Efg o 7N G2 B3R By S 8 61 AR (AT
PTEBKEREREER - AT - AR
AESFHNYREE BEIMERRNRE
B o

AT B E 2 4T 5 1B 8 120224 &
2023F FRZEMITEEN N X R
BEE - WRERN20224F K 202345 & K
WEAREEEESENEEAFTENRE
B o mMEEEEAEBRNIERFEER
By - HLASOEER LR RE - WHE
BEHFEESIB A EZERT(E

WA= _EF BRSO E 2 K Frs E
AEEEREFTE  KEEEZE2022F
&2023F 124310 1L F & M T &% F
&2 Bl A #0 A R #8,656,0007T
K AR #7911,0007T ° 5 ZHRA
SERITERNZEFERBRATE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M F IR aE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

All of the Group’s turnover and substantially all of the Group’s
operating expenses are denominated in RMB, which is not a
freely convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes
controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies
and, in certain cases, the remittance of currency out of Chinese
Mainland. Shortages in the availability of foreign currencies
may restrict the ability of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to
remit sufficient foreign currencies to pay dividends or other
amounts to the Company.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity as at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
US$ exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s profit before tax and the Group’s equity (arising
from US$ denominated financial instruments).

Effect on profit before tax and equity

43. TrRiEREEEFERBER(E)

S B

REBEEHEEBENETEHMEEMT
TIRAREHE - MARELIEATEH
HRIET o RBIRFEGARBLINE
Bk - WHERTHER NEH SR ES
FREIARE o SMNIEKE R 3 & IR I AN SR o
50 /) B 3 R S 51NES TR AN A B 32 A
MR B Sk H b FRIARYBE N

TEBFIRREBRK - EFAR A
BEZRBRTEOERT - AEEHH
BRI R IR (B AT A B S BT

HERHABEFIRRAF LI ZE

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR¥ETTT

Increase in the US$ rate by 3% ELER FH3% (15,120) (14,236)

Decrease in the US$ rate by 3% ETTEER T %3% 15,120 14,236
Credit risk EEEE

The credit risk of the Group's financial assets, which comprise
bank balances, trade receivables and deposits and other
receivables, arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R£#5 & H B R A A
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December 2022 and 2023

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2022 and
2023. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets.

12-month
ECLs
Stage 1
128 A
FEFR
B&1
RMB’000
ARETR
Trade receivables* B AR -
Financial assets included in SIABNFE - At
prepayments, other receivables  WFBREMEEN
and other assets REE
- Normal** — %™ 64,646
- Doubtful** — TR -
Restricted bank deposits RBHRITER
— Not yet past due —HABEH 3,671
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY
— Not yet past due — [ ARBH 3,189,846
Financial assets included in other st AEMIEREBEM
non-current assets TREE
— Not yet past due — A 5,000

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

43. cREAKEEBERBEKE(E)

=ERER(E

R2022F K 2023F12A31 BB S A
PR & 5 R P B B

T&RERK2022F %2023F12831H
BEAEEEERERENEEEER
EmEERE(EEERBHER - K
B EHMBAREREEKAKSE AT
BRENER)ARFRBEESE -T2
M e AEMEENARELRRE -

As at 31 December 2023
R2023%F12831H
Lifetime ECLs
2HRHEERR
Simplified

Stage 2 Stage 3 approach

£ BE3  ElhE E 5
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR ARMTR ARETR

500,975 500,975

- - - 64,646
- 481913 - 481,913

= = = 3,671

= = = 3,189,846

= = = 5,000

3,263,163

= 481,913 500,975 4,246,051
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31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December 2022 and 2023 (continued)

R20225F 2023512 A31 W BB R
Bk AR R E D (F)

As at 31 December 2022

12-month
ECLs
Stage 1
1218 AT E
FEBE
i3]
RMB'000
ARETFT
Trade receivables® B AR -
Financial assets included in SIABNFE - A
prepayments, other receivables B R EMEER
and other assets SREE
~ Normal** =TEE 496,011
- Doubtful** —T3RE =
Cash and cash equivalents HeREA2EED
— Not yet past due —HABEH 3,477,088
Financial assets included in SARMIERBEEN
other non-current assets SREE
— Not yet past due — AR 900
3,973,999

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix
is disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in
note 21 to the financial statements.

R2022F12A31R
Lifetime ECLs
PHEHEERR
Simplified

Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B2 FEER3 BIL & st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT AR%TT ARETR
- - 707,591 707,591
- - - 496,011
- 35,197 - 35,197
- - - 3,477,088
= - - 900
- 35,197 707,591 4,716,787

**

R AEBREAGICREREZNE HE
WkiE - LB EEEAERNEREE
BT R R M sE21 -

BN FIE - A ERRIAREMEE
TREENEREEMS  MELES
H TEENRAEHEEREES VN
HRARFEEERRBEILN - AIE
EEEEHERIER] - B 252
RAEENEEERBRERIFRR]

ERASERE D RUGIBAEER
[\ B O3 — Z B BRI BN M SRR
fiEE21 -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 43. REKREEEEREEK (E)
POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk REELEME
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between AREBMBEZABBFERKLLENISES
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of internally ZHRERERHEMEREZTESHEMR
generated cash flows from operations and other borrowings. FEELEEE M 2 IR T o AN E EHIR
The Group regularly reviews its major funding positions to AEFEES R AERE RRTEER
ensure that it has adequate financial resources in meeting BITHIIEELE -

its financial obligations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at AEESRABERREHARENESAR
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual BRI A BIES R

undiscounted payments, was as follows:

As at 31 December 2023
742023127318
3 to less
On Lessthan  than 12 1t05 Over 5
demand 3 months  months years years Total

=z

@A +=@A
BREX bR B -ERF  BBRIF EH
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR AR®Tn ARMTR ARBTR AR®TR

Trade payables BHENTE - 652,213 - - - 652,213
Dividend payables ERRE - - 188,411 - - 188411
Financial liabilities included in other &t AEfENFIE
payables and accruals RIEGTERN

TRER 441,598 - 111,590 - - 553,188
Lease liabilities BEERE - 6,015 15478 26,027 133 47,653
Interest-bearing bank and other STERTREM
borrowings (excluding lease R (TR
liabilities) HERAR) - 82548 1,106,678 1,023,084 14,654 2,226,964
Total it 441598 740,776 1,422,157 1,049,111 14,787 3,668,429
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M F IR aE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 43. cREREEBERBE (&)
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) TEEL R (E)

As at 31 December 2022
M2022F12A31R
3toless
On Less than than 12 1to Over

demand 3 months months 5 years 5 years Total
—-_=

==

=@ +=fEA

BEX AR BA —ERF  BERF a5t

RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETRT ARRTRT ARETT ARETR

Trade payables B AR - 944220 - - - 944220
Dividend payables FERRE - - 102428 - - 102,428
Financial liabilities included in other & AE A 308

payables and accruals RETBRA

TRER 424,390 - 329,978 - - 754,368

Lease liabilities HEafE - 6,519 20,815 31,822 - 59,156
Interest-bearing bank and other STERITREM

borrowings (excluding lease fER (TR

liabilities) MEaR) - 69,679 581808 1,746,364 105,558 2,503,409
Put option liability DR - ~ 981,500 - - 981,500
Total st 424,390 1,020,418 2,016,529 1,778,186 105,558 5,345,081

H Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A



43.

44,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so
as to maintain creditor and market confidence and to sustain
future development of business.

The directors review the capital structure on a continuous basis
taking into account the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through raising new debts as well as redemption of existing
debts. The Group’s overall strategy remained unchanged
during the reporting period.

The Group monitors capital using a debt-to-asset ratio which
is total liabilities divided by total assets. Capital represents
equity attributable to owners of the parent. The debt-to-asset
ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

43.

M #B Y EE (18)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

TREREERBERBEKGE)

BEXEE

AR SRR B A AR - L
REERARTSNED - ABEHE
LR -

EETURTEARN - EEEARA
RESEAAABNAR - REEEN
RS AEESEABENERE
R T E R B A AR - ARE
PR BB R IR IR T -

AEERAEEREXENES BE
BEXEAGEERINEERE - EX
ERRREA ARGRAE - RREHR
MEERBHLEET

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBFIT

Total liabilities BEREE 5,415,429 6,919,465

Total assets BERE 11,366,568 11,956,581

Debt-to-asset ratios BEBER 48% 58%
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 44, BEWEBZEIE

Dividend MR E

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the board of
directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.89 cents per share totalling RMB37.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The proposed final dividend
for the year is subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

REHEERE  ETCEEREE
2023F12A31H IEFEIk 3 R HR B
BERARY0.89% & ARY37.58H
BT - AFENEKAPREBAFTAA
AR RN EERRAFE RS EHERS
A{ER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

M #B MR EE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

45. RN A ZMBAARR R

ST NG S g
ITRAR -

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR NEE 789 789
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 1,261 550
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE 439 562
Total non-current assets IERBEERE 2,489 1,901
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Due from subsidiaries JE I BT BB A B FR0E 1,942,732 1,946,512
Prepayments, other receivables and  JBNFUE - EbEWRIE R
other assets HE&E 490 2,994
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTA R 36,265 64,205
Total current assets MEVEERE 1,979,487 2,013,711
CURRENT LIABILITIES MENEE
Other payables and accruals H b IE R BT & A 8,786 7,370
Dividend payables JERTAR B 188,411 102,428
Interest-bearing bank and other T EERITREAB K
borrowings 576,296 90,725
Due to subsidiaries FETHIE A RIFRIE 479,047 287,712
Tax payable FE L IR 831 818
Total current liabilities MBI B ERE 1,253,371 489,053
NET CURRENT ASSETS mBEEFRE 726,116 1,524,658
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BREERTSAE
LIABILITIES 728,605 1,526,559
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBAE
Interest-bearing bank and other STRIRITREMER
borrowings 157,973 719,803
Total non-current liabilities EmEBERRE 157,973 719,803
Net assets FEE 570,632 806,756
EQUITY s
Share capital [N 322 322
Reserves (note) A ED) 570,310 806,434
Total equity B RS 570,632 806,756
E Minsheng Education Group Company Limited K45 S E AR A 7



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B aE (1)

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 45. AR T Z BT R (&)

COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

s

RARBEZEEM TR :

Exchange
Capital  Share option Accumulated  fluctuation Total
reserve reserve losses reserve reserves
BARE BRERE ZEEE NMNERBFEE RS
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTr ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2022 #2022 1A1H 1,289,221 43,376 (261,693) (90,581) 980,323
Loss for the year FEEE - - (65,640) = (65,640)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: FREMZEESE :
Exchange differences on translation of BWERBRRL
financial statements R =R - - - 71,426 71,426
Total comprehensive income for the year — FE 2N EE = = (65,640) 71,426 5,786
Final 2021 dividend declared EER021ERBEE (182,257) = = = (182,257)
Recognition of share-based payment BRURO AERZ
expenses RHHER - 2,582 = = 2,582
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12A31H 1,106,964 45,958 (327,333) (19,155) 806,434
Loss for the year FEEE = = (86,247) = (86,247)
Other comprehensive income for the year:  ERE 2 FEUE -
Exchange differences on translation of BWERBRRIEL
financial statements et - - - 7,803 7,803
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXABBAS - - (86,247) 7,803 (78,444)
Final 2022 dividend declared EEIR2022F RERE (158,467) = = = (158,467)
Recognition of share-based payment RARD AERZ
expenses RRMER = 787 = = 787
Transfer of share option reserve upon the  FAEERRIEE MBS E A
expiry of share options RE AR R - (4,572) 4572 = =
At 31 December 2023 R2023%F12A31H 948,497 42173 (409,008) (11,352) 570,310

BRERERBEERONRTEBRENAT
B - R BRR I T2 AU RETE 3K
SRR AF L - ZERN AR BB ETE
R AEANRERLERABRERHREA
B A o

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments
in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will either
be transferred to the capital reserve account when the related
options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits
should the related options expire.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M F IR aE (8)

31 December 2023 2023F12H31H

46. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 46. LR EE
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to ETLHBEFEEFHE - LNERFE
conform to the current year’s presentation and disclosures. R 2R NI EFE 2 -

47. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47. #LEBTKEImE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for ZEP SRR EN2024F3 190 B E
issue by the board of directors on 19 March 2024. ESREW R

M Minsheng Education Group Company Limited R4 5 £ H AR A A
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